2016年成人高考（专升本）
成人高考(专升本)英语

大纲总的要求

1. 应具备一定的听、说、读、写等综合运用英语语言的能力

2. 考试题型和每一部分所占的分值：

1）语音：10小题，共10分

2）词汇与语法结构：40小题，共40分

3）完型填空：10小题，共20分

4）阅读理解：20小题，共60分

5）短文写作：一篇短文，分值20分 
总分：150分 
语法 
第一节  名 词（null） 

大纲要求掌握：
 一、可数名词与不可数名词

 二、可数名词的复数形式

 三、名词的所有格

 四、名词在句子中的作用

一、可数名词与不可数名词

名词分可数与不可数两种。

可数名词表示某类人或东西中的个体。如table, country。

或表示若干个体组成的集合体。如 family, people, committee, police。

不可数名词表示无法分为个体的实物。如air, tea, furniture, water。

或表示动作、状态、品质、感情等抽象概念。如work, information, advice, happiness。

有些名词在一种场合下是可数名词,在另一种场合下是不可数名词。

如room 房间（可数），空间（不可数）

time  时间（不可数），次数（可数）

fish  鱼（不可数），各种各样的鱼（可数）

比较下列例句:

There are nine rooms in the house.  （房间，可数名词）

There isn't enough room for us three in the car . （空间，不可数名词）

不可数名词的数量可以通过在其前面加单位词来表示。

如： 一块肉  a piece of meat

两条长面包  two loaves of bread

三件家具  three articles of furniture

一大笔钱  a large sum of money

二、可数名词的复数形式

可数名词有单数和复数两种形式。名词复数的构成如下：

1．一般情况下在名词后加-s。如：girls, books。

★浊辅音、元音结尾，s发[z]

2．以s, x , ch, sh结尾的词在名词后加-es。如：glasses, boxes, matches, bushes。

★以s, x , ch, sh结尾,es发[iz]

3．"辅音字母+y"结尾的词，变y为i再加-es。如：city-cities, country-countries。

4．以o结尾的词多数加-es。如：heroes, tomatoes, potatoes。

radios, zoos, photos, pianos, kilos 例外。

5．f, fe 结尾的词，多数变f，fe为v再加-es。如：thief-thieves, leaf-leaves, half-halves, life-lives, wife-wives, knife-knives。

少数名词有不规则的复数形式。如：man-men, woman-women, foot-feet, tooth-teeth, child-children, mouse-mice。

★可数名词复数一般情况下考不规则复数形式。

个别名词的单数和复数的形式是一样的。如Chineses, Japanese, sheep, deer。

三、名词的所有格

名词的所有格表示所属关系， 起形容词的作用。

当名词表示有生命的东西时，所有格一般是在词尾加 's 。

如：Jean's room, my daughter-in-law's friends, my daughters-in-law's friends, children's books。

如果名词已经有了复数词尾s, 则只需加'。如：the teachers' books, my parents' car。

时间名词的所有格在后面加's ，复数加' 。如：today's newspaper, five minutes' walk。

当名词表示无生命的东西时，所有格常由"of"短语构成。

如：the top of the world, the cover of the book, China's capital。

加 's 或 ' 的名词所有格可以表示店铺或某人的家。

如：the grocer's, the tailor's, the Smith's 。

★名词所有格考试常见部分是

名词表示没有生命的东西时，不能直接在其后加's。

时间名词所有格在其后加's，或复数名词后直接加'。

四、名词在句子中的作用

1．主语是可数名词单数时，谓语动词用单数形式；主语是复数时，谓语动词用复数形式。

 All roads lead to Rome.（条条大路通罗马。）

 His brother is an industrial engineer.

 The number of the students attending the party is increasing.

★the number of 表示数量，无论后面名词是复数还是单数，谓语动词是单数形式。

Two-thirds of the shop belongs to me.

★two-thirds  三分之二

几分之几作主语，谓语是单数形式。
Both of us are studying English.

★总结：在名词作主语时，the number of 谓语动词单数形式；

几分之几，谓语单数形式；

both 谓语使用复数形式。
2、主语是不可数名词、不定式或动名词词组、从句时，谓语动词用单数形式。

 All the money he received was given to his mother.

 Forgetting the past means betrayal.

 What we are talking now is useless.

3．主语部分若有as well as, with, together with, like, but, except等短语，谓语动词的单、复数与短语前面的名词一致。

 Mary, as well as her two sisters, is a student of this school.

 （as well as her two sisters 作主语Mary的主语补足语，主语 Mary 是单数，所以谓语动词用单数形式）

 No one except my friends knows anything about it.

4．表示时间、距离、重量、价值等的复数名词作主语时，如果当作整体看待，谓语动词用单数形式。"…+(×)…=…"算式中的谓语动词也用单数形式。 
 Three times two is six.

 Three kilometers is 3,ooo metres. (three kilometers作为整体来看）

5．Either, neither作主语时，谓语动词用单数形式。

 Neither of us has been to Italy.

 Has either of them been to Shanghai?

 none代表可数的人或东西时，谓语动词可以用单数也可以用复数，代表不可数的东西时，谓语动词用单数形式。

 None of the students have/has seen the film.

 None of the money belongs to me.

6．主语由either…or, neither…nor, not only…but also连接时，谓语形式由最邻近的主语决定。

 Not only you but also I am wrong.

 Neither my aunt nor I am going out this afternoon.

 Either you or she is to do the work.

7．主语中有and，如果表示单一概念，谓语动词用单数。

  The bread and butter is nice.
8．主语前有many a, more than one修饰时，谓语动词用单数形式。

 Many a book has been read by the students.

★many a book=many books

 More than one person has been to the Great Wall.

9．集合名词作主语，当作整体看待时，谓语动词用单数形式，当作每个独立的个体看待时，谓语动词用复数。

 The committee meets once a year. (作为整体）

 The committee are having a meeting now. （作为独立个体）

 People, police作主语时，谓语动词用复数形式。

 The police have come to arrest him.

名词部分考试重点

1、可数名词与不可数名词里，哪几个词是不可数名词。

2、可数名词复数形式重点掌握不规则形式，单、复数相同的名词。

3、名词所有格重点掌握时间名词所有格在其后加's,复数加'。

4、名词在句中的作用，重点掌握刚才的9点。

考点测试

1．Ten days ______ long enough for Mr. Carter to finish his design. He doesn't need any more.

A.  is B. has beenC. was D. had been

ten days 作为一个整体看待，谓语用单数形式。（注意时态）

答案 A

2. Now, many people use the word Ms instead of Miss or Mrs, for example, before the names of ______ in business letters.

A. woman manager B. women managerC. woman managers D. women managers

names 是复数形式，其后的名词肯定是复数。

两个名词变为复数，两个都要变。

答案 D

3. The number of students who failed the chemistry examination _____ to fifteen.

A. have increasedB. has increased C. is increased  D. are increasing

the number of 谓语动词用单数。

答案 B

4. Neither John nor his father _______ able to wake up early enough to catch the morning train.

A. wasB. were C. would be D. have been

neither...nor谓语动词跟相邻的主语一致。

答案 A

5. The room is eight _______ long.

A. footB. footsC. feet  D. feets

foot 英尺，复数形式 feet

答案 C

8. Not only the students but also their teacher ______ at the meeting.

A. was present  B. were present C. have been presentedD. has been presented

not only... but also 谓语动词与相邻名词一致。

present 呈现，介绍

答案 A

9. One of the things she wrote about ______ life on a small farm at the beginning of the century.

A. is  B. wasC. are  D. were

one of 谓语用单数。

答案 B

10. Only about one out of twelve of the young men and women of this country _____ college education.

A. receive B. receives  C. have received D. have been received

one out of 谓语用单数形式。

答案 B

11. Never before ______ so many people been engaged in producing goods just for the comfort of man.

A. has  B. have  C. will D. would

never before开头，句子倒装。

主语so many people为复数。

engage in doing sth. 忙于做某事。

答案 B

12. At the bus stop  were  a soldier and two young people on their way to North Carolina.

A. were  B. was  C. is D. sits and waits

主语 a soldier and two young people为复数

答案 A

13. There ______ the last piece of cake and the last spoonful of ice cream.

A. goes  B. go  C. gone D. was gone

主语 the last piece of cake and the last spoonful of ice cream复数

答案 B

14. Mr. Brown, and not I , ________ chosen to be the representative of the class.

A. isB. am  C. are D. have been

主语 Mr.Brown

答案 A

15. The teacher, as well as a number of students, _______ to attend the party.

A. ask  B. asks C. was asked D. were asked

谓语动词与as well as前面的名词一致。

答案 C

 16. The hostess together with the guests of honor ________ comfortably in the living room.

A. was seatedB. seated C. were seated D. were seating

谓语与 together with 前的名词一致

be seated 就坐

Please be seated ladies and gentlmen.

Seat the boy next to his brother.

答案 A

17. The father, rather than the brothers, _______ responsible for the accident.

A. isB. are  C. have been  D. has

主语 the father ，单数

be responsible for 对……负责

答案 A

18. Either Carol or Grace ______ to the concert, but one of them has to stay home.

A. is coming  B. are coming  C. will coming D. have come

either...or 谓语动词与临近主语一致。

答案 A

19. The total amount of money ______ 100 dollars.

A. isB. are  C. has D. have

money 不可数名词，谓语动词单数。

答案 A

20. Great quantities of fish _____ on high seas.

A. is caught  B. are caught C. catchD. is catching

quantities 复数形式

答案 B

21. Either of the young ladies _____ perfectly qualified to teach Greek and Latin.

A. isB. are C. has D. have

either打头，谓语动词单数。

答案 A

22. Having studied your report carefully, I am convinced that neither of your solutions _____ correct.

A. areB. is  C. had D. will

neither 两者都不，谓语动词单数。

答案 B

23. In some countries each of the citizens ______ to decide government policies.

A. helps  B. helpC. are helped D. is helped

each 每一个，谓语动词单数。

答案 A

24. The nurse added_____ to the medcine to make the ease for the child to take.

A. some sugar B. some sugars C. a sugar D. sugars

suger 不可数名词

答案 A

take medcine 吃药

25. "I like your furniture very much."

  "Thank you. We bought ____ in Beijing."

A. the most of them  B. the most of itC. most of them D. most of it

furniture 不可数名词

答案 D
第二节  冠 词

大纲要求：

    1、不定冠词的基本用法

    2、定冠词的基本用法

    3、不加冠词的基本规则以及冠词的习惯用法
冠词是一种虚词，只能附着在名词上帮助说明名词的含义。

    冠词分为定冠词（the）和不冠词（a或an）两类，定冠词表示特指，不定冠词表示泛指。

    a用于读音以辅音开头的词前面，an用于读音以元音开头的词前面。

    如：a university, a useful book, an umbrella, a horse, an honest man。
一、不定冠词的基本用法

1．表示"一"的含义。

Give me a pen please.

We go shopping twice a week.

2．泛指某个人或东西。

Yesterday we visited an English secondary school.

She picked up a magazine and began to read.

3．表示一类人或东西。

He works as a language teacher in that university.

As a writer, he is successful.

Even a child can answer this question.

     可数名词单数出现，泛指用不定冠词，特指用定冠词。一个可数名词的单数不能自己单独出现。
二、定冠词的基本用法

1．表示特定的人或东西。

Give me the magazine.

Have you decided on the prices yet?

The book on the table is an English dictionary.

Beijing is the capital of China.

2．复述前文提到的人或东西。

Last week, I saw a flim. The film is about a love story between two middle-aged people.

The old man saw a house in the field. He went into the house and found a beautiful girl sitting there and singing.
3．用于形容词前面，代表一类人或东西。

the poor  穷人   the rich  富人  the wounded  受伤的人

the sick  生病的人  the beautiful  美丽的事物  the old  老年人

the young  年青人
4．用于表示世界上独一无二的东西的名词前面。

the moon, the sun, the earth

The moon moves aroud the earth.

We have friends all over the world.

Don't build castles in the air.

5．用于序数词、方位名词、形容词与副词的最高级前面，副词最高级前面的the 可以省略。

January is the first month of the year.

The sun rises in the east.

Japan lies to the east of China.

Beijing lies in the north of China.

Ireland lies on the Great Britain.

At the Children's Palace, some children learn to play the piano, others learn to play the violin.

Last week we went to the theatre.

Among the three girls she speaks English the best.
"东、南、西、北"作副词时，前面不加冠词。

We are walking south.

形容词最高级前若有物主代词，就不加定冠词。

Monday is my busiest day.
6．用于姓氏的复数形式前，表示一家人或夫妇俩。

The Lius have moved to Guangzhou.

The Simths came to China for visit in 1996.

7．不可数名词前面通常不加定冠词，但若有限制性定语修饰，或表示特定部分、特定内容时，前面需加定冠词。

Drink some water.

Is the water in the well fit for drink?

What do you think of the music?

He can't take the advice his mother gives him.
三、不加冠词的基本规则

1．季节、月份、日期前一般不加冠词。

If winter comes can spring be far behind?

We have few classes on Sunday.

10.1 is National Day.
2．表示球类、棋类、三顿饭的名词前通常不加冠词，但乐器前需加定冠词。

What did you have for lunch?

Dinner is ready.

Let's go and watch them play chess.

My elder brother likes to play football.

The boys are learnig to play the guitar.

play the piano

play the violin
3．有些固定词组中的名词前不加冠词。

at noon   at night   at dawn   at midnight   in the morning

in the afternoon   in the evening   in the daytime  in town

in front of   (at the back of)   at distance (in the distance)

as a whole   on the whole   to catch cold   to have a cold
冠词考试重点

冠词所占比例不大，一般是1分或2分。

    1、什么时候加定冠词。

    2、可数名词单数出现，必须用a或an或定冠词修饰，不能单独出现。

    3、什么情况下，不用加冠词。
冠词易考：

1、冠词修饰名词。

     Please go _____ upstairs after you have finished the lunch.

     upstairs是副词，前面不需要加冠词。
2、可数名词单数泛指，前面加不定冠词。an用于读音以元音开头的单词前。

      Reading English story books is a good way of improving your English.

      I have been waiting for him for half an hour.
3、名词特指时，前面加定冠词。

    He is enjoying his stay in Denmark, but has some difficulty with the language.

      Is the water from the tap fit for drink?
4、可数名词的复数和不可数名词泛指，前面不加冠词；大部分专有名词前也不加冠词。

     As we know, the most dangerous enemies  are those who pretend to be friends.

    They left for work after supper.

    The film includes some recently discovered newsreels of World War II  .(the Sencond World War)
5、冠词在固定词组中的特定用法。

      Without any news from Tom for a long time, his father left for Shanghai to see him.

      They will travel by air.

      I will help you for the sake of your sister.(for the sake of 因为）

      I will go to school on foot.

      My mother is in hospital.

He has been in prison for two years.
典型例题

1. ______ film includes some recently discovered newsreels of _______ World War II.

  A. The; theB. A; the     C. The; /      D. A; /

World War II是专有名词

答案：C

2. Can you play _____?

  A. piano B. pianos C. a piano      D. the piano

答案：D

3. "You've been very busy lately."

  "So busy I haven't had time to clean my house. There is _____ wherever you look."

   A. dustB. a dustC. the dust  D. dusts

dust 是不可数名词

答案：A

4. The station? Take the second turning _______.

  A. to left then go straight on      B. on the left, then go straight on

  C. to left, then go right forward   D. to the left, then go right forward

on the left 在左边

答案：B

5. My mother usually has _____ bed.

   A. the breakfast B. breakfast in

  C. the breakfast in the D. breakfast in the

in bed 躺在床上

答案：B

in the bed 在床里面
6. He stole the money and they put him _________.

A. at prison     B. at the prison      C. in prison      D. in the prison

in prison  进监狱

答案：C

7. Even on Sundays, fewer people go to ______ church than before.

A. theB. a   C. /D. that

go to church 去教堂  go to school 去学校  go to bed  上床睡觉  go to college 去大学

答案：C

8. _________ look much alike.

A. Smith's sisters    B. Smith sisters   C. Two Smith sisters      D. The Smith sisters

表示一家人，前面加 the

答案 D
第三节  代 词

包括

人称代词、物主代词、反身代词、指示代词、疑问代词、关系代词、不定代词及其用法。

一、人称代词

人称代词有第一、第二、第三人称和单数、复数之分，在句子中可以作主语和宾

语。英语中有下列人称代词：
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在并列的主语或宾语中，I或me 通常放在后面。如：

Liping and I are in charge of the work.

My farther asks my sister and me to have dinner with him tomorrow.

二、物主代词

物主代词有形容词型与名词型之分。形容词型物主代词在句子中作定语，名词型物主代词在句子中主要作主语、宾语、表语、定语（接在of 后面）。英语中有下列物主代词：
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名词型的物主代词相当于形容词型的物主代词加上上文出现的名词。如：

My bag is yellow, his(his bag) is black and theirs(their bags) are brown.

三、反身代词

英语中有下列反身代词：
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反身代词在句子中可以作宾语、表语、同位语等。如：

Please help yourself to some tea.(宾语)

The boy is too young to look after himself.(宾语)

I'll be myself again in no time.(表语)

The desk itself is not so heavy. (同位语)

I fixed the door myself. (同位语)

四、指示代词

指示代词包括this, that, these, those 和such, 在句子中可以作主语、定语、表语、宾语等（such不作宾语）。

    that和those有时分别用来代表前面提到的不可数名词和名词复数，以避免重复。而可数名词单数往往用the one 或that one 来代替。用the one 的时候更多一些。如：

These machines are better than those we turned out last year. 生产

The oil output of this year is much higher than that of last year. 产量

The best wine is that from France.

My room is lighter than the one next door.

I'll take the seat next to the one by the window.

The film is more funny than that one.

that 可以指上面提到的事情，this指下面要谈的事情。如：

They have no time to read the books. That's their trouble.

She was ill yesterday. That's why she was absent.

I want to know this: How much money we have left?

What I want to say is this: Pronunciation is very important in learning English.

this 和that 有时还可以用来表示程度。如：

I don't want that much.

He is not that wise.

The book is about this thick.
五.疑问代词

疑问代词包括what, which, who, whom, whose, 可以用来构成特殊疑问句，也可以引导名词从句。   What, which, who在句子中作主语或宾语，whom作宾语，whose作定语。如：

Who is speaking? (主语)

Which do you prefer, the yellow one or the white one? (宾语)

What's your sister?(表语)

The man who is talking with my mother is an engineer.(引导定从句)

The old man whose son is studying abroad is our formal dean of the department. (引导定从句)

This is the plane which will fly to Wuhan this afternoon. (引导定从句)

I don't remember whom I have lent my dictionary to. (引导宾语从句)

疑问代词what, which, who, whom后面可以加ever来加重语气。如：

Whoever can be calling at this time of the night ?谁这么深更半夜来找人？

I'll say whatever comes into my head.

Take whichever book you like.

六.不定代词

不定代词包括both, either, neither, all, none, no, one, each, every, few, a few, little, a little, many, much, some, any, other, another, 以及some, any, no, every构成的合成代词。

（一）both, either, neither

    both 表示"两者（都）"，either表示"（两者之中）任何一个"，neither表示"（两者之中）没有一个"。三个词在句子中都可以作主语、宾语、定语，both还可以作同位语。

    My sister is good at planning her time so that she always has enough time for both work and play.(be good at 擅长做某事)

    Neither of the answers is right.

    Either of the books belongs to you.

    You and I are both to blame.

    You both agreed to stay.

    Both 放在实意动词前，系动词be 的后面。

（二）all, none, no, one

    all和none用于三者以上的场合，分别表示"全部都"和"一个都没有"，none往往与of连用。

    All of us are fond of sports.(be fond of 爱好)

    We are all for him.(be for sb 支持某人)

    Grasp all, lose all. 什么都抓，什么都抓不住。（谚）

    None of them know how to read and write.

    A friend to all is a friend to none. 滥交者无友。（谚）

    None of us are perfect.

    None of them has had that kind of experience.

    no表示"没有"，在句子中只能作定语，相当于not a 或not any，not否定动词，no否定名词。

    Time and tide wait for no man. 岁月不等人。（谚）

    No man is born wise. 没有人是生来聪明的。（谚）

    I'm no dancer.  (I'm not a dancer.)

    one 指代上文提到的人或物，前面可以加定冠词，可以有自己的定语，还可以有复数形式。

    Your answer is a good one.

    I don't like coloured envelopes. I like white ones.

    I haven't got a raincoat. I'll have to buy one.

（三）each, every

    each 和every表示"每一个"，every 在句子中只能作定语，each 可以作主语、宾语、定语、同位语。

    The headmaster shook hands with each of the teacher.(shake hands with 握手)

    The students try to set aside a little money each month.(set aside 节约)

    From each according to his ability, to each according to his needs(work).各尽所能，按需分配。

    I have every reason to believe that she can finish the job well.

    There is every possibility of our winning the game.

every 还常用在every little while (每隔一会)，every other day, every three days（每隔两天），every ten miles(每隔十英里), every now and then (不时)，every four years, every other line, one out of every three students.

（四）few, a few, little, a little, many, much

   few, a few, many 修饰或指代可数名词，little, a little, much修饰或指代不可数名词。few, little表示否定，a few, a little表示肯定，much常用于否定句中。

  Many hands make light work. 人多好办事。（谚）

    Few words are best.  话少最好。（谚）

    They don’t take much interest in it.

    I know little about it.

    There’s a little water left in the jar.

    Few of them have been to India.

    I’ve read a few books written by Dickens.
（五）other, the other, others, the others, another

	
	泛指
	特指
	充当名词单数
	充当名词复数
	充当形容词

	other
	√
	
	
	
	√

	the other
	
	√
	√（表示两者当中的另外一个）
	
	√

	others
	√
	
	
	√
	

	the others
	
	√
	
	√
	

	another
	√
	
	√
	
	√


Forty people came to the meeting. Two of them were from Japan, the others from America.

    Many people came to attend the meeting. Some were from Japan, others were from America.

    The United States, unlike many other countries, receives a large number of immigrants every year from all over the world.

    The twin sisters are so alike that we find it difficult to tell one from the other.(so……that 如此以至于 tell sb. from 区分)

    Some students are watering the flowers, others are weeding the fields.

    The task will be finished in another three days.

    Four of them are in the classroom. What about the others?

Please give me another example to illustrate your point.

   There are three apples on the table. One is for my mother, another is for my father and the third is for me.  

七、it的用法

1.指代一个人或事物。

    It's only a fifteen-minute ride to my school.

    It often rains in the south of China.

    "Who's that?" "It's Liming."

    It's early spring.

2．作句子的形式主语，代替不定式、动名词或从句。

    It took me five minutes to finish reading the exercise.

    It cost me five yuan to buy the pen.

    The color TV set costs me more than 2,000 yuan.

    I spent ten hours in finishing the work.

    I spent twenty yuan on the shirt.

    It is no use crying now. You'd better study hard now.(it is no use doing sth. )

   To his surprise, it turned out that Tom failed the entrance examination.(to one's surprise 使某人感到惊奇)

    It's a pity that you didn't watch the match.

    It is necessary for us to have some exercise every day.

3．作句子的形式宾语，代替不定式、动名词或从句。

    They all regard it their duty to help the poor people.

    I don't think it worthwhile taking so much trouble.(It's worthwhile doing. 做……事是值得的)

    We find it difficult to learn English without practicing.

    I think it no use telling them.

    I don't think it very important that we should take part in the discussion.(take part in 参加)

    He feels it his duty to help others.    

4．构成强调句型。当强调的部分是主语，并且主语是人时，句型中的that 也可以换作who。

    强调句基本构成 it is that…

    It is in the room that we met each other for the first time.

    It was not until 1936 that basketball became a part of the Olympic Games.(not until 直到……才)

    It was they who attended the meeting last week.

    It is because the book is so useful for my work that I bought it.

考试重点

that和those有时分别用来代表前面提到的不可数名词和名词复数，以避免重复。而可数名词单数往往用the one 或that one 来代替。that 可以指上面提到的事情，this指下面要谈的事情。

   不定代词中，both 放在实意动词前，系动词be 的后面。every只能跟名词，each可以跟名词也可以不跟名词。every在代词部分要出现当每隔……讲。

   few, a few, many 修饰或指代可数名词，little, a little, much修饰或指代不可数名词。few, little表示否定。

    one the other，some others，the others

    it用法重点就是强调句。it作为形式宾语时不接is。

代词部分的难点之一是名词型物主代词与形容词型物主代词的区别。顾名思义，形容词型物主代词起的是形容词的作用，在句子中只能作定语，名词型物主代词起的是名词的作用，代替上文出现的名词，在句子中一般作主语、宾语、表语等。

    Let's clean their room first and ______ later.

    A. our      B. us C. we   D. ours

    (答案为D，ours 相当于our room。)

代词部分的主要考核点是不定代词。如some, any, few, a few, little, a little, many, much, one, none, all, both, either, neither, each, every, other, another, 以及some, any, no, every 与body, one, thing 构成的合成代词。

    （1）泛指与特指。如：another, other, others 是泛指，the other, the others是特指。

    （2）肯定与否定。如：a few, a little, either, some 及其合成代词表示肯定，few, little, none, neither, any 及其合成代词表示否定。

    （3）可数与不可数。如：few, a few, many, one 修饰或指代可数名词，little, a little, much修饰或指代不可数名词。

代词部分的另一个考核点是it。

    it 可以代替上文出现的单数事物。

    The picture was changed while drawn from memory as it passed through the class. (it 指代the picture。)

    it takes sb. some time to do sth. 花费某人多长时间做某事

It takes half an hour or so to walk to the bus stop.

He made it plain that he was annoyed with me.

it 还可以构成强调句型，即"It is / was +被强调的部分+ that …"。当强调的部分是人，并且是主语时，that可以换成who。强调句去掉it is / was 与that即成为普通的句子。

It was last night that I saw you in the restaurant.

It was she who / that suggested that he go to New York in order to get a direct flight.

典型例题

1. "How often do you take the medicine ?"

   "______ four hours."

  A. For B. Any    C. EveryD. Each

 答案 C

2. "Is this bike yours?"

 "No, it's ______."

 A. Bob B. Bobs C. Bob's  D. Bobs'

答案 C

3. "Is there ______ good on TV this evening?"

   "Sorry, nothing good. "

   A. nothing    B. something    C. anything    D. everything

肯定句中用something，否定句和疑问句中用anything。

答案 C

4. You have a good suggestion, but it's not as practical as _______.

   A. he  B. him  C. his D. her

答案 C

5. A chemist prepares his experiments carefully before trying to carry _____ in his lab.

   A. it out     B. out it   C. them out      D. out them

carry out 实施 宾格放在词组中间，名词放在词组后面。如，carry out his experiments

答案 C

6. Nowadays _____ seems to enjoy looking at fat girls. That is why many companies have developed special foods to help people to slim(苗条).

A. everyone    B. anybody     C. somebody     D. no one

enjoy doing sth.

anybody在疑问句和否定句中指没有人，在肯定句中指任何人。

答案 D

7. You have to hurry up if you want to buy eggs because there's hardly _____ left.

A. anything     B. something    C. nothing     D. everything

hardly 否定词，几乎不的意思。

答案 A

8. He felt bad because he had drunk too _____ the night before.

A. many      B. muchC. few  D. little

本题主要考查可数名词和不可数名词。

drink too much 喝多了

too much wine 太多的酒

答案 B

9. She promised her parents to write _______ while she was away.

   A. other day     B. another day    C. every other day  D. any other day

every other 每隔……

答案 C

10. It was terrible. One passenger was killed, and _____ was badly hurt.

   A. the others      B. rest      C. the restD. the other

he others后面谓语动词接复数。

答案 D

11. Some people hope to be more successful while _____ simply want to feel more comfortable.

   A. the others     B. others C. the other     D. another

some others

comfortable 舒适的

答案 B

12. If anyone happens to call while I am out of the office, please have ________ leave a message for me .

   A. he  B. him  C. they    D. them

have sb. do sth. 让某人做某事

答案 B

13. The first thing that my brother and _______ did in the early morning was to go out to see the pony.

   A. I   B. me   C. mine  D. my

pony 小马

主语 first thing，谓语动词 was to go out to see，宾语 the pony。

答案 A

14. "I'd like some more bananas."

   "I'm sorry, there is _______ left."

   A. no   B. some   C. fewD. none

答案 D
15. There are two windows in this bedroom. _______ of them face south, overlooking a beautiful park.

   A. Both B. One  C. The two     D. Either

either 开头谓语动词要接单数，both谓语动词用复数。

答案 A

16. The jacket doesn't fit Terry, as he has _______ huge body and the jacket is _____ small.

   A. such a; such B. such a; so

   C. so ; soD. so ; such a

such修饰名词，so修饰形容词。

so huge the body

答案 B

17. "Why are you smiling?"

   "Oh, I've just thought of _________."

   A. funny something     B. something funny

   C. nothing funny D. funny anything

形容词修饰不定代词要放在不定代词的后面。

不定代词：something，anything，somebody，anybody，nothing，nobody。

答案 B

18. Young babies can use _________ hand equally well.

   A. either     B. eachC. both  D. every

强调两者之中任何一个

答案 A

19. _______ road out of town is good, but this one is better than the other.

   A. Both      B. AllC. None D. Neither

答案 D

20. "I felt a bit hungry."

   "Why don't you have ______ bread?"

   A. any      B. someC. little D. a piece

习语 Why don't you have some……

答案 B

21. It was at the music hall _______ we met each other for the first time.

   A. when     B. whereC. which     D. that

强调句

答案 D

22. Modern technology has made ______ possible for the whole world to be closer than ever before.

   A. thisB. that    C. it   D it's

it is possible ……是可能的

答案 C

23. It is during his spare time _______ John has been studying a course in French.

   A. when      B. thatC. which D. what

it is…… 强调句

答案 B

24. "Have you heard the news about Tom?"

   "No, what _______ ?"

   A. was itB. were they      C. are theyD. is it

news 当消息讲是不可数名词

答案 D

25. I wonder why ________ possible for you to do the work by yourself.

   A. you      B. you areC. it isn't D. you were

I wonder why 宾语从句

答案 C

26. "Did Amy's parents leave her any money?"

   "No, she has to support ______ now."

   A. herself      B. by herself     C. all alone    D. on her own

support oneself 养活自己

答案 A

27. In _____ own way, mathematics can be as creative and exciting as poetry.

   A. itB. its  C. their  D. theirs

mathematics 数学(单数)

答案 B

28. Neighbors ought to respect _______ .

   A. themselves      B. one another    C. each oneD. to each other

答案 B

29. This furniture is different from _______ .

   A. onesB. your  C. that one D. that

furniture是不可数名词，

答案 D

30. For ______ interested in nature, the club offers hikes and overnight camping each week during the summer.

   A. that     B. this    C. these  D. those

hike 徒步旅行，overnight campinng在野外露营

答案 D

31. "May I help you with some shoes, sir?"

   "Yes, I'd like to try on those brown _______ ."

   A. oneB. ones C. two D. pair

shoes是复数,对应ones 

try on 试穿

答案 B

32. "Do you like the book Sidney gave you?"

   "Very much. It's exactly _______ I wanted."

   A. one which    B. the oneC. one that      D. one what

下文提到上文提到的单数可数名词，用the one

答案 B

33. "Shall I mail the letter for you?"

   "Yes , I'd appreciate ________."

   A. that you do     B. you to do it   C. this D. it

指代前面提到的事，用it。

答案 D

34. The patient chiefly lived on milk and fruit because he had ______ to eat.

   A. nothing else   B. anything else   C. something other  D. nothing other

修饰不定代词的形容词放在不定代词的后面。

live on 以……为生

答案 A

35. ________ doesn't matter what you do at this point.

   A. They      B. AllC. He   D. It

it doesn't matter 没关系

答案 D

36. People have proved _________ to be true that the heat we get from coal and oil comes from the sun.

   A. that B. it   C. this   D. /

it 是形式宾语，that从句是真正的宾语。

答案 B

37. I don't think ________ possible to master a foreign language without much memory work.

   A. it      B. that   C. this   D. those

答案 A

38. "Were all three people in the car injured in the accident?"

   "No, ______ only the two passengers who got hurt."

   A. it was      B. there isC. it were D. there was

强调句

答案 A

39. __________ he realized it was too late to return home.

   A. No sooner it grew dark than     B. Hardly it grew dark when

   C. It was not until dark that D. Scarcely it grew dark when

no sonner than=as soon as 一……就……

scarcely when=as soon as

hardly when=as soon as

答案 C

40. It was not until she arrived in class ________ realized she had forgotten her book.

   A. and B. when sheC. she  D. that she

not until 直到……才

答案 D

41. It was ______ who arrived there first , despite our detour(绕路).

   A. us B. we   C. our   D. ours

答案 B

42. It was _______ the next morning that Kunta began to think about where he was going.

   A. after     B. beforeC. when  D. not until

after 在……之后

before 在……之前

when 当……时候

not until 直到……才

答案 D

43. It was _______ he got a map that he started on his away.

   A. until      B. till     C. not untilD. not till

until 直到

till 直到

not until 直到……才

答案 C
第四节  数词
大纲要求

基数词及其用法；序数词的构成及其用法；分数词的构成；小数的用法。

一、基数词及其主要用法

表示数目的词称基数词。15 fifteen，几百几千不加s，242  two hundred and forty-two，5058 five thousand and fifty-eight，9,600,000 nine million six hundred thousand

1.基数词可以用于数字的计算。

    6+8=14 Six plus eight is fourteen.

    9-7=2  Nine minus seven is two.

    7X5= 35 Seven times five is thirty-five.

    8÷4=2 Eight divided by four is two.

2．基数词可以表示人的大致年龄和年代。

    He died in his fifties.

    This took place in 1990s/1990's.

    The professor became successful in his thirties.

3．基数词可以用来表达年份、时间、电话号码。

    1700 seventeen hundred

    1814 eighteen fourteen

    9:20 nine twenty

    11:30 eleven thirty/ half past eleven

    5:45 five forty-five/ a quarter to six

    88760231 eight eight seven, six zero two, three one
4．基数词可以用于编号。

    Number six, line 4, page 19, Bus(No.) 332, Platform (No.) 5, Room 101
5．基数词可以和其他词一起构成合成形容词，在句子中作定语。

    A one-month-old baby can recognize its mother by smell.

    This eleven-month-old baby can speak a few words.

    (The baby is eleven months old.)

    The teacher asked us to write a four-thousand-word essay as our homework.

    (There are four thousand words in the essay.)

    This four-paragraph essay is too difficult for me to understand.

    (There are four paragraphs in this essay. )

二、序数词及其主要用法

表示顺序的词称为序数词。如first, second, third, fourth, ninth, twenty-first, forty-fifth等。

   序数词可以用来表示日期和世纪。May the first / the first of May(5.1), August the eighth / the eighth of August(8.8), the twentieth century, the twenty-first century

    序数词在句子中前面一般加the

    The first of October is our National Day.

    She was the third to arrive.

    序数词在句子中前面加不定冠词，表示"再一""又一"。

    They'll have to do it a second time.

    Shall I ask him a third time?

    When he sat down , a fourth man rose to ask.

三、分数词的构成

分数的分子用基数词表示，分母用序数词表示，若分子大于1，分母需用复数。

    two-thirds(2/3),one-third(1/3), nine-tenths (9/10), five-twelfths(5/12)。

    特殊表达法有：one half (1/2),a quarter (1/4), three quarters (3/4) 。

考试重点

基数词可以和其他词一起构成合成形容词，在句子中作定语，名词不能加s。

    数词部分需特别注意dozen, hundred, million, billion 等词。表示具体数字时，这些词用单数形式，表示不具体的数字时，须用dozens of, hundreds of 这类的结构。

    I want three dozen of these.

    He has been there dozens of times.

    It is reported that _____ people in this area were saved in the storm.

    A. hundred     B. hundred of     C. hundreds of D. some    hundreds
(答案 C)
当数词与名词及其他词构成合成形容词时，合成形容词中间若用连字符，则其中的名词须用单数形式。

    The homework for the next period is to write a two-hundred-word composition about your hometown.

    Mary is a eleven-year-old girl.

    (Mary is eleven years old.)

典型例题

1. In ______ century computers will be used more widely.

   A. twenty-one     B. the twenty-one   C. twenty-first    D. the twenty-first

序数词前加the。

答案 D
2. The meeting will be held in _______ .

   A. 112 Room   B. Room 112   C. the 112 Room   D. the Room 112

答案 B

3. The Great Wall of China is about 6,700 _______.

   A. kilometer long     B. kilometers long

   C. kilometer longer      D. kilometers longer

答案 B
4. "How many presidents were there before Abraham Lincoln?"

  "Fifteen, so he was ______."

   A. the sixteen president  B. the sixteenth  president

   C. president sixteenD. president the sixteenth

the sixteenth president 第十六任总统

答案 B

5. “What did the professor tell you to do?”

   “I had to write a ______ report. ”

   A. two thousand wordsB. two-thousands-word

   C. two-thousand-word D. two-thousand words

答案 C

6. “Did you buy anything at the clothing sale?”

   “Yes, I bought three _____ ties for just twelve dollars.”

   A. five dollars   B. five-dollars   C. five-dollar   D. fifth dollar

答案 C

7. Eight minus three _______ five.

   A. leave     B. leaves C. left  D. has left

一般现在时

答案 B

8. What date is it ? It’s ________.

   A. July twentieth-first      B. July the twenty-first

   C. the twenty-first of July D. Both B and C

7月21日：July the twenty-first

  the twenty-first of July

答案：D

9. When he was in his ________, he got the chance to go abroad to study.

   A. fortyB. forty’s

   C. forty’s years old D. forties

答案：D

10. “Rex told me you have moved.”

   “Yes, into a _______.”

   A. two-storey house    B. house of two story

   C. house of two stories D. two-stories house

答案：A

11. “I would like to register this letter.”

   “Please go to _______ on your left.”

   A. third window      B. window third

   C. the window three D. the third window

register  挂号，邮寄

答案：D

第五节  形容词与副词
大纲要求：

形容词与副词掌握比较级的构成及其用法。

一、形容词在句子中的作用

1、形容词在句子中可以作定语、表语、宾语补足语。

      A good boy must behave himself. 好孩子应当行为规矩。（定语）

      I like this red dress very much.（定语）

      She is beautiful. (表语)

      The patient is asleep. （表语）

      Who has got the window open? (宾语补足语)

      I've got everything ready for the class. (宾语补足语)

      I said it would happen, and sure enough it did happen.(独立成分)

2、大多数形容词既可作定语又可作表语，但有少数形容词只能作表语。

      This is a red dress.    The dress is red.

alike, afraid, alone, asleep, awake, aware, alive, ashamed, unable, content.
二、副词在句子中的作用

副词在句子中主要作状语，可以修饰动词、形容词、副词，有时修饰整个句子。

    Unfortunately, he wasn't at home when I came. （修饰整个句子）

    Luckily, she wasn't injured in the accident.（修饰整个句子）

    Her pronunciation is very good.（修饰形容词）

    I have been extremely busy these days.（修饰形容词）

    I can hardly agree with you.（修饰动词）

    He works terribly (quite) hard. （修饰副词）
三、形容词和副词比较级和最高级的构成

1．单音节词和少数双音节词（如以y结尾的）在词尾加-er , -est.

    如：small, smaller, smallest; great, greater, greatest; clever, cleverer, cleverest; quiet, quieter, quietest ; common, commoner, commonest; narrow, narrower, narrowest。

2、以e结尾的词加-r , -st 。

    如：larger, larger , largest ; simple, simpler , simplest ; polite, politer , politest; brave, braver, bravest; fine, finer, finest。

3、以"辅音字母+y"结尾的词，变y为i 再加-er , -est 。

    如：busy，busier, busiest; heavy，heavier, heaviest; happy，happier, happiest.

4、以一个辅音字母结尾的词，双写该辅音字母，再加-er, -est 。（一个辅音字母结尾；重读闭音节）

    如：big，bigger, biggest; thin，thinner, thinnest; hot，hotter, hottest。

双音节词，多音节词比较级和最高级在词前加more, most。

    如：difficult, more difficult, most difficult, interesting, more interesting, most interesting; useful, more useful, most useful。

特殊的比较级和最高级
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四、形容词和副词比较级的用法

1、比较级常与than引导的状语从句连用，表示与什么相比。

      This room is bigger than any other one in the hotel.

为了避免重复，从句常用一些代词。

比较必须是两个相同的成分。

Everyday he arrives earlier than anyone else in the company.

      Small oranges are usually sweeter than big ones.

     It is better to be prepared than unprepared.

      This is easier said than done.

      She is taller than I(me).

      I meet with more difficulties than she does.

      The girls in my class are more active than those in his class.

1、有than 就要考虑比较级。

2、比较的成分要完全一致。
2、"比较级+and+比较级"，表示"越来越…"。

      My father walked faster and faster until I could no longer keep up with him .

keep up with  \跟上，赶上

no longer=not any longer

My father walked faster and faster until I couldn't keep up with him any longer.  （not 用来否定动词）

Our country is getting stronger and stronger.

      Things are getting better and better every day.

      I'm getting more and more interested in arts.

get interested in  对……感兴趣
3．"the +比较级…，the+比较级"，表示"越是…就越…"。

The more haste, the less speed. 欲速则不达。

The harder she works, the more progress she makes.

make progress  取得进步

The more I study it, the more I like it.

Actually, the busier he is, the happier he feels.

The more preparation you do now, the less nervous you'll be before the exam.

The sooner you start, the faster you'll be finished.
五、形容词和副词最高级的用法

最高级的前面通常要加定冠词，副词最高级前面的定冠词可以省略。最高级在使用时通常有一个短语或从句表示比较的范围。

    Of all the places I've visited, I like Hangzhou best.

    This is the worst movie I've ever seen.

    Beijing is one of the largest cities in the world.

    For me, Tuesday is one of the busiest day in the week.

    Among all the students, he runs (the) fastest.

比较级前面有时也加the ，表示两者之间"较…的一个"。

    Both of the two girls are beautiful, but I think the tall one is more beautiful of the two.

    The five-year-old boy chose the more expensive of the two toys.
六、"as+原级+as"，"not as / so +原级+as"

"as+原级+as"，表示"和…一样…"，  "not as / so +原级+as"表示"不及…"。

    He is as good a swimmer as any of us.

注意 good 的位置

He's as tall as I.

    It is not as hot in Beijing as in Wuhan.

    He does not smoke so heavily as his father.

    French is just as difficult a language as English.

    She is as good a cook as her mother.

    I have never seen so beautiful a place as Hangzhou.

never 否定含义

类似的还有：hardly, little, few

"as+原级+as one can"和"as +原级+as possible"表示"尽可能地…"。

    Come as soon as possible.

    There is nothing we can do but wait as calmly as we can.

there is nothing…but… , but后一定跟动词原形

"as+原级+as"可以用来表示倍数。

    My new coat cost me four times as much as the old one.

先说倍数，然后在as+原级+as

cost 花费，主语是物。spend, 主语是人。

It takes sb. some time to do sth.

spend in doing sth.

spend on sth.

This room is twice as large as that one.

    This room is twice larger than that one.
七、比较级、最高级和"as+原级+as"前面都可以有表示程度的状语。

The sun is much bigger than the earth.

错误：The sun is more bigger than the earth.

She is by far the cleverest girl in our class.

by far 到目前为止

It's becoming the third largest city in the country.

    They have many more chemistry books than we.

    There is much more water in this jar than that one.

    They will come back a little earlier.

    This time she ran a good deal faster.

    Tom is six centimeters taller than John.

    Of all the workers in the factory,  Alice is by far the most skilled.
重点掌握：

1、只能作表语的形容词。

2、特殊形容词、副词的比较级和最高级。

3、比较级多用than，个别情况下用 of the two。比较时，前后成分一定一致。

4、the +比较级…，the+比较级

5、as+原级+as ， not as / so +原级+as

6、"as+原级+as"可以用来表示倍数。

    He is almost as tall as his brother.

    My father isn't as old as he looks.

    This word is used less frequently in British English than in American English.

    Spanish people usually speak more quickly than English people.

    Winter is drawing near. It's getting colder and colder.

    The more you practise writing, the better you will do it.

The more work we give our brains, the more work it is able to do.
典型例题：

1. We are not _______ to afford a car yet.

 A. enough money     B. money enough

 C. rich enough D. enough rich

1、enough 作为形容词放在可数复数名词和不可数名词前。

   Have you got enough sandwiches for lunch?

   Surely 15 minutes is enough time for you to have coffee.

2、enough 作为代词。

   Six bottles of wine will be enough.

   I hope enough of you are prepared to help with the show.

3、enough 作为副词，放在动词、形容词和其他副词的后面。

   You don't practice enough at the piano.

   Is the river deep enough for swimming (to swim in)?

She isn't good enough for the exam.

答案 C

2. "It's six o'clock and your father is still at the office."

"I know, who else would _______ he does?"

A. be as hard working as   B. as working harder than

 C. do harder work than     D. work as hard as

as+原级+as

答案 D

3. "Ralph seems to like this country."

  "Yes, he is _______ here as he was at home."

 A. almost as happy  B. as happy almost

 C. as almost happy  D. almost happy as

as+原级+as

almost (already)放在系动词be的后面，其他动词的前面。

答案　Ａ

4. They say Mexico City is more populous than _______ in the world.

　　　A. any city    　　　　　B. any other city

　　　C. any else city    　   D. any rest city

populous 人口众多的

单数一定要跟单数比。

答案 B

5. Most of the students have made _______ progress in their study of English than we first expected.

A. more great     B. more greater

C. far greater     D. far more greater

答案 C

6. General George Brown was older than _________ in his regiment (军团).

 A. any officer     B. any other officer

 C. any others officer   　D. any officer else

答案 B

7. The French seem far more interested in reading about Africa _______ about their nearest neighbors.

A. as B. than      C. the sameD. so

more 为比较级，只能than

答案 B

8. It usually takes much _______ time to fly from one country to another than to travel by train.

A. more      B. less    C. little  D. least

有than，肯定是比较级。

答案 B

9. Frank plays _________ Alex.

      A. a lot more better than  B. much more better than

      C. a lot better than D. much more well than

答案 C

10. Have you finished your homework? This lesson is ________ than the last one.

 A. more easier      B. more easy

 C. very easierD. much easier

答案 D

11. Young people regard Bob Dylan as _________ other musicians.

A. more better than   B. more superior than

C. superior to   D. more perfect to

superior 没有比较级。

superior to  优于

答案 C

12. "Won't you have more meat?"

   "No, thanks. I've had ________ enough already."

   A. beyond   B. more than

   C. greater than    D. plenty of

more than happy(glad) to do sth. 高兴做某事

I am more than happy to take you there in my car.

答案 B

13. I'd like to leave my car near here. Where's the ______, please?

 A. nearest parking     B. next parking

 C. nearest car parking D. next car park

答案 A

14. The harder they worked, ____________.

      A. they seemed to do less     B. the less they seemed to do

      C. they were doing less D. they did less

the +比较级…，the+比较级

答案 B

15. "Do you enjoy the new camera?"

   "Yes, _______, the more skilled I become."

A. as I take more picturesB. the more pictures I take

C. as more pictures I takeD. the pictures I take more

the +比较级…，the+比较级

答案 B

16. The more we looked at the abstract painting, _______.

 A. the less we liked it B. we like it less

 C. better we liked it   D. it looked better

the +比较级…，the+比较级

答案 A

17. The new large passenger jets have made the traffic problems at airports _______.

A. more bad than it wasB. the worse than before

C. worse than ever before     D. more bad than they were

make+名词+形容词  使……成为，变为

The news makes her happy.

His actions make him universally respected.

答案 C

18. Of the two lectures, the first was by far the _______.

 A. good B. betterC. best  D. worst

by far跟形容词或副词的比较级或最高级连用时，放在这类词的后面。

如果这类词带有冠词，放前，放后都可以。

    It is quicker by far to go by train.

    She is the best by far. (She is by far the best.)

答案 B

19. Kansas is _________ states in America's mid-west.

 A. one of the flattest  B. the flattest

 C. as flatter as  D. flattest of the

答案 A

20. On the day he was to give his speech, Paul was suffering from one of _______ colds he had ever had.

      A. bad      B. worse  C. the worst      D. bad of all

答案 C

suffer from 遭受……罪

21. The steel output of this year will be bigger than _____ last year.

      A. this of     B. the one      C. that of D. those of

output 产量

指上文提到的用that或those。

答案 C

22. Japan has taken a more independent stand ________.

   A. as it does before    B. as it did before

   C. than it does a few years ago  D. than it did a few years ago

stand 立场

答案 D

23. Her English is very good. She can speak English better than _____ in her grade.

  A. any one     B. the one

  C. anyone else D. other student

other的用法：

1、other常跟名词复数或单数不可数名词连用。

   Moral beauty ought to be ranked above all other beauty.

2、前面有the, this, that, some, any, each, every, no, none, one以及形容词性物主代词时，other可跟单数名词连用。

   Every member must bring one other person.

   There must be some other reason for him refusing to help.

another的用法：another表示单数概念，后面接单数名词或代词one。

Don't say another word.

another也可跟前面有数词的复数名词连用。

He went back to work too soon，and was laid up for another three months.

one…the other…  一个…另一个…

one…another… (同组内的两个个体）

答案 C

24. The new model costs twice ________ last year's .

      A. more than    B. as much as      C. as many as    D. than

"as+原级+as"可以用来表示倍数。

The new model costs twice more than last year's.

答案 B

25. This one isn't good. That one is _______ worse.

A. more      B. very      C. quite D. even

quite后面只能跟原级。 This one is quite bad.

very的用法：

  1、用于形容词、副词前，加强语气。（非常，十分）

     very quickly, very soon

  2、用于形容词最高级或own之前。（十足，完全）

     the very best quality, six o'clock at the very latest

  3、very 表示正是…… Sitting in the very same seat.

答案 D
第六节  介 词
考试大纲要求：

1、常用介词及其词义；

    2、介词与某些动词、形容词、名词的固定搭配；

    3、介词短语及其用法。

    介词在句子中不能独立充当一个成分，往往和后面的宾语共同构成句子的成分。介词与名词、形容词、动词有着固定的搭配。
常用介词用法：

1. across（穿过）

    My mother lives across the street.

    I came across him yesterday.   (come across偶然遇到)

    The post office is just across the street.
2. after（在……之后）

    The children went to bed after saying good night to their parents.

    Who will look after your baby while you're away?

(look after 照看，照料，take care of)

    The girl is named after her mother.

      （name after 以……命名）

    Rewrite the sentences after the model. （模仿，仿照）
3. against（反对）

    What you are doing is against the rule.

    We are against the proposal. （be against 反对）

    Nobody has got anything against you.
4. along（沿着）

    They walked along Nanjing Road.

    There is a cinema along the street.

    I'm getting along/ on well with my classmates.
5. around（围绕）

    We all drew up closely around him.

    The guide showed us around the city.

      （show sb. around 领某人参观）
6. at（在……）

    Let's meet at the station.

    She was at a conference.

    The committee is to meet at the weekend.

    He joined up at eighteen.（join up 参军）

    What are you laughing at? （laugh at 嘲笑）

    Let's have a look at the picture. （have a look at 看一看）

    My mother was surprised at the news.（be surprised at 吃惊）

    He is good at mathematics.（be good at 擅长）

    He is good at drawing.
7. before（在……之前）

    Don't put the cart before the horse. 不要本末倒置。

    Pride comes before a fall. 骄傲就会摔跤。

    Before starting the work, we had a discussion.

    Before long, the war broke out. (break out 爆发)

    I bought the book the day before yesterday.
8. besides (除…之外还)

    There are six students in the classroom besides me.

    Besides fun and good exercise, swimming is a very useful skill.
9. between（在……之间）

    Come between ten and eleven o'clock.

    They don't know the difference between wheat and oats.

      (among 用于三者或三者以上)

    What's the difference between them?
10. beyond（在……之外）

    The lake is beyond that mountain.

    Don't go beyond the city boundary. （go beyond 超过）

    It's expensive and beyond our reach.

    The city is beyond recognition. （beyond recognition 面目全非)

    The problem is too difficult. It's beyond me.

    This is inevitable and beyond all doubts. 这是必然的，毫无疑义的。
11. but ((除…之外)

    Who but a fool would do such a thing?

    I have nothing but a book in my hand.

    I'm the last but one to get here.
12．by（经过）

    She passed by me without saying goodbye to me.

    The woman is standing by the door.

    By the time we got to the station, the train had left.

    By the end of the year, we have trained 400 people.

    I came here by taxi. （by bus, by plane, by ship, on foot)

    The girl isn't an actress by profession. (actor 男演员）

    What's the time by your watch?

    This novel is written by Charles Dickens.

    Consumer goods production will go up by 6 % this year.

    I met him by chance yesterday. （by chance 偶尔碰到）

    We all have to abide by the rules. （abide by 遵守）

    By the way, where is the teacher? （by the way 顺便说一下）

    In order to pass the exam, we have to learn the texts by heart.

    At the age of ten she began to live by herself.(by oneself 独自）
13. except (除去)

    None of us have seen the film except my sister.

    He comes to school every day except Saturday.

    She is alone in the world except for her mother.
14. for（为了）

    After supper I always go out for a walk.

（go out for a walk 散步）

    Thank you for spending so much time listening to me explain.

    Thank you for spending so much time listening to my explanation.

    Forgive me for being late. (表原因）

    I'm sorry for what has happened.

    The coat is for sale. （for sale 出售）

    This is a book for you.

    Whenever she is in trouble, she'll turn to her parents for help.

（be in trouble 处在困难之中  turn to 向某人求助）

    We left Beijing for Shanghai last week. (leave…for… 动身去)

    I have studied English for three years.

    I sold the flat for 100,000 yuan.

（flat,apartment 公寓，house 别墅，room 房间）

    How much do you pay for the coat? （pay for 付款）

    It's hard for me to get rid of all the rats. （get rid of 消灭，消除）

    I'm looking for my book.

find（找到）: I'm looking for my book, but I can't find it.

    I do this all for your good. （for one's good 为了某人好）

    Who are you waiting for? （wait for 等待）

    They do this for the sake of their mother.

（for the sake of 因为）
15. from（来自……）

    We've learnt a lot from our teacher.

    They are busy from morning to night.（from...to... 从……到……）

    The letter is from your parents.

    I have been away from home for a long time.

（be away from home 离开家）

（be from 来自）   I'm from China.

    The film we saw yesterday was different from the novel.

（be different from 与……不同，differ from）

    The wine is made from the best grapes.

      make from 化学变化

      make of 物理变化  The desk is made of wood.

      make sth. up 由……组成

     Animal bodies are made up of cells.

     Society is made up of people of widely differing abilities.

      make with sth. 迅速拿出或提供某物

     Make with the beers, buster. 伙计，拿啤酒来。

      make for 为……做……

     She made coffee for all of us.

    Millions of people are suffering from the war.（suffer from 遭受）

    He is weak from lack of sleep. （lack of 缺乏）

    I disagree with them from the beginning.

      （disagree with 不同意  agree with 同意）

    I try to prevent them from doing the work, but in vain.

(prevent sb. from doing sth. 阻止某人做某事)

      （in vain 毫无作用，徒劳）

    The situation is getting from bad to worse.

    The guest is talking from beginning to the end.
16. in（在……里）

    She was born in 1980.

    We'll be back in three days.

      （ He came back three days ago.）

    Do you work in the daytime or at night?

    We'll be back in no time. （in no time 立刻，马上）

    He is in his early thirties. (in one's thirties 三十多岁)

    He is always in a good mood.

(in a good mood 情绪很好  in a bad mood 情绪很糟)

    I have no difficulty/ trouble in solving the problem.

（no difficulty in doing sth. 没有困难）

    Did you have any difficulty in finding the hotel?

    Can you write in English?

    They have done it in a wrong way. （in a wrong way 错误的方式）

    They accepted the plan in principle. （in principle 原则上）
17. into（进入）

    Let's go into the room.

    I worked far into the night.

    The house has been turned into a museum.（turn into 变成）

    We must put these theories into practice.

    They all burst into laughter. （burst into 爆发）

    At the news, my sister burst into tears.

（burst into tears 放声大哭）

    I ran into my former classmate at the station. We haven't seen each other for a long time.

（run into 偶然碰到，偶然遇到）
18. like（像……）

    He likes its mother. 他喜欢他的母亲。

    The baby looks like its mother.

    It looks like snow.

    What's the weather like today?

    I don't feel like eating anything.

    What does it look(taste) like?
19. of（……的）

    He is a friend of mine.

    Have you got the Complete Works of Lu Hsun?

    We're of the same opinion. （be of 赞同）

    Electricity is of great use in industry and everyday life.

(be of use=be useful)

    Your help is of great value to us.

(be of value=be valuable)

    I often think of the days we spent together. （think of 想起）

    I read it quite by chance in a magazine. （by chance 偶然）

    It's very kind of you to remind me of it.

      （It's very kind of sb.

 remind sb. of sth. 提醒某人某事）

    The picture reminds me of the time we spent together in Dalian.

    We're proud of our son. （be proud of 以……为骄傲）

    The little boy is afraid of dogs. （be afraid of 害怕）

    It's just waste of time.

    He is ashamed of his past. （be ashamed of 羞耻，惭愧）

    The village is short of water. （be short of 缺少）

    I do all these of my own will. (of one's own 出于某人的意愿)
20. on（在……上）

    You hit the nail on the head. 你这话击中了要害。

    Put the book on the shelf, please.

    My mother was born on April 14, 1947.

（哪一年用in，具体到某一天用on）

    He left Beijing for home on the morning of July 2.

 (in the morning ，具体到某一天的上午、下午、晚上用on )

    On the eve of their departure, they gave a farewell banquet.

 (on the eve of 在……前夕）

    We usually get up late on Sunday morning.

    On his return he told us about the meeting.

    They will go on a visit to Asia. (go on a visit=visit )

    He is here on business. （be on business 做生意）

    She is away on a trip. （on a trip 旅行）

    The workers at the airport is on strike. （be on strike 罢工）

    When we came back, we found our house on fire.

（on fire 着火）

    The professor is making a speech on the current situation.（关于）

    This house is on sale. （on sale 出售）

    Who's on duty today?

    The girl insists on leaving home and depends on herself for a living.

 （insist on 坚持   depend on 依靠，依赖）
21. out of（出于）

    Looking out of the window, I saw a girl turn round the corner.

    They came out of the room to welcome us.

    My brother has been out of the hospital for a week.

(be out of the hospital 出院   be in hospital 住院)

    He did it out of gratitude for us.

    We helped the poor boy out of sympathy.

    Please get out of the way. 别挡道。

    All of us were out of breath when we got to the top of the mountain.

(be out of breath 气喘吁吁）

    The coat is out of date. (be out of date 过时）

    My mother is out of work now. （be out of work 失业）
22. since（自从）

    They have been close friends since childhood.（从儿童时期他们就是好朋友）

    We've always been on guard since then.（be on guard 警惕）

    I got to know him last year, and have been writing to each

    other since then.
23. through(通过、穿过)

    There is a path through the garden.

    I've gone through the book.（go through 看过 浏览过）

    She must have been through a lot.（be through 受罪）

    We quickly saw through his trick.(see through 看穿)

    How soon will you be through? （be through 打电话）

    You're through now.你的电话接通了。

    He began to look through the album.(look through 翻阅)

    The couple went through many hardships.（go through 经历）

    She's ill all through September.

24. to

    All roads lead to Rome.

    Did you go to the exhibition last week?

    We'll change the date to July 10.(to 到什么时间)

    Let's drink to your health.（drink to 为什么干杯）

    Don't leave things to the last moment.（to the last moment 到最后一刻）

    I must apologize to you.

    Happy Christmas! The same to you.

    You're awfully nice to me.

    Hainan lies to the south of Guangdong.(lie on, lie in )

    To our surprise, she gave up the opportunity.（to one's

    suuprise 使某人感到惊奇 give up 放弃）

    The final score is 3:5 in our favor.

    To our surprise, everything in the room is in good order.（be in good order 秩序井然）
25. under(在……的下面）

    Some girls are singing under the trees.

    The road is under repair.（be under repair 正在修理）

    From here, we can see the bridge under construction.

    Scientists believe that they will get weather under control

    some day.(under control 在控制之中)

    The proposal is now under discussion.(proposal 提案)

    The unpopular mayor is under constant attack in the newspapers.
26. with(和……)

    Who was that with you? 你刚才和谁在一起？

    Our teacher is strict with us.(be strict with sb. 对某人严格要求)

    My father is always patient with me.(be patient with 对某人有耐心)

    We're satisfied with our work.(be satisfied with 对……满意)

    She is discussing the idea with her tutor.

    We're familiar with each other.(be famililar with 熟悉 similiar to 相似)

    Her eyes were filled with tears.(be filled with 充满)

    He's in bed with flu.

    The ground was covered with snow.

    The street is crowded with people.(be crowed with 拥挤)

    He wanted to kill two birds with one stone.( 一举两得)

    The girl greeted me with a smile.

    The young man with glasses over there is my brother.

    What's the matter with you?

    I found the place with great difficulty.(with great difficulty费很大劲)

    It's hot outside. He was working there with only a T-shirt on.

    The girl was sitting in a chair with her hands folded.
介词考试重点：

除了要掌握介词与动词、名词、形容词的固定搭配外，还需牢记一个基本点即，介词后面接的是宾语，因此跟在其后面的主要是代词、名词或动名词及其词组，间或是宾语从句。

①I'm looking forward ____ you tomorrow.

    A.to see    B. to seeing      C. seeingD. see

look forward to doing

答案B

②I always arrive at the office in time, but _______ the heavy rain, I'm one hour late this morning.

    A.because     B. because of    C. as D. since

because、as、since接句子

答案B

③This weekly schedule will make you more aware of how you spend your time.

aware of意识到

④I'll speak to him about it.

speak to sb. 对某人谈话
典型例题：

1. When the taxi came I put out my head, but it just went ______ me without stopping.

    A. off B. over C. throughD. past

     put out my head(伸出头)

    go out(下车)

    go over (复习)

    go through (碾过去)

    past (经过)     

答案 D     

2. His ears are highly sensitive ________ any unusual sound in the machine.

    A. of B. on C. to   D. by

     sensitive to (对……敏感)

    答案 C   

3. He might have been killed _______ the arrival of the police.

    A. except for    B. but for      C. with D. for

    except for (除了)

    but for (要不是)

    with (和……在一起)

    for (因为)

     except for: 除了……之外 The road was empty except for a few cars.

    but for: 倘无，要不是, 表虚拟语气。But for the doctor's skill, he would have died.

But for the rain, we should have had a very pleasant journey.

答案 B

4. Japan is __________ the east of China.

    A. at  B in    C. over  D. to

答案 D

5. Try some of this tobacco. You'll say it's second ______ none.

    A. of     B. withC. to   D. but

second to none=as good as the best (不亚于任何人或事物)

As a dancer, she is second to none.

答案 C

6. He sold his car _________ $2,000 .

    A. forB. over C. in D. by

答案 A

7. "Wasn't John supposed to be here by now?"

    "Don't worry. He'll be here _______ twenty minutes."

    A. by at least     B. around     C. at nearlyD. in about

答案 D

8. "Could you find an answer to your problem in the book I gave you?"

    "I looked at it , but it wasn't really _______."

    A. much used    B. able to use     C. of usefulness     D. of much use

to ……的答案  key to my room(我屋子的钥匙)

be of use=be useful

答案 D

9. "Are you done with the book I gave you?"

    "Not quite. I've read all ______ the last chapter."

    A. butB. untilC. just  D. yet

but 除了

until 直到

just 刚好

yet 还没有

but=except

but: 主要与no one , none, nothing, nobody等否定词用；who, where, what等疑问词；all, everyone, everything, anyone, anything, 及everywhere等连用。

Who but George would do such a thing?

Isn't there anything but mountains?

except+句子；except for+n.

except+n. 时主要与no one , none, nothing, nobody等否定词用；all, everyone, everything, anyone, anything, 及everywhere等连用。不与who，where，what等疑问词连用

答案 A

10. I agree with him ________ , but not entirely.

    A. until a certain point B. to some point

    C. to some extent      D. until a certain extent

to some extent(在某种程度上)

答案 C

11. My parents are not interested in modern music. They are _______ the times.

    A. before B. behind      C. afterD. against

答案 B

12. I'm rather anxious _______ her , for I haven't heard from her for a long time.

    A. toward      B. aboutC. in   D. over

be anxious about

hear from sb.(收到某人来信)

答案 B

13. Who is responsible _______ the arrangements?

    A. for make     B. to make      C. to making    D. for making

be responsible for

答案 D

14. "Edward was terribly impolite to Miss Smith."

    "Yes, he should be ________ himself."

    A. sorry for     B. sorry about

    C. ashamed with  D. ashamed of

be impolite to sb(对某人没有礼貌)

ashame of(感到羞愧)

be sorry for/about sth. 自责  Aren't you sorry for/ about what you've done?

be/feel sorry for sb.

 (1) 同情  I feel sorry for anyone who has to drive in this bad weather?

 (2)对某人有些不赞成，怜悯某人 If he doesn't realize the consequences of his actions, I'm sorry for him.

答案 D

15. I am disappointed with the new officers elected in our club, but there is no point ______ about it.

    A. complain  B. in complaining   C. for us complain  D. with us to complain

no point in doing sth.

point:价值  There's not much point in complaining, they never take any notice.

答案 B

16. To say that someone's work is not good is to find fault ______ it .

    A. ofB. with  C. for   D. on

find fault with(对……找缺点)

答案 B

17. The airport is five miles ________ .

    A. away from here     B. far from here

    C. far away from here   D. from here away

away from (离……远)

答案 A

18. Tom has been _______ the telephone for two hours.

    A. onB in  C. at  D. for

be on the telephone 接电话

答案 A

19. _______ fun and exercise, swimming is a very useful skill.

    A. Beside    B. Besides      C. Except forD. But for

beside(在……旁边)

besides(除了)

except for(除了)

but for(要不是)

Three others went there besides me.

Everyone went there except me.

答案 B

20. _______ the heavy snow last night, none of the classes have been cancelled at the university.

    A. Despite of    B. In spite of    C. In spite      D. Despite with

in spite of=despite(尽管)

答案 B

21. The movie we saw last night was very different _______ the novel.

    A. of B. to      C. from D. with

be different from

答案 C

22. I prefer writing a term paper _______ taking an examination.

    A. than      B. toC. for D. rather than

prefer to

prefer+n.to+n.

I prefer coffee to tea.

prefer+doing to+ doing

答案 B

23. The picture reminds me _______ the time we spent together in New York.

    A. of B. in  C. for D. to

remind sb. of sth.

答案 A

24. From here we can see the bridge _______ construction.

    A. belowB. by C. under  D. with

under construction：在建设中

The new railway is still under construction.

答案 C

第七节 连 词

大纲要求

     并列连词及其用法；从属连词及其用法。连词在句子中起连接词与词、短语与短语、句子与句子的作用。连词分为并列连词和从属连词，从属连词用于复合句中。并列连词用来连接平行的词、词组或分句。
常见连词用法

    1．but(但是)

    "I won't go. " "But you've told me you would."

    "Can I help you?" "I'm afraid the box is too heavy for you, but thank you all the same."
     2. yet(然而)

    They got to know each other a month ago, yet they have been in deep love now. (be in love 相爱)

    She has her weaknesses, yet that doesn't mean she is not qualified for the job.(be qualified for 胜任)

    She is not a native speaker, yet her French is adequate for the job.(be adequate for 胜任)
     3. however(然而)

    The text is difficult. It is , however, not beyond the reach of the students.

    At first the girl refused to go with him. Later, however, she changed her mind.  
     4. for(因为)

    You'd better put on your coat, for it's rather cold outside.

    It must be snowing, for it is so bright outside.

    The old man sat in front of the fire most of the day, for it was very cold.
     5. so(所以)

    I have lived in Wuhan for five years, so I'm used to the life here.(be used to+n或doing 习惯于…… I'm used to getting up early in the morning.used to do sth. 过去常常做某事  I used to teach in the school.I used to get up late in the morning.)

    It was already rather late, so we decided to go home.

    My mother is expecting me, so I must be off now.

    Mary earns a good salary, so she can't be deep in debt.

    (be in debt 陷于债务之中)
     6. and(并且)

    Try your best and you'll succeed this time.(succeed是动词，successful是形容词，success是名词)

    He shook his head and went away.(shook的原型是shake)

     7. then(然后)

    First they only quarreled, and then they began to fight.

    Use your brain, and then you'll find a way.
     8. or(或者)

    Hurry up, or you'll be late.

    You may do it yourself, or ask someone else to do it.

    He hardly ever goes to the cinema or the theatre.

     9. otherwise(否则)

    She was in a hurry that morning. Otherwise she would have stopped to talk with you.

    You'd better take more exercise, otherwise you'll get fat.

     10. either …or(或者……或者)

    You can come either today or tomorrow.

    You may either stay here or go with me.
     11. neither, nor, neither…nor

    I don't know the answer, neither/nor does she.

    (否定句+neither/nor+倒装句)

    She couldn't speak German, neither/nor could anyone else in the class.

    I don't want to do it, nor do I want you to do it.

    She could neither speak English nor write it.

    We work neither for fame nor for personal gains.

    We neither know nor care what has happened.

    12. both…and (两者都)

    She's looking for opportunities both here and abroad.

    (opportunity 机会)

    The prospects both excited and worried me.

    13. not only … but also(不但……而且)

    not only … but also连接的句子成分一定要一致

    The boy not only lost the money but also came close to losing his life.

    He is like his mother not only in appearance but also in character.(not only+介词+名词，but also+介词+名词)

    14. as well as(也怎么样)

    We have read one of his novels as well as a few of his plays.

    The kind man gave me some advice as well as some money.

     15. nevertheless(然而)

    She has failed many times, nevertheless she is confident she will succeed in the end.
     16. therefore(因此)

    You're in the right, therefore we should support you.

     17. hence(因此)

    The word is an uncountable noun and is used in a general sense, hence(therefore) it takes no article.

 典型例题：

1. "I thought he hated the TV."

  "You are right, _______ he still watches the program."

    A. yet     B. besides      C. also D. then

yet 然而

besides 除了

also不是连词，不能连接句子

He is a teacher. I'm also a teacher.

then 然后

答案 A
2. "You should put the money in the bank."

  "It's my money, _______ I can do whatever I want with it. "

     A. but      B. so  C. yet  D. or

but 除了

so 所以

yet 然而

or 或者

答案 B
3. We must leave the party at exactly 9:00, ________ we'll be late for work.

    A. for else    B. other C. else D. otherwise

for else(没有这种搭配)

other+n

else(不单独使用)

otherwise(否则)

答案 D
4. Both Mary and Ellen, ________ Jane, are studying nursing at the University of Toledo.

    A. as well as     B. well      C. as well  D. and well as

as well as (也，并且)

well (好)

as well (无此用法)

and well as (无此用法)

答案 A
5. You can fly to London this evening _______ you don't mind changing planes in Paris.

    A. unlessB. except C. so far asD. if

mind doing sth.

unless (除非)

except (除了)

in so far as (到什么什么程度)so far (迄今为止)

if (如果)

答案 D
6. The patients will have to wait all day _______ the doctor works faster.

    A. if  B. whether      C. unless  D. that

if (如果)

whether(是否)

unless(除非)

答案 C
7. She remained silent, _______ her heart was heavy and her spirit low.

    A. so B. though  C. for  D. therefore

so (所以)

though(尽管)

for (因为)

therefore (因此)

答案 C
8. In the world no country has exactly the same folk music ________ that of any other countries.

    A. withB. asC. to    D. like

the same as 和……一样

as: 连词。谈到人或事物彼此都有相同点时表示比较 This is the same one as that you had before.

Like: 介词。 Like me, she enjoys all kinds of music. She enjoys all kinds of music, as I do.

在口语中like 可以做连词=as  Nobody understands him like/ as I do.

答案 B
9. My brother likes country music, _______ I like pop music.

    A. when      B. where      C. while     D. because

when (当……时候)

where (在哪儿)

while (当……时候；相反)

because (因为)

答案 C
10. ________ it is very late now, the students are still working in the lab.

    A. As B. When  C. IfD. Although

as 因为

when 当……时候

if 如果

although 尽管

答案 D
考试重点

     连词分为从属连词和并列连词，从属连词用来连接各类从句，并列连词用来表示并列句之间转折、因果、并列、选择、递进等关系。考生应了解常见连词的意思，根据句子上下文的需要进行恰当的选择。     

1.The boy wanted to play football. _____, it was raining and he stayed at home.

    A. And B. But  C. So    D. For

    and(并且)； but (但是)；so (所以)；for (因为)

    答案 B
2.The couple have lived in China for five years, so they have got used to the life here.
3.I wonder if you have met my sister.(if 是否)
4.The research results show that the earth goes a little faster _______ it is closer to the sun.

    A. as if      B. so that   C. thanD. when

    as if (仿佛)；so that (以便，为了)；so……that(如此……以至于)；

    than (连接比较级)；when (当……时候)

    答案 D
5.________ I haven't seen the film, I know very little about it.

    A. After     B. AlthoughC. As D. Before

    after (在什么之后)；although (尽管)；as (因为)；before (在……之前)

    because和so不能同时用 as和so不能连用

答案 C 
第八节  动 词

考试大纲要求

动词包括时态、被动语态、动名词、分词以及虚拟语气。

    （1）动词的分类：及物动词与不及物动词；连系动词；助动词；情态动词。

  （2）动词的基本形式：动词原形、过去分词、现在分词；不规则动词的形式

    （3）动词主要时态的构成及其用法。包括一般现在时，现在进行时，现在完成时，现在完成进行时，一般过去时，过去进行时，过去完成时，完成进行时，一般将来时，将来完成时，过去将来时。

    （4）情态动词及其基本用法。

    （5）非谓语动词（不定式、动名词、分词）的形式及主要用法。

    （6）被动语态的构成及其基本用法。

    （7）虚拟语气的常见形式及其基本用法。

一、动词的分类

 动词类型  在句子中的用法

 及物动词  后面接宾语

 不及物动词后面不接宾语，或接"介词/副词+宾语"

 连系动词  后面接表语

 助动词    后面接动词原形

 情态动词  后面接动词原形，或接动词的完成式
二、动词的基本形式

     动词除原形外，还有过去式、过去分词和现在分词三种形式。

（一）过去式和过去分词的构成

    1．一般情况下在原形后加-ed。如：work-worked, help-helped。

    2．以e结尾的单词，在原形后加-d。如：like-liked, joke-joked, hope-hoped.

    3. 以"辅音字母+y"结尾的单词，变y为i再加-ed。如：study-studied, carry-carried, copy-copied。

    4．以重读闭音节、末尾只有一个辅音字母结尾的单词，双写末尾的辅音字母再加-ed。如：stop-stopped, prefer-preferred, admit-admitted, plan-planned.

    有些动词的过去式和过去分词有特殊的形式。

    cost-cost-cost

    meet-met- met

    catch-caught-caught

    rise-rose-risen

    drive-drove- driven

    get-got-got/gotten

    leave-left-left

    smell-smelt/smelled-smelt/smelled

    tell-told-told

    take-took-taken

（二）现在分词的构成

    1．一般情况下在原形后加-ing。如：go-going, carry-carrying, play-playing, answer-answering, ask-asking。

    2．以不发音的e结尾的单词，去e加-ing 。如：live-living, come-coming, dance-dancing, write-writing。

    3．以重读闭音节、末尾只有一个辅音字母结尾的词，双写末尾的辅音字母再加-ing 。 如：sit-sitting, begin-beginning, permit-permitting, run-running, forget-forgetting.

    有些动词的现在分词有其特殊形式。如：die-dying, lie-lying, tie-tying, picnic-picnicking.
三、动词的主要时态

（一）一般现在时

    一般现在时表示经常性或习惯性的动作、现在的特征和状态、普遍真理等。

    Galileo said the earth moves around the sun.

    一般现在时的谓语形式：

    1．当动词为实义动词，如read, go, look时，谓语用动词原形，否定句在动词前面加do not ，疑问句加助动词do 。常和always, often, usually, sometimes, everyday等表示时间的状语连用。

    I go to school everyday.

    I read the newspapers after lunch.

    Do you agree with me?(agree with sb. 同意某人观点)

    I don't quite agree with you.

    主语为第三人称单数时，动词后面一般加s（具体变化规则与名词变复数相同）。否定句加does not, 疑问句加does .

    My father gets up at six everyday.

    He loves sports.

    Does it hurt?

    Does Miss Wu teach us English?

    The machine doesn't run smoothly.

    2．当动词为be时，谓语随人称和数的不同用am, is, are 三种形式。

    One is not guilty until he is proved. 在被证明有罪之前， 人都是无罪的。

    Knowledge is power.知识就是力量。

    She isn't afraid to go to school alone now.

    Are you from Yunnan?（be from 来自……地方）

    What she says is true.

    3．当动词为have, 表示"有"时，谓语用have, 主语为第三人称单数时，用has. 否定句相应用haven't, hasn't, 或don't have , doesn't have, 疑问句将have, has 提至主语前面或加助动词do, does.

    My sister has a lot of toys.

    She always have a lot of homework to do.

    Has she/Does she have any money on her?

    They don't have/haven't much experience.

    当have 作实义动词，如have a look, have breakfast, have lunch, have supper时，句子的谓语形式与其他实义动词相同。

    Let's have a look at the picture.

    I always have breakfast at home.

    She often has lunch in the dinning hall.

    always、often通常放在系动词之后，实意动词之前。
1. It is an accepted custom in our country for men to remove their hats when a woman ______ the room.

A. enter     B. enters  C. entering      D. entered

wheh状语从句中的主语是第三人称单数，

答案 B

2. "I'm leaving now. "

    "Make sure _______ the door."

    A. you lock    B. you'll lock     C. for locking      D. locking

make sure+动词原型或句子。

答案 A

3. Jean could be a very attractive girl but she ________ to her clothes.

    A. pays no attention     B. paying no attention

    C. was paying attention   D. had paid attention

答案 A

4. "How does Alma like her new work?"

    "She _______ with the hours."

    A. can't satisfy      B. isn't satisfied

    C. doesn't satisfy   D. hasn't satisfied

be satisfied with 对……满意

答案 B

（二）一般过去时

    一般过去时表示过去某个时间发生的动作或情况，包括过去的习惯性动作。常与表示过去的时间状语连用。如：a minute ago, yesterday, last week, in 1990, during the night, in those days. 用过去时时， 说"过多少时间之后"， 一般用 after, 不用in。

    一般过去时的谓语形式：

    1．动词为实义动词时，谓语用动词的过去式，否定句在原形前加did not, 疑问句加助动词did. 如：

    John suddenly fell ill yesterday.(fall-fell-fallen)

    My mother didn't look well when I saw her last time.

    It happened after four days.

    Did they go to Canada last week?

    Nothing happened since then.

    He went out just now.(just now 刚才)

    A book that cost a few jiao several years ago is worth 30 yuan now.

    2．动词为be, 主语是I 或第三人称单数时，谓语用was, 其他情况用were.  如

    They were classmates when they were ten years old.

    She was once a doctor but now she has retired .

    Why were you absent from school yesterday?

    3. 动词为have 时，肯定句谓语用had. 表示"有"时，否定句可用had not，疑问句将had 提至主语前面，也可与have作实义动词时相同，即否定句用didn't have, 疑问句加助动词did。如：

    They didn't have any money left and they couldn't afford the house.

    She didn't have any rest at noon and continued to work.

    Did you have dinner with Mr. Wang at that famous restaurant the day before yesterday?

    We had a big factory forty years ago.

1. John was finishing his assignments when his father _______ home from work.

    A. came B. comes  C. has come D. is coming

主句为过去时，状语从句也为过去时。

答案 A

2. The first zoological garden in the United States _________ in Philadelphia in 1874.(zoo)

    A. had established      B. has established

    C. was established      D. established

考试时应先考虑句子是主动还是被动，然后再考虑时态。

动物园应该是被建

A、D都是主动语态。

答案 C

（三）现在进行时

    现在进行时主要表示现在或现阶段正在进行的动作。可与now, at present, at this moment, these days等时间状语连用。

    现在进行时的谓语形式：am / is / are +现在分词。

    What are you doing, Jack?

    We're trying to plan our future.

    The train is now rapidly approaching the city.(approach 接近)

    Life is changing all the time.

    The woman who is standing here is my mother.

    动词go, come, leave, stay, arrive, die 等用于进行时态中，可以表示将要进行的动作。

    The bus is leaving, please hurry up.

    It's going to rain. Don't forget to take the umbrella.

    My uncle is coming to see us this weekend.

    The boy is leaving for Beijing tomorrow.（leave for 动身）

1. Health experts in many countries still ________ their ideas about the relationships between our food and our health.

    A. have tested     B. testedC. are testingD. test

still（仍旧）一般用于进行时。

still一般放在系动词后面，实义动词前面。

答案 C

2. What is this noise? Tell me what _______ here.

    A. went on      B. goes on  C. is going on      D. will go on

答案 C

（四）过去进行时

    过去进行时主要表示过去某个时刻或一段时间内正在进行的动作。

    过去进行时的谓语形式：was / were + 现在分词。

    My son was practicing the piano this time yesterday evening.

    When I called him, he was having his breakfast.

    While we were having a meeting, Mary came in and told us the terrible news.

    I was leaving the room when the telephone rang.

1. James has just arrived, but I didn't know he _____ until yesterday.

    A. will come     B. was coming   C. had been coming    D. comes

现在完成时表明的是过去的动作对现在的影响或持续到现在。

had been过去完成时，表示过去的过去。

was coming用过去进行时表示将要的动作。

答案 B

2. "What were you doing when Anna phoned you?"

    "I had just finished my work and _______ to take a bath.'

    A. starting      B. to start C. have started D. was starting

what were you doing提问的是过去进行时。

答案 D

（五）一般将来时

    一般将来时主要表示准备做的事、将要发生的动作情况、按计划安排要发生的事。

    一般将来时的谓语形式：

 1．am / is / are going to +动词原形

 2．will / shall +动词原形（shall用于第一人称）

 3．am / is / are +不定式

    We'll have eggs and toast for breakfast this morning.

    How are you going to spend your summer vacation?

    I think it's going to rain.

    We are going to the zoo tomorrow.

    The factory is to go into production.

    The line is to be opened to traffic on May Day.

    The machine won't work.

    The meeting won't last long.

    be about to  可表示即将做某事。

    He is about to leave.

    My mother is about to retire.

    一般将来时有时还可以用来表示一种倾向。

    Crops will die without water.

    Whenever I have time, I'll go and see you.

    Whoever fails to see this will make a big mistake.

    Oil will float on water.    

    用Shall I…? Shall we…? 开头可以表示征求对方的意见。肯定回答用 "Yes, please"或 "Please do"; 否定回答用 "No, please don't " 等来回答。

    --Shall I close the window, it's too cold here.

    --Yes, please. (No, Please don't.)

    --Shall we call a taxi?

    --Yes, let's. (No, I don't think we shall.)

    时间和条件状语主句是将来时，从句中一般不能用将来时态，而用现在时态代替。

    Liping will let you have the book when he is through.（主动语态里let后面再出现动词省略to）

    We shall help you if you ask us.

    I'll ask my mother as soon as she comes.

    It will be six years before we meet again.

    She will miss the train unless she hurries up.

1. No matter how much _______, it well be worth it.

    A. will the watch cost B. the watch will cost

    C. does the watch cost D. the watch costs

状语从句主句将来时从句用一般现在时。

how much+主语+谓语

单问表的价钱：How much does the watch cost?

答案 D

2. Although he promised to change, I'm still wondering when he ______ able to put his heart into his studies.

    A. wasB. will be  C. be  D. were

be able to do

选项C中when是时间状语从句，谓语不直接跟系动词be。

答案 B

3. "Will Susan get her Ph.D.?"

    "It is likely that she _______."

    A. will  B. doesC. will do it  D. gets it

用将来时提问直接用将来时回答即可。

答案 A

4. "Did you visit Grace last summer?"

    "No, but I ______ her over the Christmas vacation."

    A. will see      B. be seen     C. have seen      D. have been seeing

答案 A

5. Mr. And Mrs. Zhang are going to Brazil next week and they _______ to Mexico later in the month.

    A. will go      B. would goC. went  D. have gone

答案 A

6. "Are there going to be many people at your party today?"

    "We hope that _________."

    A. there will be    B. there isC. there are      D. there are going to

答案 A

7. "When will the plane arrive?"

    "I'll tell you when I _______."

    A. will find out      B. find out

    C. am finding out    D. have been finding out

时间状语从句和条件状语从句中主句为将来时则从句用一般现在时。

find out 查出原因

find 发现    look for 寻找

答案 B

（六）过去将来时

    过去将来时主要表示在过去某个时间打算要做的事，或从过去某个时间看来将要发生的事。过去将来时常用于间接引语中。

    过去将来时的谓语形式：

    1．was / were going to +动词原形

    2．would / should +动词原形

    3．was / were to +动词原形

    We never imagined that my sister would become a doctor.

    He said he would come back the next day.

    I thought you wouldn't have any objection to it.（objection to sth. 反对某事）

    We were sure we would win final victory.

    He informed us the train was to leave at six .

    I didn't know when they were going to come again.

    He was about to get there when it began to rain.

    You knew I would come.

1. They thought it ________ fun to take the car.

    A. can beB. will be      C. would be      D. has been

答案 C

2. "Has John finished the report?"

    "No, he knew that he _________ time to finish it by tomorrow."

    A. won't have   B. will have

    C. wouldn't haveD. shall not have

答案 C

（七）现在完成时

    现在完成时表示过去发生的但对现在有影响的动作，或从过去某个时间开始一直持续到现在，可能还会持续下去的动作或状态。

    现在完成时的谓语形式：have / has +过去分词。

    现在完成时常常与for, since 等表示一段时间的状语连用，副词 just, already, yet, never, ever, lately, recently, so far等也常用于现在完成时中。

    The car has arrived.

    My parents have had a good education.

    I have bought a dictionary.

    The delegation has already left.

    So far we have only discussed the first two chapters.

    We haven't had much rain this winter.

    I have just received a letter from my parents.

    (just already never ever放在have、has后面，过去分词前面)

    We haven't reached an agreement yet.

    Have they got the plan yet?

    My mother has been a teacher for thirty years and now she has retired. （她退休已经十年了不能用She has been retired for ten years表达，retire不能表一段延续的时间，有for或since时谓语动词一定是可以表延续的动词）

    My mother has been a teacher since she graduated from the university.

    My mother has been a teacher since ten years ago.

    for接一段延续的时间，since后接过去时的句子或时间状语。

    I have been here since last October.

    My sister has caught a bad cold.

    She has been ill for a week.

    完成时态的运用还应注意以下两点

    1．come, go , leave, arrive, begin, start, become, join, get up 等表示短暂性动作的动词，不能与表示一段时间的状语连用，这些动作需用表示状态的词替代。

    I have had this coat for one year. ( 替代have bought)

    My uncle has been back for two days. (替代 has come back)

    The train has been away for an hour. (替代 has left)

    The twin brothers have been in the army for three years. (替代have joined the army)

    The film has been on for ten minutes. (替代 has begun)

    We've been up for two hours.(替代 have got up)

2．have been to 与 have gone to 的区别

    have been to 表示"去过某地"或"去干过某事"，人现在已经回来了；have gone to 表示"去某地了"或"去干某事了"，人还没有回来。

    We have been to the Great Wall.

    I've been to see a doctor.

    I have been to the library.

    He has gone to the library.

    Where is Xiao Wang? -He has gone to Shanghai.

1. "Who's that good-looking girl Frank is dancing with?"

    "I don't know. I ______ her before."

    A. had never seen B. was never seeing

    C. have never seen D. never seen

答案 C

2. "Sorry, I'm a little bit late."

    "Oh, I ______ here just a few minutes."

    A. have been     B. had beenC. am  D. will be

答案 A

3. "What a boring speaker!"

    "Yes, by the time he finishes, everyone ________."

    A. was asleepB. will asleep     C. has been asleep   D. slept

asleep只能放在系动词后面。

答案 C

4. We used to go skating in Michigan every winter, but I ______ for the past five seasons.

    A. don't go     B. haven't gone     C. am not going    D. didn't go

答案 B

used to do 过去常常做某事

5. Lead _______ as a material for sculpture since the time of the early Greeks.

    A. has used    B. used     C. being used D. has been used

答案 D

6. "When did you decide to be a doctor?"

    "Let me see. I'm twenty, and I have wanted to be a doctor since ______."

    A. ten years      B. ten years ago     C. I was ten     D. Both B and C

since接过去时的句子或过去时的状语

答案 D

（八）现在完成进行时

    现在完成进行时表示在现在以前这段时间里一直在进行的动作，该动作可能仍在进行，也可能已经停止了一会儿。

    现在完成进行时的谓语形式：have / has been +现在分词。

    We've just been talking about you.

    I've been sitting here all afternoon.

    How long has it been snowing?

    I have been wanting to meet you for a long time.

    Recently he has been doing his work quite regularly.

   所有的动词都可以有现在完成进行时，但是有些动词用于现在完成进行时和现在完成时意义差别不大，有些则只能用于现在完成进行时中。

    He's been shaving since last year. (不能用has shaved)

    You've been saying that for two years. (不能用have said )

    My father has been writing letters all this morning.(不能用has written)

    I've been going to the same grocer's since we lived here. (不能用have gone)

    How long have you been waiting for me? (可以用have waited)

    My family has been living here for ten years.(可以用has lived)

    有些动词不表延续不可以用在现在完成时，但所有动词都可以用在现在完成进行时。

1. "Who has been planning the dance?"

    "Everyone in the club ________."

    A. is  B. are C. have D. has

答案 D

2. Though they _______ side by side for twenty years, the two neighbors are not very friendly.

    A. having been lived     B. had been living

    C. have been living     D. having been living

答案 C

3. "You haven't got the textbook for my chemistry course yet."

    "I know, and we _______ to get it for the last five weeks."

    A. have been trying    B. had tried

    C. will be trying  D. will have been trying

for the last five weeks表示延续的时间状语

答案 A

（九）过去完成时

 过去完成时表示在过去某个时间或动作以前已经发生的动作或情况，简单地说就是表示"过去的过去"。

    过去完成时的谓语形式：had +过去分词。

    When we got to the theatre, the play had already started.

    He suddenly remembered that he hadn't locked the door when he left.

    By the end of that year we had trained more than 1,000 employees.

    They had been married many years before a child was born to them.

    No sooner had we left the school than it began to rain.(no sooner…than= as soon as 一……就……，no sooner开头的句子要倒装)

（十）过去完成进行时

  表示动作在过去某一时间之前开始，一直延续到这一过去时间。这个时态必须以一过去的时间为前提。

    过去完成进行时的谓语形式：had been+现在分词

    I had been looking for it four days before I found it.

    The telephone had been ringing for three minutes before it was answered.

    It had been raining for two days. The fields were all under water.

    At last we got the letter we had been expecting.

1. "How long had you been waiting before Mr. Winter finally arrived?"

    "Well, he came at three o'clock, and I _______ the day before."

    A. had waited afterB. had been waiting since

    C. was waiting fromD. had been waiting for

等某人 wait for sb.

for接一段延续的时间，since接过去时间状语或过去时句子。

答案 B

(十一)　将来完成时

    表示在将来某一时间之前完成的动作，并往往对将来某一时间产生影响。

    将来完成时的谓语形式: will (shall) have+ 过去分词

    I shall have finished reading the book by the end of this week.

    Before long, he will have forgotten all about the matter.(before long 不久)

    How many words will you have learnt by the end of the term?

    When we get there they'll probably have left.

    He will have finished his term paper by the end of this month.

1. My niece has been to Sumatra(苏门达腊) and Iran（伊朗） as well as all of Europe. By the time she's twenty, she ______ almost everywhere.

    A. will be     B. would be C. will have been   D. would have been

答案 C

2. By the time you get to Greenwich you ________ the most historic parts of London.

    A. will be seeing    B. will see

   C. are going to see  D. will have seen

答案 D

     主要复习了动词的十一个时态。重点记忆主句将来时，时间状语从句、条件状语从句用一般现在时。现在完成时中for和since的区别，for接一段连续的时间状语，since接过去时句子或过去的时间状语。有for或since的现在完成时句子中，动词只可以是表延续的动词。现在完成进行时可以接所有的动词。

    进行时态的运用往往根据上下文来决定。

    Be quiet, everybody. The students of Class One are having a listening test.

    When I was cooking these potatoes, I forgot to put any salt in it.

     在运用完成时态时，应特别注意表示瞬息间动作的动词不能与for 引导的一段时间状语连用。

    瞬息间动词往往须换成"be+副词/介词结构"的形式，或选用句式"It is / has been + 时间状语 + since ……"来表态。

    1."Have the visitors arrived?"

    "Yes, they have been here for an hour."

    2.By the time we got to the cinema, the film _______ for half an hour.

A. has begun     B. had begun      C. has been on   D. had been on 

（begun不表延续，答案 D）

    3.It has been less than three months since she joined the army. / she has been in the army for less than three months.(不能说 She has joined the army for less than three months.)

     过去完成时也是一个相对的时态，是在过去的某个时间或动作之前发生的事。

    1.He has already gone home. But before he left, he _________ all the mistakes in his translation.

A. had corrected    B. has corrected      C. would correct    D. will correct

（答案 A）

    2.He showed me the pictures he had taken of the animals the day before.

     过去将来时也是一个相对的时态，是在过去的某个时间看将要发生的事。

    I had a discussion with my tutor and hoped he would give us an early reply.

    He said they were going to spend the weekend in the countryside.

四、被动语态

（一）被动语态的构成：be+过去分词

     一般现在时    am / is / are +过去分词

     一般过去时    was / were +过去分词

     一般将来时    shall / will + be +过去分词

     过去将来时    should / would + be +过去分词

     现在进行时    am / is / are + being +过去分词

     过去进行时    was / were + being +过去分词

     现在完成时    have / has + been +过去分词

     过去完成时    had been +过去分词

      情态动词     情态动词+ be +过去分词

（二）被动语态的基本用法

     当句子的主语和谓语呈被动关系，即主语是动作的承受者时（相对于执行者），谓语要用被动语态。具体说来，被动语态主要用于以下两种情况：

     1．不知道或没有必要说明动作的执行者。

     Printing was introduced into Europe from China.

     Such books are written for children.

     Everything has been taken away.

     When will the museum be opened for the public?

     I was born in 1980.

     2．动作的承受者是谈话的中心。

     The composition was written with great care.

     These questions are settled through negotiation.(negotiation 谈判)

     The flowers will be planted next week.

     He is said to be a good teacher.

     For this he was often made fun of.（make fun of 开玩笑）

     若要同时将动作的执行者表达出来，往往可以在执行者前面加上by。

     I'm puzzled by what the teacher has said.

     The door was locked by me when I left the room last night.

     The construction of the road has been held up by a flood.（hold up 阻碍、阻挡）

     He was sent to school by his parents when he was only five years old.

（三）被动句与主动句的关系

     被动句的主语实际上是主动句的宾语，主动句变为被动句时，主语往往被省略。

     We asked the teacher to explain the difficult sentences again.-The teacher was asked to explain the difficult sentences again.

     I found a poor girl lying on the ground.-The poor girl was found lying on the ground.

     My mother bought me a pair of new shoes.-I was bought a pair of new shoes; -A pair of new shoes was bought for me.

     When we came to the theatre, we found all the seats occupied.-When we came to the theatre, all the seats were found occupied.

    They paint their houses white in spring.-Their houses are painted white in spring.

     The people in the town recognize him as a genius.-He is recognized as a genius by the people in the town.      

     有些动词，如let, make, hear, see, watch, notice, have（让，使）, feel 等，在主动语态中，其后面的不定式作宾语补足语时to 被省略，但在被动语态中需将to表达出来。在被动语态中，如果一个简单句中有两个动词，后一动词一定要加to.

     I saw him turn round the corner.-He was seen to turn round the corner.

     The teacher made the students copy the sentences many times until they could make sentences themselves.-The students were made to copy the sentences many times until they could make sentences themselves.

     含有被动意义的主动语态：

    （1）某些连系动词，如smell, taste, sound, prove, feel.

    The flowers smell sweet.

    The food tastes nice.

    (2) 某些与can't, won't 等连用的不及物动词， 如move, lock, shut, open.

    It can't move.(不能说 It can't be moved.)

    The door won't shut.

    (3) 某些可和well, easily等副词连用的不及物动词，如read, write, wash, clean, draw, burn, cook.

    The cloth washes well.

    The poem reads smoothly.

    The meat is cooking.

     动词的语态部分主要应掌握被动语态的基本用法及其在不同的时态中的表现形式。

    1.It remains a question when the new classroom building _________.

A. will be completed  B. had been completed      

C. would be completed  D. has been completed

(答案 A)

    2.My mother knows Jane; they _____ to each other at a party.

    A. have been introduced  B. are introduced

    C. were introduced D. had been introduced

   (主动语态：introduce sb. to sb.)

(答案 C)

     被动语态部分还须特别注意动词make, hear, see等词，其后面用动词不定式作补足语时，to 应该保留。

    Those who won't work should be made to work.

    The teacher was made to give up his teaching because of poor health.(give up 放弃；health 名词；healthy 形容词；breath 名词；breathe 动词)

     1. In modern times, great female chefs have become known, and some of the best cook books _______ by women.

    A. have written    B. are written    C. were written    D. have been written

答案 D

2. ________  a new shopping center will be built here next year.

    A. He is said      B. It has said     C. It is said      C. It says

It is said that 据说

答案 C

3. New ideas sometimes have to wait for years before they _______ fully.

    A. accept      B. receive      C. are acceptedD. are received

they 指代new ideas

receive：1.收到别人给予的东西，不含收件人是否愿意接受之义。

I received a letter from a good friend of mine yesterday.

2.也可表示"得到"， "领受"，"遭受"之意。

The book was favorably received by the public.

Accept: "收到"，强调主观意愿决定"接受"，"收授"。而receive只表示收到，不一定接受。

She received a gift from him, but did not accept it.

receive 与 accept 在表示赞成某一看法，意见时可以换用。

The moral code is now received / accepted by all.

答案 C

4. In some parks visitors _________ to keep off the grass.

    A. request      B. requests      C. are requested     D. is requested

keep off 远离

答案 C

5. He remembered ________ to the zoo by his father when he was little.

    A. taking     B. being takenC. to have taken     D. have been taken

remeber doing 记得过去做的事情

答案 B

6. English ________ in a new way at my college in the past few years.

    A. has been teaching    B. was being taught

    C. has been taught      D. had been taught

in the past few years 近几年。现在完成时

答案 C

7. All the machines _______ next month.

    A. will be repaired B. will repair

    C. will have repaired      D. will have repair

被动语态必不可少的时系动词be

答案 A

8. The rooms were then empty and most of them _______.

    A. have shut up     B. had shut up

    C. have been shut up  D. had been shut up

答案 D

9. When they had finished playing, the children were made _______ all the toys they had taken out.

    A. put awayB. to put away

    C. putting away   D. be put away

put away 将某物收起来，放入箱子或抽屉

答案 B

分析句子首先要判断主语能不能发出谓语的动作，如果不能发出动作，就选择被动语态，然后再考虑不同的时态。
五、情态动词

     情态动词有can, could, may, might, must, should, ought to, need, dare, had better, would rather 等。情态动词相当于助动词，不能单独使用，必须再接动词原型。ought to 整个相当于情态动词，否定是在情态动词后加not，但是ought to的否定是ought not to。

1．can, could

    表示能力、允许、客观可能性。

    She is only four, but she can read.

    Is there anything that I can do for you?

    This sort of thing can't go on.

    I couldn't follow her speech.

    Could you lend me your bike?

    Fire can't destroy gold.真金不怕火练

2．may, might

    表示允许、猜测。

    The dialect of one province may be quite different from that of the next one.

    Students may not stay out after midnight without written permission.（stay out 在外边待的很晚）

    He asked his mother if he might go out to play.

    "May I open the window?" "Yes, please./ Please don't./ No, you mustn't." （may 如果要否定用mustn't，could和might用在现在时表委婉的说法）

3．must

    表示"肯定"、"准是"，还可以表示"必须"，与have to 意思接近，但must 侧重说明主观看法，have to 强调客观需要。must时主观表达方式，have to是客观表达方式。mustn't 表示"千万不要"、"一定不要"。

    If you must go, at least you wait till the rain is over.

    Teachers always tell us we must do everything step by step.

    --Must I go tomorrow?

    --No, you needn't.(Yes, I'm afraid so. must一般疑问句的否定用needn't来回答)

    He has to tidy up the room everyday.（tidy up 打扫干净）

    (He must tidy up the room everyday.)

    We have to study a foreign language.

    You mustn't talk like that to your parents.

4．ought to , should

    表示应该做的事和非常可能的事。

    You ought to go to see a doctor for you don't look well.

    You shouldn't talk like that.

    The old man said you ought to tell the police.

    You oughtn't to smoke so much everyday.

    The work ought to be finished by next Friday.

    The book should be available in the bookstore. （available 可得到的）

5．need

    表示"需要"。need可以当情态动词，也可以做实义动词。

    Need I come?-Yes, you must.(No, you needn't)

    All you need do is to say yes to his questions.

    He said he needn't hurry.

    need 还可以作实义动词，后面接动名词时相当于被动结构。

    You don't need to stay.（=You needn't say. ）

    Does he need to know it?(= Need he know it?)

    needs/ wants/ requires +doing相当于被动语态。

    The question needs/ wants/ requires discussing.(=needs to be discussed.)

    My shoes need repairing.(My shoes need to be repaired.)

    物作主语时need接doing表被动。

6．dare

    表示“敢”，也可以作实义动词，主要用于否定句、疑问句。

    The boss is so hot-tempered that no one dare tell him the bad news.（so……that 如此……以至于）

    Who dare stop you?

    He doesn’t dare to look out of the window.

    情态动词没有人称性数的变化，有人称性数变化的一定是实义动词。

    She dare not say what she thinks.(=She doesn’t dare to say what she thinks.)

7．had better

    表示“最好”。否定为 had better not

    I had better not disturb him.

    We had better go and see the doctor now.

8．would rather

    表示“宁愿”，后面接从句时，从句的谓语用一般过去时。否定用would rather not。

    I’d rather not say anything.

    John would rather work in a company than in a factory.

    She would rather have the small oranges than the large ones.

    I would rather you came tomorrow.

    (would sooner 迟早，后的宾语从句用虚拟语气，一般过去时。)

    I would sooner she left the heavy end of the work to someone else.

    有些情态动词，如can, could, may, might, must, ought to, should 后面可以接动词的完成形式，表示对已经发生的事的猜测或对应该发生的事的看法。

    They shouldn’t have left so soon.

    They must have been through a lot.

    I needn’t have told them that.

    He can’t have left for Shanghai for I saw him a moment ago.

    How could you have forgotten such an important thing?

    They must have arrived by now.

    You oughtn’t to have done that.

    She looks so miserable. You oughtn’t to have hurt her feelings.

    “I was late yesterday because my car broke down. ”(broke的原型是break，这里表抛锚的意思) “You should have borrowed mine. I wasn’t using it. ”

     情态动词部分除了应了解每个词的具体含义之外，情态动词的否定是在后面加not。特别要注意had bette和would rather的否定。ought to的否定是ought not to。would rather后面接句子只能用一般过去时。can、could、may、might、must、ought to、should后接动词完成式表示对过去事情的猜测。

    “may/might + 现在完成时”表示“也许已经……了”；

    “must + 现在完成时”表示“肯定……了”；

    “can / could + 现在完成时”表示“本来是能够……的（实际上未）”；

    “should/ought to + 现在完成时”表示“本应该……（实际上未）”。

    1.That was in March. You may / might have read about it in the newspapers.

    2.The house is dark; the Browns _______ to bed.

A. may go      B. should go     C. should have gone    D. must have gone

(答案 D)

    3.Her husband could have helped her, but he chose not to.(choose)

    4.You _______ yesterday if you were really serious about the job.

A.ought to come  B. ought come  C. ought to have come  D. ought have come

(答案 C serious 严肃的)

     此外，考生还应注意need和dare这两个词，它除了是情态动词外，还可以是实义动词，在不同的情况下用法有差别

    1.To travel from England to Scotland you _______ a passport.

A. mustn’t have    B. haven’t got     C. don’t need   D.   needn’t  

（情态动词后要接动词原型 答案 C）

    2.The house needs ________, but they plan to wait until next spring to do it.

    A. paint    B. to paint      C. painting      D. be painted

    (答案 C)

1. “Do you have to leave?”

    “Sorry , but I really _____.”

    A. haveB. had to C. do soD. must

答案 D

2. I want to go to the dentist, but you ________ with me.

    A. needn’t to go      B. needn’t go

    C. don’t need go     D. need go

neen't为情态动词，后接动词原型

don't need为实义动词，后面接to

答案 B

3. “______ you pass me the salt?”

    “Sure. Here you are .”

    A. Might      B. Must      C. Could    D. Need

答案 C

4. “I haven’t felt well for a week.”

    “You ______ see a doctor.”

    A. have ought ot   B. had better

    C. should have to   D. would rather

答案 B

5. “Doesn’t Elaine want to see that movie?”

    “Yes, but she says _______ go tonight.”

    A. she’ll rather not      B. she’d rather not

    C. she’d not ratherD. she won’t rather

would rather的否定词放在rather的后面，动词的前面。

答案 B

6. “Listen, Mary is singing in the next room.”

    “That ______ be Mary. She’s in hospital.”

    A. may not      B. shouldn’t      C. should have gone      D. can’t

答案 D

7. John ______ a restless person. He kept moving from country to country.

    A. must be     B. should go     C. must have been  D. must have gone

答案 C

8. I can’t find Tom anywhere. I think he ____ to the library.

    A. may go     B. must go      C. must have gone    D. should have gone

should have gone 应该……而实际上没……

答案 C

9. “What’s the matter with that picture on the wall?”

“It needs _________.”

A. straightening   B. to be straightening    C. straightened    D. straighten

答案 A

10. “Tom graduated from college at a very young age.”

    “He _________ an outstanding student.”

    A. must be     B. could be      C. must have been     D. should have been

对过去推测，情态动词后接现在完成时。

答案 C

11. The old lade needs ________ after her shock.

A. to comfort   B. comforting   C. to be comforted    D. Both B and C

答案 D
六、非谓语动词

非谓语动词包括不定式、动名词和分词。否定形式在前面加not。

（一）不定式：to +动词原形

    简单句中如果已经有一个动词做谓语，那么再有一个动词就要在这个动词前加to做不定式。不定式在句子中可以作主语、宾语、表语、宾语补足语、定语、状语等。

    To see is to believe.（眼见为实）

    有时用it做形式主语，真正的主语放在句子最后。

    It only took us a year to finish the work.

    Once you get into the habit of smoking, you’ll find it extremely difficult to get out of it.（get into the habit 养成……习惯）

    She likes to play basketball this afternoon.

    The important thing is to save people.

    Not to grasp firmly is not to grasp at all.（不定式的否定放在to的前面）

    She was the first person to think of the idea. (think of 想起)

    He is always the first to come and last to leave the office.

    I have nothing to say on the problem.

    They warned him not to let out the secret.（let out 泄露）

    We are all happy to hear of the good news.

    Let’s hurry so as not to be late for the meeting. （so as to do sth. 以便为了做某事）

如果not不是放在to的前面，那么它不是否定不定式而是否定整个句子。

    They didn’t warn him to let out the secret.

    They warn him not to let out the secret.

（一）不定式：to +动词原形

    不定式在let, have, make (让, 使), see,  look at, notice, hear, listen to, feel 等后面作宾语补足语时to 应省略，在被动语态中to应保留。

    The coach has the team practice hard every night in the past two years.

    I saw a man come into the classroom and talk with the teacher.

    Don’t forget to have him come tonight.

    We felt the house shake.

    The house was felt to shake.

    Someone was heard to come up the stairs.

    在help 后， 不定式可以带to 也可以不带to.

    Help me (to) get him to bed.

    He help her lift the box.

    He helped her to mount the bike.

    She was helped to lift the box.

    当不定式和其修饰的词有动宾关系时，动词如果是不及物动词，后面就要有必要加介词。

    There is nothing to worry about.

    Is this something to be ashamed of ?

    I need a pen to write with.

    Give me some paper to write on.

    Let’s find a room to put the things in.

    2．不定式的逻辑主语

不定式前面可以加for 或of引导的短语作逻辑主语，说明不定式表示的动作是谁做的，或不定式指的是谁的情况。

    It is a great honor for us to be present at this party.

    It will be a mistake for us not to help them.

    It is hard for one to do a bit of good.

      在某些形容词如kind, good, nice, wise, unwise, clever, silly, wrong, right, foolish, stupid, careless, considerate, rude,  naughty, impolite等作表语时，用of引导短语。

    It’s kind of you to let me use your dictionary.

    It’s unwise of them to turn down the proposal.（turn down 拒绝）

    It’s very nice of you to attend our party tonight.

    3．不定式的完成式、进行式、被动式

    当不定式所表示的动作在谓语所表示的动作之前发生时，不定式要用完成式: to have +过去分词；当不定式的动作与谓语所表示的动作同时发生时，不定式要用进行时：to be+现在分词；当不定式的逻辑主语是不定式所表示的动作的承受者时，不定式要用被动式：to be+过去分词。完成式意味着不定式的动作发生在谓语动作之前，如果是进行时意味着不定式的动作和谓语动作同时发生，当不定式的逻辑主语是不定式所表示的动作的承受者时，不定式要用被动式。

    I’m sorry to have given you so much trouble.

    I meant to have told you about it, but I forgot to do so.

    They seemed to be satisfied with the result.

    This is the day not to be forgotten.

    He wanted the letter to be typed at once.

    They seem to be getting along quite well.

    He pretended to be sleeping when his mother came in.

    在有些结构中，不定式的逻辑主语虽然是不定式所表示的动作的承受者，不定式仍用主动形式

    We have a lot of work to do.

    Give me something to eat.

    They found the book hard to understand.

    He has no one to take care of. （take care 照顾、照料）

    没有什么人需要他照顾。

    He has no one to take care of him.没有谁照顾他。

     一个简单句同时出现两个动词时，在后面的动词前加to。使意动词和感观动词主动语态前不加to。不定式的完成式、进行式、被动式的概念。

     不定式在句子中可以作主语、宾语、表语、定语、状语（主要是目的状语）、宾语补足语。

    1.“Where do you suggest going?”

   “We promised _______ the children to the West Lake.”

    A. taking      B. to take     C. taken D. took

    (suggest doing sth.或suggest that +(should)动词原型)

(Where do you suggest that we should go?)\

(答案 B)

    2.The city government must take action ________ the increasing population.

    A. to control   B. controlling   C. controlsD. controlled

    (答案 A)

    3.Pessimists warn us not _________ for pretty colors, since the car will come in gray.

    A. ask     B. asking C. to ask  D. to be asked

    (答案 C)

     考生应特别注意在主动语态中，不定式在let, make , have(使，让), see, hear 等词后面作宾语补足语时，to 应省略，但在被动语态中to 应保留。

    1.The workers asked the factory owner to let him go.

    2.The children were made to repeat their parents’ words for several times.

1. “I’m sorry. Were you speaking to me ?”

    “Yes, I was. Would you please _________ in this room?”

    A. not to smoke     B. not smoke

    C. no smokingD. no smoke

would you please+动词原型

答案 B

2. There was nothing they could do ______ calmly.

    A. but wait    B. only to wait

    C. except waitingD. unless they waited

nothing they can do but do sth.

答案 A

3. Mr. Smith doesn’t want _______ what to buy.

    A. his wife tell himB. for his wife to tell him

    C. his wife to tell him D. that his wife tells him

答案 C

4. Many parents allow their children _______ own decisions.

    A. making their   B. making the

    C. to make their   D. to make the

答案 C

5. “How can Mary get her money back?”

    “I advised ______ to the manager.”

    A. her speak      B. her to speak

    C. that she speaks D. a speech by her

答案 B

advise that+虚拟语气

I advise that she should speak to the manager.

6. “My brother says he won’t help us.”

    “Oh, perhaps I can persuade him _______.”

    A. to help    B. helping      C. for helping     D. that he helps

答案 A

7. Don’t make him _______ it if he doesn’t want to .

    A. doB. to do C. doing  D. that he do

答案 A

8. “Where are you going?”

    “To help the neighbors _______ the dinner party.”

    A. to get ready B. get ready for

    C. getting ready for    D. by getting ready

get ready for 为……准备

答案 B

9. “Can you ride a horse ?”

    “No. I never had the chance ______.”

    A. for learning     B. for learning how

    C. how to learn it  D. to learn how

答案 D

10. I haven’t got a chair _______.

    A. to sit     B. to sit on      C. for me to sit     D. for sitting

答案 B

11. The city government must take action _______ the increasing population.

    A. to control    B. controlling     C. controls     D. controlled

答案 A

12. “If John doesn’t come to work on time, he may be fired.”

    “Surely he isn’t so foolish ______ not to realize that.”

    A. as B. that  C. and    D. but

not so/ as…as

答案 A

13. I wanted to go on a holiday last December, but there were so many things ______.

    A. for me to do  B. for me to do them

    C. that I need to do     D. I needed doing

答案 A

14. John admitted that it was always difficult ________ .

    A. for him to be on time    B. for him being on time

    C. to be on time for him     D. being on time for him

不定式有逻辑主语的话要放在不定式的前面

答案 A

15. She hopes _______ something from the sale.

    A. to get    B. her to getC. getting D. she would be getting

对某人来说是for sb.

答案 A

16.  _______ Mrs. Johnson on my way to the shops.

    A. It happened me that I found B. It happened me that I met

    C. I happened to find  D. I happened to meet

happen to do sth. 碰巧做某事

答案 D

17. I’m not sure which restaurant ________ .

    A. to eat     B. eating atC. to eat at      D. for eating

答案 A

18. “I need only three more plates for the barbecue.”野餐

    “I wish I had more _____.”

    A. for you to lendB. for leading you

    C. that you could lend    D. to lend you

lend 某人东西借给别人

borrow 从别人那里借东西

borrow sth. from sb. 从别人那里借

lend sb. sth.=lend sth. to sb.

答案 D

19. Tim sat near the fire _______ warm.(sit)

    A. to get      B. for to get      C. for get  D. for getting

答案  A

20. “Has Fred told anyone else about his dismissal?”

    “Yes, he decided ________.”

    A. not keeping secret   B. not to keep it a secret

    C. not to be kept secret D. not to keep it secretly

dismissal 撤职

secret做名词 秘密

secretly做副词 偷偷摸摸地

答案 B

21. He ordered the work ______.

    A. started at once     B. to start at once

    C. to be started at once D. at once start

答案 C

22. “Mr. Wilson is expected back at noon.”

    “Would you have him _____ me then , please?”

    A. call      B. to call C. calling D. called

答案 A

（二）动名词：动词原形+ing （构成方法与现在分词相同）

    1．动名词的用法

    动名词在句子中可以作主语、表语、定语、宾语等。

    Traveling abroad can be very exciting.(主语)

    (主语是物用exciting，主语是人用excited。(I'm excited.))

    Seeing is believing.

    What he likes is playing chess after supper.

    He hasn't much hope of realizing his wish.

    She is afraid of going out alone at night. （be afraid of 害怕做某事）

    As the three-day conference is coming to an end, the chairman is busy preparing the closing speech.（be busy doing 忙于做某事）

    They don't approve of his way of looking at things.

    （approve of 赞成）

    在句型It is no use / useless / useful / senseless, It is no good, It is worthwhile, It is a waste of time 等中，作主语的必须是动名词。

    It is no use crying now. Let's try to think out a way to solve the problem.（think out 想出……）

    It's no good waiting outside. Let's walk home.

    It's waste of time arguing about it.

    Though it may take some time, it is worthwhile trying.

    同样的结构在句子中作形式宾语和宾语补足语时，真正的宾语也必须用动名词

    I don't think it good waiting for him now. Let's do our homework.

    We agree it worthwhile trying it again.

    She found it useless arguing with her parents about her marriage.

    He thought it absolutely useless attempting the impossible.

    Do you consider it good trying again?

    2．动名词作宾语

    1）动名词作介词的宾语。

    They're all opposed (objected ) to putting the meeting off.(oppose to 反对…… to是介词 put off 推迟)

    I've been looking forward to attending the party for a long time.

    (look forward to 盼望做某事)

    She is afraid of falling behind the others.

    be afraid of: 害怕做某事，害怕发生某种后果；be afraid to do sth.：不敢做某事。I'm afraid to go back home, for I can't pass the exam.

    I don't feel like eating anything.

    They prefer driving to walking. (prefer doing to doing)

    She hurried back to school for fear of missing too many lessons.

    (fear of 害怕)

    The child is accustomed to sleeping alone.be accustomed to 习惯

    注意used to和be used to, get used to的区别。used to 后面接动词原形，表示"过去经常干某事"， be used to 和 get used to 后面接名词、代词、动名词，表示"习惯于某事"。

    I used to be a teacher in this school.

    She didn't use to recite so many new words a day.

    My sister is used to walking to school alone.

    My mother wasn't used to living in the city when she was alive.

    2）动名词作动词的宾语

    有些动词， finish, stand(容忍), avoid, suggest, can't help, mind, admit, enjoy, delay, practice, consider, deny, keep (on), insist on, give up, have difficulty / trouble (in)等，后面必须接动名词（不能接不定式）作宾语。

    Would you mind filling out the form?

    I haven't finish doing my homework.

    I enjoy walking along the river bank after supper.

    As the price of the computer keeps (on) going down, more and more families can afford it.

    The girl insists on living alone .

    有些动词，如remember, forget, need, want, try, mean, regret, stop, go on等，后面既可以接不定式又可接动名词作宾语，但两种结构意义上有差别。

    I remember seeing you once somewhere.（remember doing 记得过去的事情）

    Please remember to bring the book next time when you come to my home.（remember to do sth. 记得要做的事情）

 I regret not listening to your advice. （regret doing sth. 后悔做过某事）

 I regret to inform you that you're dismissed from the company.（regret to do sth. 对未发生的事情感到遗憾）

    I'll never forget seeing the Great Wall for the first time. （forget doing 忘记过去的事情）

    Don't forget to come earlier next time.（forget to do 忘记要做的事情）

    She doesn't want(need) to come.（want 想）

    The house wants(needs) cleaning.（want 后接doing主语一定是物）

    Try knocking at the back door if nobody hears you at the front door.（try doing 试一试）

    We must try to finish the assignment before the boss comes back.（try to do 设法做某事）

    Failing in the exam means waiting for another year.(mean doing 意味着)

    I meant to help you.（mean to do 打算做某事）

    He stopped smoking last week.（stop doing 停止某事）

    He stopped to smoke after he finished this article.（stop to do 停下来开始做另外一件事）

    My good friend told me that I shouldn't go on living like that.（go on doing 继续做某事）

    Having visited the Tiananmen Square, the tourist guide went on to show us around the city.（go on to do 接下来干另一件事）

    3．动名词的逻辑主语

    动名词的逻辑主语说明动名词所表示的动作是谁做的。物主代词、人称代词宾格、名词、名词所有格都可以作动名词的逻辑主语。

    Do you mind my reading your book?(比较：Do you mind reading the book?)

    Do you think there will be any chance of my seeing him again?

    I remember mother once mentioning about it.

    She hates people losing their tempers.（lose one's temper 发脾气）

    She insisted on their both attending the meeting.

    The baby's crying annoyed its mother.

    4．动名词的被动式、完成式

    构成： being + 过去分词。当动名词的逻辑主语或句子的主语是动名词所表示的动作的承受者时，动名词要用被动形式。

    The problem is far from being settled.

    My five-year-old son didn't mind being left at home the whole morning.

    I couldn't bear being made fun of like that. （bear 容忍；make fun of 取笑）

    The child avoided being sent to school by running away quickly.（avoid doing sth.）

    当动名词表示的动作发生在谓语表示的动作之前时，动名词要用完成式。构成：having+过去分词。

    She denied having shot the bird.

    He was praised for having made such a great contribution to the factory.(make a contribution to 对……做贡献)

    I apologize for not having kept my promise.

    We have no idea of his having been in the army for three years.

    I don't remember having ever been given a chance to try this method.（remeber doing 记得过去发生的事情；动名词完成时被动式，构成为：having been + 过去分词。）

    在want, need, deserve , require, be worth, 等动词后，尽管表示的是被动的意思，却用动名词的主动形式。

    My pen needs filling.

    The question requires studying with great care.

    Who needs looking after?

    The place is worth visiting.

1. He used to ______ the first to arrive and the last to leave.

    A. is B. was  C. being D. be

used to +动词原型

答案 B

2. She ______ eat so many sweet things.

    A. used to not     B. never used

    C. didn't use to    D. didn't use

答案 C

3. Mr. Brown often wears a heavy coat because he is not used _____ in such a cold climate.

    A. to liveB. to living      C. live D. lived

答案 B

4. I like Jean but I don't like _______.

    A. her sing    B. her singing C. she sing D. she singing

动名词的逻辑主语可以由物主代词和名词代替。

答案 B

5. "Why is Fred so upset?"

    "He isn't used ______ criticized."

    A. be B. to be    C. to being  D. having been

答案 C

6. Do you remember _______ to Professor Smith during your last visit?

A. to be introduced      B. being introduced

C. having introduced      D. to have introduced

答案 B

主动语态中介绍某人 introduce sb. to sb.

7. "Is George really leaving the university?"

    "Yes. But would you mind _______ to anyone?"

    A. not mentioning it   B. not to mention it

    C. not mention it      D. not to mentioning it

答案 A

8. It's no use _______ to get a bargain these days.

    A. to expect B. expectedC. expecting     D. to be expecting

it is no use doing

答案 C

9. She is looking forward as much to his return as he himself to _______ her.

A. have seenB. see   C. seeing D. be seen

答案 C

10. It's no use ________ your chickens before they are hatched.

    A. counting      B. count C. to count D. of counting

蛋未孵勿先数；不要过早乐观

答案 A

11. I thought it was worthwhile _______ a hundred miles to see the basketball game.

    A. of driving      B. driving      C. drive D. being driven

答案 B

12. When the little girl got back her answer sheet, she could not help _____.

    A. from crying    B. to cryC. herself from crying     D. crying

can't help doing

答案 D

13. I remember ______ my book somewhere but just can't find it.

    A. put      B. to put C. putting D. to be putting

答案 C

14. Don't forget ________ the light when you leave the office.

    A. to turn off    B. turning off      C. turned off      D. turn off

forget to do 忘记要做的事情

forget doing 忘记做过的事情

答案 A

15. Do you have any _______ the sentence ?

    A. difficulty to understand   B. difficulty in understanding

    C. difficulties at understandingD. difficulties to understand

have any difficulty in doing sth.

答案 B

16. "If you'd been here ten minutes earlier, you could have seen the doctor."

    "But I couldn't help ______. Traffic was heavy."

    A. to be late     B. being late      C. that I am late     D. lateness

答案 B

17. "How do you like your apartment?"

    "Not very well. We are considering ________ our lease."

    A. not to renew     B. to not renew

    C. not renewing    D. renewing not

consider doing sth.

lease 租约、租契

答案 C

18. "Jane hates to do her homework."

    "That's natural! No one ________ it."

    A. really enjoys doingB. really is enjoying to do

    C. enjoys to do it really      D. really enjoys to do

enjoy doing sth.

really 放在实义动词前系动词后

答案 A

19. Eric regretted _________ the earlier flight.

    A. not to take    B. to have not taken

    C. not having taken      D. he would not take

 (Eric regretted not taking the earlier flight.)

答案 C

20. "I'm very tired."

    "We really should stop _______ and go to bed."

    A. to studyB. studyingC. of studyingD. from studying

答案 B

21. I was lucky that the cars stopped _______ the dog.

    A. avoided  B. to avoid      C. avoiding D. to avoiding

答案 B

22. They will be as tall as you soon, if they ______.

    A. would help growing like that      B. keep to grow like it

    C. keep growing like that     D. will keep growing like that

答案 C

（二）动名词

    在句子中可以作主语、表语、定语、宾语。考生应特别注意有些动词。如mind, enjoy, avoid后面作宾语的只能是动名词，而有些只能是不定式，有些如remember, forget, stop 既可接动名词又可接不定式，但意义有差别。

    1.Would you mind ________ a little less noise?

    A. to make    B. makeC. making D. to have made

    (答案 C)

    2.I remember ________ her at a party last weekend.

    A. to meet     B. meeting      C. having metD. to have

    met(答案 B)

    3.You must remember _________ back the umbrella tomorrow.

    A. to bring     B. bringing      C. having brought  D. to have

    brought(答案 A)

 （三）分词

 1．现在分词与过去分词的区别

    现在分词表示主动或表示动作正在进行。

    China is a developing country.

    His words made me thinking a lot.

    过去分词表示被动或动作已经完成。

    The United States is a developed country.

    There was so much noise that the speaker couldn't make himself heard.

 2．分词的用法

    分词在句子中可以作定语、表语、宾语补足语、状语。

    Who is the woman standing by the door?(定语)

    The girl dressed in white is my sister.(定语)

    A letter posted today will probably reach in the day after towmorrow.（定语）

    The theory sounds quite convincing. (表语 物作主语表语是ing的形式，人作表语分词用ed的形式。)

    She seemed quite delighted at the idea. (表语)

    Working in this way, they greatly reduced the cost.(状语)

    Not even pausing to put on the coat, I ran out of the door.(状语)

    Built in Ming Dynasty, the bridge is over 800 years old.（状语）

    Do you see a boy running towards us?（宾语补足语）

   （感官动词如：see, hear, feel, watch 后可跟动名词，也可跟不定式，但意思有区别。Do you see a boy run towards us?  ）

    You'd better have your shoes mended.（宾语补足语，have sth. done 让别人作某事）

    If students are caught cheating in exams, they will be kicked out of school. （宾语补足语，(kick sb. out of sth.: 驱赶某人。They knocked him out (of the club) for fighting. ）

    实义动词have后面可以接三种形式作宾语补足语：现在分词，过去分词，省略to的不定式。

    have接现在分词（表示持续的动作）

    The hunters had the fire burning all the night in the woods.

    have接过去分词（表示被动）

    My mother had her hair cut as soon as she finished her work.

    Liping had two of his teeth knocked out in the fight at school.

    have接省略to的不定式（表示"让某人干某事"）。

    The teacher always has us recite texts.   

 3．分词作状语

    与谓语动词相比，作状语的分词表示的都是比较次要的动作。它可以表示时间、条件和原因，也可以说明谓语动作发生的背景，描述谓语动作的状况或伴随谓语动作发生的情况。

    They sat facing each other.(伴随)

    She left the hall still weeping.（伴随）

    Insisting that we were not tired , we urged him to go on.（urge要求，让）

    分词变否定，在分词前加not。

   Not knowing his address, we couldn't get in touch with him.（get in touch with sb.和某人保持联系，原因）

    Seeing those pictures, I couldn't help thinking of the days we spent together. (时间)

    Absorbed in the work, he neglected food and sleep. (背景)

    He soon fell asleep, exhausted by the journey.（原因）

    Seen from the hill, the city looks magnificent. （条件）

    分词作状语时，它的逻辑主语一般就是句子的主语，逻辑主语无需表达出来。当两者不一致时，分词的逻辑主语应明确表达出来。

    She rushed into the room, her face covered with sweat.

    Weather permitting, we'll have a picnic tomorrow.

    Her eyes dimmed with tears, she did not see her mother enter.（dim 模糊）

    All things considered, her paper is of greater value than yours.

    (be of value=be valuable)

 4． 现在分词的完成式与被动式

    当分词表示的动作发生在谓语表示的动作之前时，分词应用完成式。构成：having +过去分词。

     Having finished his homework, the boy began to watch TV.

     Not having made adequate preparations, they thought it better to postpone the work till next week.

    The guest having left, they continued their discussion.

    在表示被动的含义时，如果该动作此刻正在进行，或与谓语表示的动作同时发生，就要用现在分词的被动形式。构成：being+过去分词。

    The building being repaired is our library.

    You'll find the topic being talked about everywhere.

    过去分词和现在分词的被动式都可以表示被动，试比较下面两例，看一看两者之间的区别。

    Do you know anything about the meeting being held in Beijing?(会议正在进行)

    Do you know anything about the meeting held in Beiing?（会议已经结束）

现在分词被动式表示正在干什么，过去分词被动式表示已经发生的事。

    （三）分词

    1. When I returned home, I found the window open and a number of things _____.

    A. to steal      B. stealing      C. stolen D. missed

东西用miss要用现在分词。

答案 C

2. Not too many years ago, it was an ______ experience to travel 25 or 50 miles from home.

    A. excitedB. excitingC. excitement      D. excitingly

答案 B

3. Some of the guests _______ to the party were from other cities.

    A. to invite    B. invitedC. being invited      D. had been invited

invite sb.邀请别人

答案 B

4. The telephone was invented in 1876 by a man _______ Alexander Graham Bell.

    A. namedB. namingC. that namesD. who named

D的正确答案为：who was named)

答案 A

5. ________ the room, the teacher laid the instrument on the device.

    A. Entering    B. To enter     C. Having entered    D. Having been entered

答案 C

6. _______ the street, he was knocked down by a car.

    A. While crossingB. While crossed

    C. Being crossingD. Being crossed

答案 A

7. The doctor soon made the _______ patient feel at ease.

    A. worriedB. worrying      C. worry D. worries

答案 A

8. He spoke clearly in order to _______.

    A. make him understandingB. make him understand

    C. make himself understoodD. make himself understand

答案 C

9. I am ______ to hear that a man of your age and with such good sense should talk in this way.

    A. astonish      B. astonishing     C. astonished    D. to astonish

答案 C

10. The cinema, _______ last month, is very popular, especially among the young people in the town.

    A. opened      B. to open C. opens D. having opened

D的正确答案为having been opened

答案 A

11. I wrote a letter to my parents, ________ them that I would spend the New Year's Day with them.

    A. telling      B. told C. to be told    D. be told

答案 A

12. The musician, ________ for his splendid speech, was warmly received by the students.

    A. known     B. being known     C. knowing  D. having known

答案 A

13. The guests were _______ in the front rows ________ to the president attentively.

    A. seating ; listenedB. seating ; listening

    C. seated ; listenedD. seated ; listening

seat: v. 用于被动语态。be seated: 使某人就坐。

答案 D

14. "What exactly did you see, Miss Garner?"

    "Well, I saw ________."

A. a bank being robbed with two men     B. robbing a bank two men    C. two men robbing a bank      D. two men who rob a bank

D的正确答案为：two men who robbed a bank

答案 C

15. Would you be _______ by the idea of going to Greece?

    A. exciting      B. excited C. excitableD. excitedly

excitable: 易兴奋的，易激动的。 an excitable child 一个易兴奋的孩子；an excitable race of people 一个易冲动的民族。

答案 A

16. "Why did you leave the meeting early?"

    "I found the discussion ________."

    A. boring      B. boredC. bore   D. boredom

B的正确答案：I'm bored.

boredom n.厌烦

答案 A

17. Is there anything you want from town? I am going to get _______.

    A. these letters mailed      B. mailed letters

    C. to mail those letters     D. those letters mail

get=have

have sth. done 让别人做某事

答案 A

18. Returning to my apartment _______.

    A. my watch was missing  B. I found my watch disappeared

    C. I found my watch missingD. the watch was missed

答案 C

19. Whistling  merry tune, ___________.

    A. the Tire was fixed     B. the tire was fixed by Jack

    C. Jack fixed the tire     D. Jack was fixed with the tire

答案 C

20. His Health failing, _______ in 1782.

    A.so Henry Lee went on leave from the army

    B.the army gave Henry Lee leave

    C.when the army gave Henry Lee leave

    D.Henry Lee went on leave from the army

go on leave 休假

答案 D

21. Weather _______, the picnic will be held as scheduled.

    A. permits     B. permitting      C. will permitD. should permit

答案 B

22. ______ left before the deadline, it doesn't seem likely that John will finish the job.

    A. Although such a short time B. It is such a short

    C. With so short timeD. With such a short time

C的正确答案为：with so short the time

答案 D

（三）分词

    考试重点：考生应特别注意现在分词与过去分词的区别，区别这两类分词的标准主要有两点：

    （1）看动词所表示的动作是主动的还是被动的，主动的用现在分词，反之用过去分词。

    （2）看动作是正在进行还是已经完成，动作正在进行用现在分词，动作已经完成用过去分词。如：

    1.She found her husband surrounded by letters and papers and ________ very worried.

A. lookB. to lookC. looks D. looking

（答案 D）

    2.Water ________ into vapor by the sun falls as rain.

    A. turns     B. turnedC. turning D. is turned（答案 B）

    3.China is a _______ country while the U.S. is a _________ country.

    A. developed ; developed  B. developing ; developed

    C. developing ; developing  D. developed ; developing

    （答案 B）

七、虚拟语气

     虚拟语气主要表示假想虚拟的情况以及主观愿望、建议、命令等。

   （一）虚拟语气的基本用法

    1．在含if引导的条件句的复合句中

    如果假设的情况不可能发生或发生的可能性不大，则主句和从句的谓语都要用虚拟语气。虚拟语气在不同语态中的表现形式如下：

    1）一般现在时

    从句：过去式（be 动词多用were）

    主句：would / could / might +动词原形

    如：I would certainly go if I had time.

 If it weren't raining, we wouldn't stay at home.

    2）一般过去时

    从句：had +过去分词

    主句：would / could / might + have 过去分词

    如：She would have come if she hadn't been so busy.

 You wouldn't have caught cold if you had put on more clothes.

    3）一般将来时

    从句：过去时，或were to / should +动词原形

    主句：would / should +动词原形

    如：If I were to (should) do it, I would do it in a different way.

 We wouldn't lose courage if we should (were to) fail again.

    有时从句表示的动作和主句表示的动作发生的时间不一致，谓语形式要根据具体的时间来调整。

    If you had followed the doctor's advice, you wouldn't be in hospital now.

    If I had spoken to him yesterday, I should know what to do now.

    有时候假设的情况通过介词短语、上下文等来表示，这时句子仍然要用虚拟语气。

    But for the storm, we should have arrived earlier.

    I was ill that day. Otherwise I would have attended the meeting.

    I would have written before, but I have been ill.

    She would have cried, but that he would laugh.（But that : 要不是）

    条件从句中如果含有助动词be, have, should, 可以将if省略，把这些词放到主语的前面。

    Had we made preparations, we might have succeeded.

    Should there be a storm, what should we do?

    Had they time, they would certainly come and help her.

    2．在as if, as though引导的从句中

    as if, as though引导的从句，如果表示的情况与现实不符，从句需用虚拟语气。表示现在的情况，谓语常用过去式，表示过去的情况，谓语常用"had +过去分词"。如：

    I remember the whole thing as if (as though) it happened (were) yesterday.

    He spoke to me as if I were deaf.

    It seems as if it was summer today.

    It seemed as if winter had come

    3．在wish后面的宾语从句中

    从句如果表示的是现在的情况，谓语一般用过去式，如果表示的是过去的情况，谓语用"had +过去分词"。如：

    I wish I were as strong as you.

    Many children wish they could see the Monkey King.

    He wishes he had studied economy instead of mathematics when he was at college.

    4．在It is time (that) 后面的从句中

    从句的谓语常用过去式。如：

    It is time we made a decision.我们该做决定了。

    It is about time you went to school.你早该睡觉了。

    It is hight time that he prepared for the coming examination.他早该为考试做准备了。

    5．在suggest, propose, advise, recommend, order, demand, request, desire, insist （坚决主张）等后面的宾语从句，suggestion, proposal, advice, order等后面的表语和同位语从句，以及It is suggested / requested / desired / proposed / ordered 等后面的主语从句中，从句的谓语要用"should +动词原形"（should可以省略）。如：

    I suggest we set off at once.(set off 出发)

    My suggestion is that we (should) tell her.

    Our only request is that this (should) be settled as soon as possible.

    The doctor insists that he give up smoking.

    She desires that her husband do it.

    It is desired that he should get everything ready by tomorrow.

    What do you think of his proposal that a committee be set up to look into the matter?

    It was ordered that they leave the city within three days.

    6．在It is necessary, It is important, It is essential, It is strange 等后面的主语从句中，谓语用"should + 动词原形"（should可以省略）。如：

    It is necessary that every student recite these new words.

    It is important that a scientist (should) keep up with the latest development in his field.（keep up with 跟上、赶上）

    It is strange that she (should ) have failed in the exam.  

    7．以lest(以免), for fear that（以免） 和in case（以免）引起的从句（谓语多用should加动词原形构成）

    He took his umbrella lest it should rain.

    He put his coat over his son for fear that (lest) he should catch cold.

    Bring some money in case you should need it.

    （一）虚拟语气的基本用法

    1.要掌握虚拟语气if条件从句和主句分别的结构。

    2.特殊情况。

1. He went on foot, but he _______ by bus.

    A. might gone    B. should gone

    C. should have gone    D. ought have gone

    答案 C

2. You shouldn't have run across the road without looking round, you ______ by a car.

    A. might be knocked down B. might have been knocked down

    C. might knock downD. might be knocking down

答案 B

3. Why is the rubbish still here? It ought to _______ yesterday.

    A. be thrown away    B. have thrown away

    C. have been thrown awayD. throw away

答案 C

4. If you had taken my advice, none of this ________.

    A. would happen     B. had happened

    C. would have happened    D. has happened

答案 C

5. Everything _______ if Albert hadn't called the fire department immediately after the fire broke out.

    A. would destroy   B. would be destroyed

    C. would have destroyed    D. would have been destroyed

broke out(break out) 爆发

答案 D

6. It's high time ________ about the traffic problem.

    A. something was done     B. everything is done

    C. anything will be done    D. nothing to be done

答案 A

7. It is necessary that we ________ have a good command of English at college.

    A. mustB. have to  C. should D. ought to

答案 C

8. I _______ worry too much if I were you.

    A. oughtn'tB. mustn'tC. needn'tD. wouldn't

答案 D

9. If we _______ sooner, we might have got there.

    A. started    B. had startedC. would have started   D. start

答案 B

10. "The taxi only took ten minutes to get to the hotel."

"______ you were coming today, I'd have met you at the airport."

    A. Have I known    B. I have known    C. Had I known   D. I had known

答案 C

11. The business is risky. But _______ , we would be rich.

    A. should we succeed   B. would we succeed

    C. might we succeed    D. could we succeed

答案 A

12. If you ________ that late movie last night, you wouldn't be sleepy.

    A. haven't watchedB. hadn't watched

    C. didn't watch    D. wouldn't have watched

答案 B

13. "John wants to see you today."

"I would rather he ______ tomorrow than today."

    A. comes  B. came      C. should come      D. has come

答案 B

14. I'd rather you _______ anything about it for the time being.

    A. do  B. didn't do      C. don't D. didn't

答案 B

15. It's about time he _______ himself a wife and settled down.

    A. finds     B. found C. should find     D. had found

答案 B

16. "I let Joe borrow our radio for the afternoon."

"That's all right, but I wish he _______ buy one of his own."

    A. canB. mayC. could   D. will

答案 C

17. I wish I _______ to study mathematics years ago.

    A. could start    B. can start      C. had started      D. started

答案 C

18. It is desired that he _______ his plan.

    A. carries outB. will carry out

    C. carry out  D. carried out

答案 C

19. Since her blood pressure is much higher than it should be, her doctor insists that she _______.

    A. will not smoke   B. should not smoke

    C. not smokeD. Both B and C

答案 D

20. The police chief ordered that parking _______ on Main Street during the rush hour.

    A. be prohibited     B. be prohibiting

    C. is prohibited     D. was prohibited

prohibit 禁止

答案 A

21. The mother rejected my suggestion that she _______ her daughter the next week.

    A. would meet    B. shall meetC. meet  D. met

答案 C

22. The housemaster requested that we ______ television on week nights.

    A. not watch     B. shouldn't watch   C. didn't watch     D. both A and B

答案 D

23. Some days go by much more quickly than others. Some hours seem as if they _____.

    A. will never end      B. would never end

    C. have never ended    D. had never ended

答案 B

24. "You finally made it, didn't you?"

"Yes, _______ your help, I would have not succeeded."

    A. but that     B. but for      C. but if    D. thanks to

but for 接名词跟虚拟语气

答案 B

25. It's high time the child _______ how to behave properly.

    A. learns      B. learning C. to learnD. learned

答案 D

26. I wish that the weather ________ not so warm.

    A. had  B. be   C. were   D. is

答案 C

    虚拟语气的表现形式主要有两种。一种是改变时态，主要用于带if条件句的句子、as if 从句、wish后面的从句、It is time后面的从句。如：

    1.If I were you, I would take the job.

    2.If I had come yesterday, I would have gone for the picnic with you.

    3.In spite of the noise, he went on working as if nothing were happening.

   4.Mary wishes that she ________ law instead of history when she   was in college.

    A. study      B. studied      C. has studied    D. had studied(答案 D)

    5.It is high time _________ about the traffic problem

    A. something was done     B. everything is done

    C. anything will be done     D. nothing to be done

    (答案 A)

     虚拟语气的另一种表现形式是谓语用"should + 动词原形（should可以省略）"。常见于suggest, propose, order, insist 等词后面的宾语从句，It is suggested that … 等主语从句，以及suggestion, order, proposal等词后面的表语从句、同位语从句。如：

    1.I suggest that she (should) be sent to hospital as soon as possible.

    2.It is suggested that ________ a while before we make a decision.

A. she waited      B. she wait      C. she waits      D. she will wait

(答案 B)

    3.He made the proposal that the dispute be settled by peaceful means.
第九节  基本句型 
英语的基本句型有五种： 

     1．主语+谓语动词（不及物动词）。如： 

     My grandma can neither read nor write. 

     2．主语+谓语动词+宾语。如： 

     Morning exercises will do you a lot of good. 

     3．主语+谓语动词+表语。如： 

     In Beijing, the best season of the year is probably autumn. 

     4．主语+谓语动词+间接宾语+直接宾语。如； 

     The professor gave us a speech yesterday. 

     5．主语+谓语动词+宾语+宾语补足语。如： 

     Mary had her hair cut yesterday. 
第十节  句子的分类 
一、按用途分类 

句子按用途分为陈述句、疑问句、祈使句和感叹句。 

（一）陈述句 

     陈述句说明一个事实或是表达说话人的看法。如： 

     She arrived quite early. 

     I don't see any point in making another speech on this problem. 

（二）疑问句 

     疑问句分为一般疑问句、特殊疑问句、选择疑问句和反意疑问句。 

     1．一般疑问句 

     一般疑问句通常以助动词开始，要求以yes 或no回答。如： 

     "Will you pass on a message to him?" "Yes, what's it?" 

     "Do you like sports?" "No, I prefer reading in my spare time. " 

2．特殊疑问句 

     特殊疑问句以疑问代词开头，后面通常接一般疑问句，如果疑问词或其修饰的词作句子的主语，后面应用陈述句句序。如： 

     How much did she charge ? 

     Who is responsible for the accident?（be responsible for 为……负责） 

      "______ do you record the temperature in the lab?" 

     "Every two hours." 

     A. How soon     B. How long      C. How often     D. How much(答案 C how often 表示频率，how soon最快……，how long 一段延续的时间，how much 问价钱) 

 3．选择疑问句 

     选择疑问句在结构上类似于一般疑问句，选择的两部分由or连接起来。如： 

     Do you prefer coffee or tea? -Either will do. 

     Are you from Shanghai or Suzhou?-I'm from Suzhou.   

4．反意疑问句 

     反意疑问句由两部分组成，前一部分用陈述句的形式，后一部分是一个简短的问句。如果前一部分用肯定形式，后一部分通常用否定形式，前一部分用否定形式，后一部分就用肯定形式，两部分主语的人称、时态应保持一致。如： 

     You are going out today, aren't you? 

     We can't take the books out, can we?   

     当反意疑问句的前一部分是否定句，或含有no, nothing, never, hardly, seldom等词时，回答时应特别注意。事实上肯定的用yes，事实上否定的用no。 

     You won't be away for long, will you?-No, I'll be back in ten minutes. 

     He is hardly ten, is he?-Yes, he is ten. 

     You haven't any objection to the idea, have you?-No, I haven't.（objection to 反对，to是介词）    

     They have no classes tomorrow, have they?-No, they haven't.     

     日常用语中有些反意疑问句构成与上述不同，有其独特的方式。如： 

     Have a cup of tea, will you? 

     Let's meet at the station, shall we? 

     What a lovely day, isn't it? 

4．反意疑问句 

     1. You never told us his phone number, _______? 

     A. hadn't you     B. didn't you     C. had youD. did you 

答案 D 

2. I don't think you've heard of him before, ________? 

     A. don't I      B. do IC. have you D. haven't you 

答案 C 

3. Mountains can be very dangerous, ________? 

     A. can't they    B. aren't they    C. don't they    C. won't they 

 答案 A   

4. "Jill has a toothache." 

     "It's been hurting her for quite a while, _______?" 

A. isn't it    B. doesn't it      C. wasn't it   D. hasn't it 

答案 D 

5. Beginners have to learn from their mistakes, _______ they? 

A. haven'tB. mustn'tC. don't   D. aren't 

 learn from 从……学到 

答案 C 

6. "It's awfully cold this morning." 

     "Yes, but it's not colder than it was yesterday, _______ it?" 

A. wasn'tB. isn't      C. is  D. was 

答案 C 

7. Let's try a bit harder, _______? 

A. will we     B. shall weC. do we  D. are we 

答案 B 

（三）祈使句 

     祈使句表示请求、命令、叮嘱、号召等，主语一般是you，在句子中省略，谓语动词用原形，否定一般在谓语前加don't 。如： 

     Let's not waste time arguing about it. (waste time doing) 

     Be sure to come here before nine. 

     Don't do that again. 

     Don't hesitatie to turn to me if you are in trouble. (turn to sb.向某人求助)   

（四）感叹句 

     感叹句表示说话人的惊异、喜悦、气愤等情绪，一般由what或how引导，what修饰名词，how修饰形容词或副词。What + n.; How+ adj. 如： 

     What good news it is! 

     How good the news is! 

     What silly questions you asked! 

     How silly the questions you asked! 

     What a bad memory I've got! I even forgot to bring the book with me. 

     How bad the memory I've got! 

     Look! _______ lovely day it is ! 

     A. WhatB. How  C. What aD. How a 

     （答案 C） 

句法部分的一个重要考核点是反意疑问句。其提问部分的助动词和主语（往往是代词）应该与前半句一致，回答部分前后应保持一致。如： 

     1.Your name is Mary, _______? 

     A. aren't you      B. is it C. isn't it  D. are you 

     (答案 C) 

     2.John studies in a state university, _________ he? 

     A. do notB. does C. doesn't  D. do 

     (答案 C) 

     3."She wasn't in when her husband came, was she?" 

     "______, but she returned a few minutes later." 

     A. No, she was   B. No, she wasn't 

     C. Yes, she was   D. Yes, she wasn't 

     (答案 B)   

     此外，考生应注意句型let's … ，其后面往往用shall we 提问。如： 

     Let's do the cleaning right after class, _____? 

     A. will you   B. shall we  C. do you  D. can we 

     (答案 B)   

    另一类需引起注意的句子是感叹句。感叹句的引导词是what（修饰名词）或how（修饰形容词、副词），考生应特别注意what修饰的名词，看它是可数还是不可数，是单数还是复数，若是单数，前面往往需加不定冠词。 

     1._______ wonderful birthday I am having! 

     A. What      B. What a  C. How  D. How much 

     答案 B 

     2.________ lovely weather we have been having these days! 

     A. How   B. What      C. How a   D. What a 

     答案 B 

     3.How lovely they are!   

二、按结构分类 

    考试大纲要求： 

     句子按结构分类可分为简单句、并列句和复合句 

（一）简单句 

     只包含一个主谓结构，而句子各个成分都由单词或短语构成的句子叫做简单句。如： 

     I'm going to the Great Wall tomorrow.   

（二）并列句 

     包含两个或两个以上互不依从的简单句的句子叫并列句。并列句中的分句通常用逗号、分号或并列连词连接起来。如： 

     I'd like to travel in the holidays, but my wife insists on going to her parents' home. 

     There was no news; nevertheless, he went on hoping.(go on doing sth. 继续做某事) 

（三）复合句 

     大纲要求： 

     (1)主语从句、宾语从句、表语从句和同位语从句的构成及其常用关联词； 

     (2)定语从句的种类、构成及常用关联词； 

     (3)状语从句的种类及其常用关联词。 

  它指的是包含两个和两个以上的主谓结构的句子，其中至少有一个主谓结构充当句子的某个成份。比如当主语、宾语、表语、定语、状语、同位语等，这个主谓结构就称为从句，所有从句都要用陈述句句序。

1．主语从句 

主语不是一个词而是一个句子，它因为有这个主句了，所以主语这个句子叫从句。主语从句可以位于句首，也可以位于句子的尾部，而在句首一般用it做它的形式主语，引导主语从句的关连有that和whether

这两个都是不能省略的。

What she did is not yet know.

It is certain that we shell be late.

It is curt to him that he had forgot to buy the book.

How the prisoner is escape is a complete secret.

 1. ______ at the meeting yesterday is of great importance to the development of our business. 

     A. That we discussed  B. What we discussed 

     C. How did we discuss D. What did we discuss 

答案 B 

 (be of importance= be important)   

2. _______ you say now can't make up for what you've done. 

     A. No matter    B. WhateverC. However     D. That 

make up for 为……补偿 

 答案 B 

3. _______ was once regarded as impossible has now become a reality. 

     A. ThatB. Which C. Who   D. What   

答案 D   

4. _______ you do, do it well. 

     A. What B. Which      C. That  D. Whatever   

which不能引导主语从句。 

 whatever=no matter what 

 答案 D 

5. __________ the prisoner escaped is a mystery. 

     A. WhatB. How  C. That  D. Which 

引导主语从句的关联词是that,whether和疑问词。 

 答案 B 

  2．宾语从句 

     引导宾语从句的关联词与主语从句基本相同。关联词that一般可以省略，whether一般可与if（"是否"）互换。宾语从句有时也可以放在句子的后部，而在前面用it作形式宾语。宾语从句还可以接在介词后面。 

     They told us again that the situation was serious. 

     I doubt whether he will come. 

     I don't know if you could help me tomorrow. 

     We all thought it a pity that you had failed the exam. 

1. The photos will show you _______. 

    A. what does the house look like      B. what the house looks like 

    C. how does the house look likeD. how the house looks like   

答案 B 

  2. I hope ______ my letter. 

     A. her to answerB. that she should answer 

     C. that she will answer  D. her answering 

hope to do sth. 

 hope+that从句。将来时用will。     

 She hopes to work in this company. 

 答案 C   

3. These apples are very expensive. Do you know _______? 

     A. how do they cost   B. how many do they cost 

     C. how much do they cost     D. how much they cost 

答案 D 

4. The story of Jonar implies _________ love can not be separated from responsibility. 

     A. howB. if   C. that     D. whether   

答案 C 

 separate from 和……分开   

5. He wondered ________. 

     A. what will be his wife's reaction     B. what would his wife's reaction be    C. what his wife's reaction would be    D. how would be his wife's reaction 

答案 C 

6. The fat lady asked Alex _______ he wanted something to eat. 

     A. what      B. if C. that  D. which 

答案 B   

7. The teacher asked me ________. 

     A. whether or not I had finished my work   B. did I finish my work or not   C. is my work finished or not   D. if or not I have finished my work   

答案 A 

 whether or not     

8. Although I expected something different, I was still surprised by _______ he said. 

     A. what     B. which  C. that D. how 

答案 A 

 修饰不定代词的形容词放在不定代词后面。 

 人做主语surprise用过去分词做表语。 

9. I don't know his address except ________ it was Leadenhall Street. 

     A. that B. whetherC. whatD. where   

答案 A 

10. Mr. Lamb did not know _______ he should renew the lease (租约) or not. 

     A. what    B. whetherC. if  D. which 

答案 B 

  3．表语从句 

     表语从句与宾语从句基本相同。如： 

     The problem is who we can get to replace her. 

     That's why we had to put off the meeting.(put off:延期)   

1. The reason why I didn't go to France was _______ a new job. 

     A. because I got      B. because of getting 

     C. due to      D. that I got 

due to sth./sb.: because of sth./sb. 由于某事物/某人 

 The team's success was largely due to her efforts. 该队的成功在很大程度上是由于她的努力。 

 He was late due to the very heavy traffic.他迟到是因为交通拥挤。 

 答案 D 

2. He works too hard. That is _______ is wrong with him. 

     A. that which    B. the what     C. whatD. the thing what 

 答案 C 

3. One reason why women live longer than men after retirement is ______ women can continue to do something they are used to doing. 

     A. because      B. for  C. since  D. that 

be used to doing 

 答案 D   

4．同位语从句 

     同位语从句常位于idea, fact, news, fear, belief, doubt, proof, evidence等名词后面，对这些名词作进一步解释。同位语从句大多由关联词that 引导（that不可以省略）。如： 

     The fact that the money has gone does not mean it was stolen. 

     Have you heard the news that we will have a picnic next week? 

     There can be no doubt that my brother is qualified for the job. 

     Where did you get the idea that the class would be cancelled? 

     So far there is no proof _______ spaceships from other planets do exist. 

     A. which      B. that C. how  D. what 

     答案 B   

5．定语从句 

     定语从句分为限定性定语从句和非限定性定语从句。 

     限定性定语从句是句子不可缺少的一部分，没有它，句子不能成立，或意思不清楚，不说明问题。 

     非限定性定语从句只对其修饰的部分作进一步的说明，没有它句子其他部分仍然可以成立。非限定性定语从句常用逗号与前面的部分隔开。   

5．定语从句 

     1）修饰人的定语从句 

     who  主语／宾语（口语中，可省略） 

     that  主语/宾语（可省略，前面不能有介词） 

     whom 宾语（前面没有介词时可省略） 

     whose 定语 

Do you know the person to whom he is talking? 

     Do you know the person(whom/that) he is talking to? 

     He is the man (who/whom/that) you can rely on. 

     He is the man on whom you can rely. 

     Do you know the woman who(that) is watching TV? 

     You're the only one whose advice he might listen to. 

     The girls whose names were called stood up. 

     Here is the man (whom/that) you've been looking for. 

     He is a man on whom you can safely depend. 

  2）修饰物的定语从句 

 如果修饰的词是物，而它在定语从句中做主语，则可以用that和which。 

 如果修饰的词是物，而它在定语从句中做宾语，则可以用that（可省略，前面不能有介词）和which（前面没有介词时可省略）。 

 whose后接名词做定语。 

 She wasn't on the train which /that arrived just now. 

 The dog which/that was lost has been found. 

 This is the question about which we've had so much discussion. 

 This is the question(that/which) we've had so much discussion about. 

 The novel (that/which) he recommended is worth reading.(be worth doing；值得做某事)   

当定语从句修饰的词是不定代词，如anybody, nobody, nothing等，或是有only, very, 形容词最高级等修饰的名词时，从句的关联词往往用that , that作从句的主语或宾语，作宾语时常被省略。   

Is there anything (that ) I can do for you? 

 All(that) you have to do is to close the door and wait for him. 

 This is one of the easiest questions that do not need answering. 

 There is no one in the world who/that does not make a mistake.  

 定语从句修饰的词是不定代词、only、very、形容词最高级关联词用that，如果that在从句中做宾语，则可以省略。 

    3）修饰时间、地点、原因的定语从句 

     修饰时间的用when，相当于相当于"介词+ which"，在句中做状语。 

     修饰地点的用where，相当于相当于"介词+ which"，在句中做状语。 

     修饰原因的一般情况下跟的都是reason，用why关联词引导定语从句。     

     He came last night when I was going to bed. 

     I know of a place where we can have lunch. 

     She's going home where she can rest. 

     Do you know the reason why I left early? 

     There's no reason why he should do so.

     4）非限定性定语从句     非限定性定语从句中不能用关联词that。修饰人时用who, whose, whom; 修饰物时用which, whose；修饰地点和时间的名词，且作状语时分别用where, when。如：   

     Water, which is a clear liquid, has many uses. 

     Our guide, who is a Chinese , is an excellent cook. 

     They will fly to Boston, where they can plan to stay for four days, and then go to New York.     

     He picked up the book, the cover of which had been torn.(tear-tore-torn 撕裂、撕碎) 

     He is our English teacher, whose wife is a manager in a big firm.     

     非限定性定语从句还可以修饰整个句子，关联词只能用which。 

     The activity was postponed, which was exactly what we wanted. 

     They have invited me to attend the party, which is very kind of them.     

     限定型定语从句，如果修饰物并做宾语，前面又有介词，只能用which。 但是如果定语从句修饰的是不定代词，或是only，very以及形容词最高级，只能用that。在非限定性定语从句中修饰物只能用which，修饰人只能用who。如果非限定性定语从句修饰整个句子，关联词只能用which。

     as 也可以引导定语从句，多和such连用。如： 

     Boy as he was, he was chosen king. 

     He was in such a fury as I have never seen. 

     Let's discuss only such questions as concern everyone of us.   

1. August 15, 1999 was one of the greatest days in his life ______ he was accepted by a university. 

 A. while  B. thatC. which  D. when   

答案 D   

2. Our concert turned out to be a great success, _______ they had never expected. 

 A. whatB. that  C. when    D. which   

答案 D   

3. It was a cold winter night, and there wasn't anyone _______ the boy could turn to for help in the street. 

 A. that B. which  C. whom     D. what   

答案 A 

 turn to sb. 向某人求助 

4. All _____ is a continuous supply of fuel. 

 A. what is needed  B. the thing needed 

 C. that is needed  D. for their needs 

答案 C 

5. Huang Hong, ________ father is a taxi driver, studies computer science in the U.S. 

 A. her B. she's  C. whose    D. that 

答案 C   

6. Mr. Li is going to visit the university ________ he studied 25 years ago. 

 A. whereB. which C. that  D. in where 

 答案 D 正确答案 in which 

答案 A   

7. She had three sons, all ________ became doctors. 

 A. of which      B. which      C. of whom  D. who   

答案 C 

8. The only thing _________ really matters to the children is how soon they can return home. 

 A. that  B. which  C. what    D. / 

答案 A 

9. "Do you know Tom?" 

 "I think so. Isn't he _______ smokes incessantly(不停地)?" 

 A. whoB. the man     C. the man whoD. the person which 

答案 C   

10. The seventeenth century was one ________ many significant advances were made in both science and philosophy. 

 A. in thatB. in which C. whose D. of 

答案 B 

11. English words are not always spelled ________. 

 A. the way they sound     B. the way they to sound 

 C. the way they're sounding  D. as they are sounding 

答案 A   

12. Angel was the first girl ________ when you got here. 

 A. you talked to whom    B. you talked to 

 C. whom you talked      D. who talked you   

A的正确答案为whom you talked to/to whom you talked to 

 答案 B 

  13. He arrived late, ________ was annoying. 

 A. what     B. that  C. which  D. whom   

答案 C   

14. She was extremely understanding, _______ helped to calm James down. 

 A. which    B. it   C. that   D. this 

答案 A   

15. I've never dined with you, sir; and I see no reason ________. 

 A. how should I now     B. how I should now 

 C. why should I now      D. why I should now 

答案 D   

16. The letter _______ I mailed to my sister a month before Christmas has not yet reached her. 

 A. thatB. which C. / D. all of the above 

答案 D   

17. ________ is known to the world, Mark Twain was a great American writer. 

 A. That  B. Which C. As D. It 

答案 C 

6．状语从句 

     状语从句可以用来表示时间、地点、条件、原因、目的、结果、行为方式、比较、让步等。     

    1）时间状语从句 

     常用的关联词有when, whenever, before, after, while, as, once（一旦），until, (ever) since, as soon as等。时间和条件状语从句中表示将来的情况通常用一般现在时。如： 

     When you cross a road, you must be careful. 

     It will not be long before we meet again. 

     She comes here every month since she was a child to see her grandmother. 

     As soon as I know it, I'll tell you.     

    2）地点状语从句 

     关联词有 where 和 wherever。如： 

     Sit down wherever you like. 

     Put it where you found it.     

    3）条件状语从句 

     关联词有if, unless, as / so long as（只要），in case(万一)等。如： 

     As/So long as we don't give up, we are bound to succeed.(be bound to do sth.  注定要做某事；give up 放弃) 

     In case I gorget, please remind me of that.(remind sb. of sth. 提醒某人做某事) 

     If it snows tomorrow, we will stay at home. 

     I will do anything as long as it is interesting.     

    4）原因状语从句 

     关联词有because, as（由于，因为）, since（由于，既然），now that（既然），that等。 

     As I didn't know the way, I asked a policeman. 

     Since no one is against, we'll adopt the proposal. 

     Seeing that she's ill, she's unlikely to come. 

     Not that I dislike the work, but that I have no time.   

    4）原因状语从句 

     because, as since, for 皆为"因为"时的区别： 

     a.because 语气最强，用以回答why引导的问句。它可和强调词only, just以及否定词not连用，其所引导的从句常位于主句之后，只有强调时才置于主句之前。Because从句还可以用于强调结构，如It was because I wanted to see my mother that I went to Beijing last month.(It was…that/ It is …that) 

     b.As语气较弱，较口语化，所表的原因比较明显，或是已知的事实，所以不用强调。As从句之前不可用强调句和not, 也不可用于强调结构。As从句多置于主句之前。     

     c.Since 的语气也比较弱，常表示对方已知的事实，往往相当于汉语的"既然"。它和as 一样，其前也不可用强调词和not, 也不可用强调结构。 

     d.For 和上述三个从属连词不同，它是一个等立连词，比较文气。它有时可用来作附加说明，We must get rid of carelessness, for it often leads to errors. 我们一定要克服粗枝大叶的毛病，因为这常导致错误。     

    5）目的状语从句 

     关联词有so that, in order that, for fear that（以免）, in case(以免)等。 

     Speak clearly so that they may understand you. 

     He spoke slowly in order that everyone should understand. 

     I've got the key in case we want to go inside.     

    6）结果状语从句 

     关联词有so that, so…that, such…that等。such+名词，so+形容词，副词。 

     It's such a good chance that we can't miss it. 

     He was so angry that he could not speak. 

     Everybody lent a hand so that the work was finished ahead of time.     

    7）方式状语从句 

     关联词主要有as（正如）和as if, as though。 

     He looks as if he's tired. 

     I did just as you told me.     

    8）让步状语从句 

     关联词有though, although, as（虽然）, even if, even though, no matter, whatever, however等。 

     Though I am fond of music, I can't play any instrument.（be fond of 喜爱） 

     Although it is difficult, we'll do it. 

     Whatever you say, I don't believe you.  

     as 引导让步状语从句时， 句子需要倒装。 

     Try as you may, you will never succeed. 

     Young as she is, she is already familiar with most of the stories. 

 （be familiar with 对……熟悉；be similar to 和……相似） 

     Old as I am, I can still climb the mountain.

    9）比较状语从句 

     关联词主要有than和as（像…一样）。 

     I can walk faster than you can run. 

     He spent twice as much time on this picture as on that one. 

     He woke up as suddenly as he had fallen asleep.   

1. If anybody ______ me while I'm out, tell him I'll call him back later on. 

 A. phonesB. will phone      C. is phoning      D. phoned 

答案 A   

2. We must begin testing the instrument, no matter _______ difficult it is. 

 A. whatB. how C. when   D. where 

答案 B   

3. I'll leave him a note ________ he'll know where we are. 

 A. so that      B. that   C. in order D. for 

 答案 A   

4. ________ he worked all day, he couldn't finish the job. 

 A. Even      B. In case  C. Although      D. In spite of 

  in case 万一 

 in spite of 尽管，引导短语 

 答案 C 

5. ________ to New York, her father has not heard from her. 

 A. Because she went      B. After she went 

 C. When she went D. Since she went   

答案 D   

6. "Did you return Fred's call?" 

 "I don't need to _______ I'll see him tomorrow." 

 A though  B. becauseC. otherwise      D. unless 

 答案 B     

7. "My uncle comes in from Iran tonight." 

 "How long has it been _______ you last saw him?" 

 A. since     B. as  C. while D. when   

答案 A 

8. The size of the audience, _________ we had expected, was well over one thousand. 

 A. whom  B. as C. who   D. that   

well over 超过 

 答案 B     

复合句部分除了应注意根据句子意思的需要选择恰当的关联词外，还应注意以下几点： 

     （1）所有的从句都要用陈述句的句序。如： 

     1.They want to know ________ do to help us. 

     A. what can they   B. what they can 

     C. how they can   D. how can they (答案 B) 

     2.Excuse me, sir. Can you tell me how I can get to the railway station?

     （2）时间及条件状语从句，even if 、even though引导的让步状语从句，往往用一般现在时表示将来的情况，主句用一般将来时。 

     1.We promise that we will meet again after we _______ our college education in three years' time. 

     A. finish   B. will finishC. have finished      D. will have finished (答案 A) 

     2.If Mary ________, tell her I'll call her back as soon as I return. 

     A. call B. calls C. called    D. is going to call 

     （答案 B） 

     3.Even if it __________ tomorrow, the sports meet will take place. 

     A. will rain     B. rains  C. rain   D. has rained 

     （take place 举行；答案 B）

     （3）what和that 的区别 

     what可以引导主语、宾语、表语从句，在从句中作主语或宾语，有其具体的含义。 

     that 可以引导主语、宾语、表语、同位语、定语从句，在前四种从句中that 没有任何具体的含义，也不充当从句的任何成分，所以当从句意义和结构完整时，关联词往往选择that。     

      1._______ we will do next is still under discussion. 

     A. That  B. When  C. Where D. What 

     （答案 D） 

     2.He found at last _______ he had been looking for. 

     A. that   B. what C. where    D. which 

     (答案 B) 

     3.He was overcome by the fear _________ he had lung cancer. 

     A. which  B. what  C. that   D. of 

     (答案 C) 

     4.The doctor insists that my brother give up smoking.     

  that 在定语从句中可以指代先行词，表示人或物，作从句的主语或宾语，作宾语时可以省略，但不能置于介词之后。当先行词为不定代词，或有only, very, first或形容词最高级修饰时，定语从句的主语或宾语一般需用that。that不可以引导非限定性定语从句。     

1.I need a coat that / which is both warm and light in weight. 

  2.Is this the boy (whom / that) you were looking for? 

  3.At first the old man seemed unwilling to accept anything 

  _______was offered him by my friend and me. 

  A. that B. whichC. what    D. it(答案 A) 

  4.This is the very factory _______ we visited for the first 

  time in 1996. 

  A. where  B. whichC. that    D. what(答案 C) 

  5.More and more young people like playing football, _______ is 

  an exciting game.(答案 B) 

  A. what  B. which C. that    D. because     

     （4）when和where在定语从句中可以分别指代先行词所表示的时间和地点，但在从句只能作状语，往往可以与"介词 +　which"结构互换。 

     1.I still remember the place ______ our class once did some field work.(答案 C) 

     A. thereB. which  C. where     D. when 

     2.We visited the house where / in which Lu Xun lived in Shanghai. 

     3.I still remember the year ________ I first came to this beautiful city.(答案 D) 

    A. which B. in which      C. when   D. Both B and C

第十一节  强调句、倒装句、省略句 
一、强调句（参见it的用法） 

    强调句型由"It is (was) + 被强调的成份（主语、宾语、状语）+ that"构成，当被强调的主语表示人时，that可以用who替代，谓语在人称和数上应与主语保持一致。 

     It is he who speaks English fluently. 

     It was not until midnight that he went to sleep last night.   

二、倒装句 

     句子在以下场合往往用倒装的句序： 

     1．以here, there开头的句子。 

     Here comes the bus. 

     2．以so, nor, neither引导的省略句。 

      如果前一个句子是肯定句，后边用so来引导倒装，这种句子是部分倒转：助动词+主语+正常语序。如果前一个句子是否定句，后边用nor或neither引导，结构同so。倒装句在时态上应与前面的句子保持一致，助动词的单复数应与主语保持一致。 

     If you can do it, so can I. 

     I like watch football matches, so does my brother. 

     If you won't go, neither will he. 

     My sister doesn't like potatoes, nor do I.     

     3．"only +状语（从句）"，否定或具有否定意义的词位于句首作状语或引导状语从句的句子。 

     Only in this way can you hope to improve your English. 

     Not only did he show himself as a good student, but he also proved himself a good athlete.    

     Scarcely had I sat down when I heard the telephone rang.（scarcely…when=as aoon as） 

     Hardly had he arrived in the city when he heard the bad news. 

 (hardly…when=as soon as)   

     No sooner had he come home than he was asked to start on another journey.(no sooner…than=as soon as)     

     Little did I know about the matter. 

     In no way can theory be separated from practice.   

1. I visited Zhangjiajie last summer. Never in my life ______ so beautiful a place like that. 

 A. I had seen     B. did I see     C. have I seen     D. I shall see 

答案 C   

2. _______ the importance of wearing seat belts while driving. 

 A. Little they realize      B. They little do realize 

 C. Little realize do they    D. Little do they realize 

答案 D 

3. "Someone ate my cookies." 

 "Well, I didn't and _______ Alice." 

 A. neither was    B. nor did      C. neither     D. nor was 

答案 B   

4. _______ the words to the songs, but he also composes (作曲) the music. 

 A. He also writes    B. Although he writes 

 C. Not only does he write     D. Even if he writes 

答案 C 

5. No sooner ______ than the jeep started off. 

 A. his luggage was loaded      B. had his luggage been loaded 

 C. loaded his luggage  D. his luggage was being loaded 

答案 B 

6. Scarcely had he gone out ________. 

 A. that it started to snow      B. that it started to snow 

 C. when it started to snow      D. and it started to snow 

 no sooner……than；scarcely……when； 

答案 C   

7. "I like the film." 

 "________." 

 A. Nor do I      B. Neither do I    C. Either do I     D. So do I   

答案 D   

8. No sooner _______ got to the station than it began to rain heavily. 

 A. had I      B. have I   C. I had  D. I have 

答案 A   

9. ________, Mr. Brown couldn't keep the shop properly. 

 A. As he worked hard    B. As he worked hardly 

 C. Hard as he worked    D. Hardly as he worked 

答案 C     

10. Hardly _______ when the bus suddenly pulled away. 

 A. they had got to the bus stop     B. they got to the bus stop 

 C. did they get to the bus stopD. had they got to the bus stop 

pull away 开走，离开 

 答案 D   

11. "Eric didn't want to miss the class." 

 "_______ did Bill." 

 A. Either B. Whether      C. NeitherD. No 

答案 C   

12. "Jane has certainly been working hard." 

 "_______." 

 A. So have her brothers   B. So her brothers have 

 C. Her brothers have too  D. So have been her brothers 

答案 A   

倒装句主要用于两种场合： 

 （1）so, neither, nor引导的省略句。 

     考生应注意省略句中助动词的选择，其时态往往由前面的句子决定，单、复数由其后面的主语决定。 

     1.Distrust can be contagious（传染的）. But so can trust. 

     2.John is learning Spanish. _______ his sister. 

     A. So doesB. Neither isC. Nor does  D. So is 

     3.Man cannot live by bread alone, nor / neither can he live without bread. 

     4.He has never been to London , nor / neither have we.     

 （2）"only+状语或状语从句"、否定或具有否定意义的词作状语或引导状语从句位于句首。 

     1.Only if you have a receipt ________ change the goods. 

     A. we can      B. will we  C. we do   D. we will 

     only if: 只要，只有<用于句首，后接从句，主谓倒装> 答案 B 

     2.Never before _________ seen such beautiful clothes designed by such a young lady.（答案 B） 

     A. he has      B. has heC. have he    D. he have 

     3. Hardly had he arrived home when it began to rain.     

     4. Not until the game had begun _________ at the sports ground. 

     A. he arrived B. did he arriveC. he didn'tD. would he arrive（答案 B）   

三、省略句 

1．对话中内容省略 

     "Will you join us?" "I'd love to" 

     "I'm hungry. " "Are you?" 

     "What did you buy?" "A dictionary." 

 2．不定式省略 

     I'll buy the tickets if you want me to. 

     I meant to write to you, but forgot to. 

 3．并列句中成份省略 

     He majors in French and I in Russian. 

     They tried to help her, but in vain. 

 4．复合句中成份省略 

     Look out for cars when crossing the street.（look out 当心） 

     To criticize like him one must be as wise.     

5. do有时用于省略句中，替代上文出现的动词及其宾语。如： 

     Computers are supposed to save time, but I'm not so sure they do. (save time) 

     be supposed to do sth.: 

     1. 被期望或被要求做某事 

     They were supposed to be here an hour ago. 

     2. 用于否定句中，获准做某事。 

     You're not supposed to play football in the classroom.   

"The old house belongs to the Greens." 

 "Oh, no, ________."（答案 C） 

 A. it mustn't     B. it hasn't     C. it doesn'tD. it didn't 

 (belong to 属于)   

    省略句常运用于是常对话的上下文中。如I think so, I'd love to, I'm afraid not 等。句型"Why not …？"以及动词do也常在考核点之列，考生应注意Why not 后面接动词原形，而动词do或其过去式常可以用来代替上文中的动词及其宾语、表语。 

 1.Why not ________ as she likes ? 

 A. let her to doB. letting her to do 

 C. let her do  D. lets her do 

 （答案 C） 

 2."I'll ring her up when I go out to lunch." 

  "Why not do it now?"（it代替的是ring her up） 

 3.She plays the piano better now than she did last year. 

 (did代替的是played the piano)     

 4."Who broke the window?" 

 "I did."(did代替的是broke the window)
词汇部分 

  掌握约3000个基础英语单词和相应的常用词组。词汇考试主要是考单词和词组搭配。  

构词法 

英语的构词方法有三：合成（composition）,派生（derivation）和转换（conversion）.  

一、合成 

合成：合两个或两个以上的词而成为一个新词，这种构词的方法叫做合成。 

 1. 复合名词的主要构成方式 

  1）名词＋名词 

  classroom　教室，　newspaper 报纸 

  2）形容词＋名词 

  blackboard　黑板,highway 公路， 

  3）动词＋名词 

  break-water防波堤 

  4）副词＋名词 

  outbreak爆发，　overcoat 大衣 

  5）代词＋名词 

  he-goat公山羊，　she-wolf 母狼 

 6）动词＋副词 

  break-down崩溃 

  7）名词＋介词短语 

  editor-in-chief 总编辑, father-in-law岳父
2. 复合形容词的主要构成方式 

  1）名词＋形容词 

  snow-white 雪白的,world-wide全世界的 

  2）形容词＋形容词 

  bitter-sweet 又苦又甜的，blue-green 绿里发蓝的 

  3）副词＋形容词 

  ever-green 常绿的 

  4）名词＋分词 

  snow-covered 白雪盖着的，hand-made 手工制作的 

  5)形容词＋分词 

  good-looking 好看的 

  6）副词＋分词 

  well-meaning 好意的，well-informed消息灵通的  

  7)形容词＋名词 

  second-hand旧的，用过的，第二手的 

  8）形容词＋名词＋-ed 

  open-minded 胸襟开阔的，white-haired白发的 

  9）数词＋名词＋（－ed） 

  two-faced 两面派的，

3. 复合动词的主要构成方式 

  1）副词＋动词 

  overcome　克服，　uphold支持，主张 

  2）名词＋动词 

  sun-bathe行日光浴
二、派生
     在一个单词前或后加上一个词缀，变成一个新词，这种构词的方法叫做派生，词缀有前缀和后缀两种，加在单词前的词缀，叫前缀，加在单词后的词缀，叫后缀。 

1．前缀　　现将最常用的一些前缀（按字母顺序）举例如下： 

 anti- 反对 

     anti-Japanese war抗日战争 

 arch- 主要的 

     　arch-enemy 主要敌人 

 auto- 自动的 

     　automobile 小汽车，　　autobiography自传 

 bi- 双 

     　bicycle 自行车，bilingual 用两种语言的 

 by- 在旁 

     　bystander 旁观者，by-product副产品 

 co- 共同 

     　co-operation合作，co-existence 共处     

 counter- 反 

     　counter-attack 反攻， 

 de- 除去，否定 

     　decentralization分散，不集中 

 dis- 否定 

     discover发现，　disorder混乱，杂乱 

 en-, em- 使成为 

     enable使能够，enslave奴役，encourage鼓励 

 ex-　前 

     ex-president前任主席、总统或大学校长 

 extra- 外 

     　extraordinary非常的，格外的     

 for-, fore- 先，前，预 

     forward向前，foresee预见，forearm前臂 

 for- 禁，弃 

     forbid禁止，forget忘记 

 in-, il-, im-, ir- 不，非 

     informal 非正式的，incomplete不完全的， irregular不规则的 

 inter- 间，相互 

     interview会见 

 mal- 恶 

     maltreat 虐待 

 micro- 微 

     microscope显微镜   

 mid- 中 

     mid-night半夜， mid-autumn中秋的 

 mis- 误 

     misunderstand 误会， misuse误用 

 multi- 多 

     multi-national 多民族的 

 non- 非，不 

     nonexistent不存在的 

 post- 后于 

     post-war 战后的， 

 pre- 先于 

     pre-war　战前的     

 pro- 赞成，亲善 

     pro-American 亲美的 

 re- 重，再，复 

     review 复习　 

 sub- 下，次 

     subdivide细分，再分 

 super- 上，超 

     super-structure 上层建筑 

 tele- 远 

     　telephone 电话，telescope望远镜，television电视 

 trans-　横过，转移 

     　transformation改造，translate翻译   

 un- 不 

unable不能的，unimportant不重要的，untrue不真实的 

 uni-　一、单 

     　uniform 划一的

2．名词后缀 

 -age状态，集合 

     marriage婚姻，shortage缺少，village村庄 

 -an　人 

     American美国人，Italian意大利人，意大利语，African非洲人 

 -ance,　-ancy性质，状态 

     importance重要性，significance意义 

 -ant, -ent　人 

     assistant助手，助教， student学生 

 -ation, -ition　动作，状态 

     determination决心，industrialization工业化，preparation准备 

 -craft　技巧，工艺 

     handicraft手工艺     

 -dom （状态，领界） 

     freedom自由，kingdom王国 

 -ee （被动） 

     employee雇员 

 -eer 人 

     engineer工程师， volunteer志愿者 

 -ence, -ency（抽象名词） 

     dependence依靠，不独立，excellence卓越 

 -er　人，动作者 

     fighter战士，worker工人，writer作家，harvester收割机 

 -ese 人，语言 

     Chinese中国人，中文，Japanese日本人，日文   

-ess　女性 

     actress女演员，princess公主，hostess女主人，女乘务员（飞机上） 

 -ful 充满 

     handful一把，armful一抱（这些词亦可作为复合词看） 

 -hood　身份，境遇，状态 

     childhood童年，likelihood可能性 

 -ian 人 

     musician音乐家，technician技术员 

 -ity （抽象名词） 

     possibility可能性，capability能力 

 -man 人 

     Englishman英国人，postman邮递员（这些词亦可作为复合词看）   

 -ment　运动，结果 

     movement运动，development发展 

 -ness 状态，性质 

     kindness和善，carefulness小心 

 -or　人，动作者 

     actor男演员， editor 编辑，tractor拖拉机 

 -ry, -ery 行为，工作，性质，工作地点，货物种类，境遇等 

     bravery勇敢，nursery托儿所，cookery烹调 

 -ship 状态，身分 

     friendship友谊，hardship苦难 

 -tion 动作，状态 

   　attention注意，action行动，revolution革命   

 -ty （抽象名词） 

     cruelty残酷， loyalty忠实 

 -ure　结果，动作 

   　pleasure快乐，pressure压力   

3．形容词后缀 

 －able,-ible能够 

   　unforgettable难忘的，responsible负责的 

 -al　的 

   　cultural文化的，national国家的 

 -an （地，人）的 

     Russian 俄罗斯的，俄罗斯人的，American美国的，美国人的 

 -ed 有，象 

   　talented有才华的 

 -en 的 

   　golden金色的，wooden木制的 

 -ern （表示方向的） 

   　northern北方的，eastern东方的，southern南方的，western西方的     

 -ese　（地，人）的 

   　Chinese中国的，中国人的，Japanese日本的，日本人的 

 -ful 充满 

   　careful小心的，beautiful美丽的，powerful强有力的 

 -ic, -ical　的 

     economic经济的，political政治的，grammatical语法的 

 -ish 属于，稍微 

   　bookish书本气的，yellowish稍黄的，selfish自私的，childish幼稚的 

 -ive　性，倾向 

   　active 积极的， collective集体的   

 -less　无 

   　fearless无所畏惧的，careless不小心的，useless无用的，meaningless无意义的 

 -like　如 

   　childlike儿童般的（亦可作为复合词看） 

 -ly 品质，的 

     friendly友好的，weekly每星期的，manly丈夫气的，daily每天的 

 -ous　多 

   　nervous神经紧张的，dangerous危险的 

 -some　引起，适于，易于 

   　troublesome烦人的，tiresome（令人感到厌倦的）     

 -ward 向 

   　backward落后的 

 -y 充满，性质 

   　rainy雨的，snowy雪的，handy手巧的，便于使用的 

4．动词后缀 

 -ate 

   　isolate使孤立， 

 -en 

   　deepen加深，strengthen加强 

 -fy 

   　simplify简化，classify分类 

 -ize, -ise 

     industrialize工业化   

5. 副词后缀 

 -ly 

     carefully小心地，beautifully美丽地，quickly迅速地 

 -ward, -wards向 

   　forward向前，backward向后，upwards向上，downwards向下 

 -wise　方式 

   　likewise同样地，otherwise否则，用另一种方式   

三、转换 
    转换　将一个单词由某一种词类转用为另一种词类，这就叫做转换。单词转换后的意义往往与未转换前的意义有密切的联系。 

 1．名词转化为动词　 

 　elbow 由"肘"转义为"用肘推挤" 

 　back 由"背，后面"转义为"支持，后退" 

 2．形容词转化为动词　　 

 　slow 由"慢"转义为"放慢" 

 3．动词转化为名词　 

 　to take a walk  散步 

 　to have a look　看一看 

 　to have a try 　试一试     

 4．形容词转化为名词　 

 　the wounded 受伤的人们， the beautiful美丽的东西，the blind盲人们　 

 5.其他词类转化为名词　 

 　a must必须做的事情，ups and downs高低起伏，ins and outs问题的底细   

典型例题   

考试的重点是词汇之间的搭配，和近义词之间的区别。   

1. Driving a car is not as difficult as you imagine, if you ________ the rules. 

 A. depend on    B. turn toC. put up  D. stick to 

depend on 依靠、依赖 

 turn to 转向某人，turn to sb.向某人求助 

 put up with 容忍、忍受 

 stick to 遵守 

 答案 D   

2. In my opinion, the changing job market will ______ people many difficulties. 

 A. find     B. bring  C. take  D. get   

find 找到 

 bring 带来 

 take 拿走 

 get 得到 

 答案 B 

3. Since the two restaurants ________ almost the same food and service, it doesn't matter where you stop to eat. 

 A. offerB. cook   C. prepareD. afford 

offer 提供 

 cook 烹饪 

 prepare 准备 

 afford 付钱 

 答案 A 

4. When he applied for a _______ in the office of the local newspaper, he was told to see the manager. 

 A. profession     B. position C. careerD. location   

profession职业 

 position 职位 

 career 职业 

 location 方位 

She chose an academic career.  答案 B   

5. Margaret was so ________ for news of her lost child that she was almost driven mad. 

 A. careful B. responsible C. thirsty      D. hostile 

careful 仔细的 

 responsible 负责的 

 thirsty 极度渴望的 

 hostile 敌意的 

 答案 C   

6. It is not polite to ________ when someone is making a speech at a meeting like this. 

 A. turn upB. cut in    C. speak outD. stand by   

turn up 来到，露面 

 cut in 打断 

 speak out 大声说 

 stand by 站到……旁边 

 答案 B     

7. The boss _______ angry when I spoke to him on the phone. 

 A. sounded B. lookedC. grew   D. talked 

sounded 听起来 

 looked 看起来 

 grew 变得 

 talked 谈话 

 答案 A 

8. All of her living cost ________2,000 yuan each month. 

 A. gets to B. equals toC. arrives atD. comes at 

get to 到达某地 

 equal的用法： 

 equal: adj. be equal to sth./doing sth. 对某事有力量，勇气，能力等， 能胜任 

 eg. She feels equal to the task. 她认为能胜任该项工作。 

     He's equal to the occasion. 他能应付这一局面。 

    He doesn't seems equal to meeting out demance   

 equal: v. equal sb./ sth. (in sth.) 与某人（某事物）相同或相等 

 eg. He is equaled by no one in kindness. 没有人比他更善良。） 

 arrived at+地点状语 到达某处 

 comes at 达到   

答案 D     

9. Her face is _________ to me, but I can't remember where I saw her. 

 A. similar      B. friendly  C. alikeD. familiar   

similar 相似的 

 friendly 友好的 

 alike 相像的 

 familiar 熟悉的 

 答案 D   

10. Jump in the car. There's enough ________ for you. 

 A. place B. seat C. room D. space 

place 地方 

 seat 座位 

 room 空间 

 space 宇宙空间 

place 指具体地点 

 答案 C 

  11. It wasn't an accident. He did it on ________. 

 A. reasonB. determination      C. purpose      D. intention   

reason 原因 

 determination 决心 

 on purpose 故意 

 intention 目的 

 答案 C   

12. You'll have to pay for the holiday in _______, I'm afraid. 

 A. front      B. advance  C. ahead D. forward 

front 具体位置空间的前方 

 in advance 提前 

 ahead 在……之前，不和in 连用 

 forward 向前 

 答案 B   

13. The bookstore hasn't ordered ________ textbooks for all the students in the course. 

 A. enough     B. plenty  C. as much as     D. a great deal of   

enough 修饰名词，在名词之前 

 plenty+of 

 as much as 不能修饰名词 

 a great deal of 修饰不可数名词。 

 答案 A     

14. As I didn't have any experience, I was ________ problems. 

 A. likely to have      B. probably having 

 C. probable to have    D. likely having   

be likely to do 很可能有…… 

 probably 不接doing接to do 

 it's brobable for sb. that 

 答案 A   

15. David may ________ , but we must go at once. 

 A. stay late     B. stay lately     C. stay a little     D. have stayed very late 

stay late 

stay lately lately 近来 

答案 A   

16. I don't think that your watch is _______. 

 A. worth of the priceB. worth the price 

 C. worthy of the price     D. worthy to buy 

worthy: adj.  a.  be worthy of sth.    

eg. Her achievements are worthy of the highest praise. 她的成就值得给予最高奖赏。 

   b. be worthy to do sth.  

eg. She said she was not worthy to accept the honour they had offered her. 

 worth: adj. a. be worth + n.  

eg. Our house is worth about $ 60,000. 

      b. be worth doing   

eg. The book is worth reading. =It's worth reading the book. 

 n. 值某金额的量  The thieves stole $ 1 million worth of jewellery. 

D选项正确答案：worthy to be bought 

 答案 B   

17. _________, it's very tidy. 

 A. As her room is small   B. Small as her room is 

 C. As small her room is  D. Small as her room   

as引导让步状语从句，句子需要倒状。Young as he is, Jack is already familiar with most of the books 

 答案 B   

18. As _______ as possible he opened the door and went out into the cold December night. 

 A. quietB. quietly  C. quite  D. quietly   

quiet adj.安静的 

 答案 B 

 quite adv.十分，很；quite big   

19. I felt thoroughly ________ in the crowded Manhattan. 

 A. wondered     B. lostC. missed D. separated   

wondered 怀疑 

 lost 迷路 

 missed 丢失 

 separated 分开 

 答案 B   

20. The city has decided to _______ all the old buildings. 

 A. break away fromB. get rid of 

 C. come up with     D. knock down 

break away from  1.挣脱 The prisoner broke away from his guards. 2. 脱离某政党、政府等  A province has broken away to form a new state. 

 get rid of: 摆脱 The shop ordered 20 copies of the book and now it can't get rid of them. 

come up with sth.: 找到或提出（答案、办法等）She came up with a new idea for increasing sales. 

 knock down: 拆除 These old houses are going to be knocked down. 

 答案 D   

21. When the school master is away, Mr. Johnson will be ______ the whole school. 

 A. in charge of   B. in favor of      C. in honor of    D. in regard to   

in charge of: 处于控制或支配的地位， 负责 

 Who's in charge here?这儿谁负责？ 

 He was left in charge of the shop while the manager was away. 

 in favor of sb./sth.: 支持某人/某事 

 Was he in favor of the death penalty? 

in honor of : 出于对某人的敬意 

 a ceremony in honor of those killed in battle  为纪念阵亡将士举行的仪式 

 in/with regard to sb./sth. 关于某人/某事  I have nothing to say with/ in regard to your complaints. 

 答案 A   

22. In his speech he _______ his experience as a teaching assistant. 

 A. returned to    B. referred to      C. stuck to      D. turned to   

return sth.(to sb./sth.): 归还，放回 

 She returned the bird to its cages. 她把鸟放回笼子里 

 Please return me my 5 yuan/ return my five yuan to me. 

 Refer to sb./sth.: 提到，说到或涉及到某人（某事物） 

 When I said some people are stupid, I wasn't referring to you. 

 Don't refer to this matter again, please. 请不要再提这件事。   

stick to sth.: 坚持或维持某事物 

  "Would you like some wine?" 

 "No, I'll stick to beer, thanks." 不，我还是喝啤酒吧。 

 turn to sb.(sth.): 向某人（某事物）寻求帮助 

 She has nobody she can turn to. 她求助无门。 

 The more depressed he got, the more he turned to drink. 

答案 B     

23. He tried his best in the first game, but was ________ by the little boy. 

 A. won  B. hit   C. beaten D. held   

A:win-won-won; 赢得 

 B:hit 打 

 C:beat 打， 

 D: hold-held-held 举行 

 答案 C   

24. I wanted to go home but my wife _______ on going to the concert. 

 A. persisted     B. resistedC. insistedD. intended 

persisted:persist: persist in doing sth.  坚持做某事 

 He will persist in riding that dreadful bicycle.   

 resist+n 抵抗 

intend: intend to do sth. 想要做…… 

 答案 C   

25. The government gave several good ______ for increasing the tax on cigarettes. 

 A. purposesB. reasonsC. questions      D. problems   

purpose 目的 

 reason 原因 

 question 问题 

 problem 问题 

 答案  B   

26. Four people were seriously _______ in the accident. 

 A. injured     B. damagedC. spoiledD. broken 

injure 受伤 

 damage: 表示使被损坏的对象失去或降低其自身价值， 但不完全毁掉。 

   He damaged my car with a stone. 

 ruin: 常强调完全毁掉。 The storm has ruined the garden. 

 spoil: 语气比ruin弱，不强调完全毁掉，表示使被害方失去其完美性。 

      He spoiled his painting by putting too much red paint on it. 

  spoil：有时也包含最终会导致完全毁掉之义。 

      He has spoiled his constitution with bad living. 

 答案 A   

27. He spoke so quickly that I didn't ________ what he said. 

 A. listen      B. catch  C. miss      D. receive 

listen 听 listen to 

 catch 抓住，听到 

 miss 丢失 

 receive 收到   

28. He was poor but proud, and _______ every offer of help. 

 A. turned down B. turned on 

 C. turned off   D. turned out 

turn down 拒绝 

 turn on 打开。turn on the light 开灯 

 turn off 关上。turn off the light 

 turn out 证明为…… 

 答案 A   

29. In Britain, the best season of the year is probably _______ spring. 

 A. later     B. latter   C. last D. late   

later 以后。 

 latter 后者 

 last 最后 

 late 晚的 

 答案 D   

30. How ________ is it from here to the city center? 

 A. long      B. far  C. distant D. near 

 how long 一段延续的时间 

 --How long have you studied English? 

 --I have studied English for 3 years (since 3 years ago). 

答案 B 

31. I wanted to go there by plane but I hadn't enough money to pay for the _____. 

 A. journey      B. distance      C. roadD. way 

journey 旅行 

 distance 距离 

 road 道路 

 way 方式方法 

 答案A   

32. Her parents wouldn't _______ her to stay out later than 10:30 at night. 

 A. require      B. askC. encourageD. permit 

stay out 不回家 

 require 要求 

 ask 要求 

 encourage 鼓励 

 permit 允许 

 答案 D   

33. Last Sunday, ________ my great surprise, I met Bullen in town. 

 A. for B. to  C. as   D. at 

（to one's surprise 使某人感到惊奇） 

 答案 B   

34. Most Chinese like to drink tea. But some prefer coffee ________ tea. 

 A. to B. with C. for   D. against 

prefer……to…… 

 答案 A   

35. I'm in no ________ this evening to listen to his silly jokes. 

 A. feeling      B. attitudeC. opinion      D. mood 

feeling 感情 

 attitude 态度 

 opinion 观点 

 mood 情绪 

 答案 D   

36. Tennis is a _________ invented by an Englishman a hundred years ago. 

 A. play      B. match  C. game  D. event   

play: n. 比赛，竞赛 The tennis players need total concentration during play. 

 match 比赛 

 game 运动 

 event 事件 

 答案 C 

37. That's the biggest ______ he has ever told in his life. 

    A. talk B. speechC. lesson D. lie   

  talk:give/have a talk 谈话 

 speech:make/deliver a speech 做演讲 

 lesson:teach a lesson: 教训 

 learn one's lesson: 汲取教训 

 lie:tell a lie 

 答案 D   

38. _______ that the jewels had been stolen by one of the guards. 

 A. It turned up    B. It turned out     C. It turned on     D. It turned over   

turn up: 露面， 来到  We arranged to meet at the cinema at 7: 30, but he failed to turn up. 

 turn out: turn out to be sb./sth.; turn out that…证明是某人（某物），原来是┄┄ 

 She turned out to be a friend of my sister./ It turned out that she was a friend of my sister. 

turn on 开灯 

 turn (sb./sth.) over: 翻身或翻转 

 She turned over and went to sleep.她转过身就睡着了。 

 答案 B   

39. "I'm tired, but let's go." 

 "Why _______ rest a while?" 

 A. let'sB. not let's  C. not  D. let's not 

答案 C   

40. "We won't be finished until tonight." 

 "And they _______." 

 A. will, either     B. won't, tooC. will, neither    D. won't, either 

答案 D     

41. "________?" 

 "A cup of tea, please." 

 A. Do you like teaB. Do you like a cup of tea 

 C. Would you like a cup of tea      D. What would you like to drink 

答案 D 

42. "Do you mind if I open the window?" 

 "________." 

 A. Sure, certainly not     B. All right 

 C. I don't know  D. Not at all 

答案 D   

词汇考试重点 

考生除在学习中扩大词汇量外，还应注意词语的搭配、近义词的区别以及由同一个词构成的不同词组之间意义的区别。   

1. The news is _______ good to be true. 

    A. so…that    B. much    C. too     D. very(答案 C)   

2.Don't hesitate to _______ me if you are in trouble. 

 A. turn out    B. turn in    C. turn to    D. turn up 

 turn out: a. 证明为 How did the party turn out? It turned out very well, thanks. 

    b. turn sb. out:  赶走某人  My landlord is turning me out at the end of the month. 

 turn in : a. 面朝内  b. go to bed .It's late. I think I'll turn in. 

   c. turn sb. in 将某人交给警方拘押。She threatened to turn him in. 

 turn to: turn to sb. 向某人寻求帮助  The child turned to his mother for comfort. 

 turn up: 露面  We arranaged to meet at the cinema at 7, but she failed to turn up.     

近义词之间的区别在于词的内涵不同。。如，汉语中的"错误"对应着英语中的mistake和fault, 但两个词的内涵不一样， mistake单纯指所犯的错误，而fault则侧重于追究责任。 

 There must be some mistakes in this bill; please add up the figures again.（add up 加起来） 

 Whose fault is it that we're late? 我们迟到是谁的错？（责任在谁）   

有的近义词之间的区别在于词性不同或在句子中的用法不同。 

 1.He likes _______ questions in English classes. 

 A. to rise      B. risingC. to raiseD. to arise 

 rise 不及物动词；arise 不及物动词 呈现出现  A new difficulty has arisen. 出现了新困难。答案 C 

 2.I _________ have coffee than tea. 

 A. like more   B. prefer      C. had better      D. would rather 

 prefer: prefer sth. to sth. 更喜欢某事物。 I prefer walking to cycling. 

 答案 D 

 3.Mary and Jane are twin sisters. They look exactly_________. 

 A. like B. sameC. alike D. same ones 

 A的正确答案应该在后面加名词。答案 C
完型填空 

复习方法 

在专生本考试中，完型填空占20分，10小题，每小题两分 

复习方法： 1. 方法正确；  2. 保证足够的时间（10-15分钟） 

主要考察内容： 对短文的理解；相关的词汇和语法知识 

做题方法：首先通读全文

Passage 1 

  Jeans are the most __1__ kind of clothes in the world. They are popular almost __2__, in Japan, France, Indonesia, Canada and Brazil. Rich people and poor people wear them. Young people and even some old people wear them. Why are they popular? Who made the __3__ jeans? 

 In 1849 two men discovered gold in California. Men from the __4__ of the United States and other countries hurried there to look for gold, too. These miners needed some __5__ clothes. A young man from Germany __6__ Levi Strauss arrived in California in 1850. 

He went there to sell things to the miners. He saw that the miners needed strong pants, so he began to make __7__. He used cloth __8__ people make tents from. He put rivets (铆钉) on the __9__ to make them strong, because the men put rocks in them. These pants were very strong and could __10__ a long time. The pants became very popular immediately. 

1.A. nice  B. unusual C. popular D. beautiful1. 选C 

2.A. every where B. nowhere  C. elsewhere D. somewhere  选A 

3.A. popular B. early  C. first D. latest 选C 

4.A. part  B. some parts  C. many parts  D. other parts  选D 

6.A. name B. names C. namedD. naming  选C 

5.A. soft  B. tough C. kind  D. pretty  选B 

7.A. pantsB. clothes C. it D. them  选A 

8.A. that B. wha  C. the D. those 选A  

本题如果有which, 也可以选。 如果本句为He used cloth from_____ 答案就只能选which 

9.A. pants B. pockets C. clothes  D. jeans选B 

10.A. wear B. useC. wash D. last A的正确答案为 be worn选D  

涉及到上下文的有7道，涉及到语法的有1道 
Passage 2 

     If you judge by the number of people who go to see the games and by the number of those who actually play it, basketball is probably the most popular sport in the United States today. It is mainly __1__ indoor game, and the season extends from late fall, through the winter, until early spring. There are many professional teams, but for the most part basketball is a __2__ sport. There is hardly a high school or college in the country __3__ does not have its team and its loyal following of fans. 

     In spring and summer, the most popular __4__ is baseball. During the warm weather you can see young men and boys playing this game in any part of the country. Radio and television bring the details of big games to every corner of the land, and the activities of the professional teams are a topic of conversation for Americans __5__. 

     In the fall, the most popular sport is football. __6__ you know, this is not the same kind of game that is so popular in other parts of the world. __7__ basketball and baseball, it is typically American, and those who have never seen it before have difficulty __8__ any sense in it. But for most of the spectator (观众)the game itself is not __9__ important as the music, the cheering and the festive spirit that go with it. On a cool, bright autumn afternoon, there is __10__ so colorful and exciting as football game. 

不认识的生词一定要划出来 

1. A. the          B. a              C. an        D. /  

选C    

2.A. campus         B. company

   C. plant              D. school  

选A    

3. A. who        B. why     

    C. when      D. that 

 选D    

4.A. work  B. activity  

   C. games  D. sport 

选D    

5.A. anywhere   B. everywhere   

   C. wherever    D. however  

 选B    

6. A. What      B. For     

    C. Like       D. As  

选D    

7. A. Like   B. As      

    C. Alike      D. Similarly 

 选A    

8. A. see     B. to see   

    C. seeing    D. saw  

 选C    

9. A. that       B. such        

    C. so      D. most  

 选C    

10. A. anything     B. everything  

      C. something   D. nothing        

.选D  

根据上下文能得到答案的有3道，考语法的有5道    
Passage 3 

     Today anyone will accept money in exchange for goods and services. People use money to buy food, furniture, books, bicycles and __1__ other things they need or want. When they work, they usually get __2__ in money. Most of the money today is made of metal or paper. But people used to use all kinds of things as money. One of the first kinds of money was shells. Shells were not the __3__ things used. In China, cloth and knives were used, in the Philippine Islands, rice was used as money for a long time. Elephant tusks, monkey tails, and salt were used as money in parts of __4__. 

     Cattle was one of the earliest kinds of money. Other animals were used as money, too. The first metal coins were made in China. They were round and had a square hole at the center. People strung （串起）them together and carried them from place to place. Different countries have used __5__ metals and designs for their money. The first coins in England were made __6__ tin. Sweden and Russia used copper to make __7__ money. Later, countries began to make coins of gold and silver. 

     But even gold and silver were inconvenient （不方便）if you had to buy something expensive. Again the Chinese thought of a way to improve money. They began to use __8__ money. The first paper money looked more like a personal note from one person to __9__ than the paper money used today. Money has had an interesting __10__ from the days of shell money until today. 

文章的第一句话叫主题句 

1. A. a hundred      B. hundred of   

C. hundreds of  D. a hundred of  

选C    

2. A. pay          B. pays     

C. paying     D. paid  

选D  

be made of  由……构成    

3. A. only     B. early   

    C. most    D. popular 

选A      

4. A. Asia     B. Europe   

    C. Africa D. America 

选C    

5. A. ordinary    B. average   

    C. various        D. different  

选D      

6. A. of        B. from    

    C. with    D. for  

选A  

make of  物理变化              

make from  化学变化  

make with  迅速拿出或提供      

make for  为谁做什么    

7. A. the    B. it    

    C. their    D. his  

选C    

8.A. stone      B. expense 

    C. animal    D. paper 

选D    

9. A. another     B. other       

    C. the other   D. others  

选A    

10. A. story               B. history      

       C. experience   D. development      

选B  

涉及到上下文的有4道，涉及到语法的有4道  
Passage 4 

     Once a group of tourists who were staying at a hotel in Birmingham were having dinner in the restaurant. Fish was brought and while they __1__ it some of them told interesting stories about finding pearls and other valuable things inside fish.  

     An old gentleman, __2__ had listened quietly to their conversation, rose and said: "I've heard all your stories, and now I'll tell you __3__. When I was a young man I was working in a large importing company in New York. Before long, I __4__ in love with a pretty young girl. Very soon we were engaged. But just two months before our marriage, I was suddenly sent to Birmingham on very important business. I left my sweetheart, __5__ to write to her." 

     "I was obliged to staying in Birmingham longer than I had __6__. __7__ last my work was done, and just before I left for home, I bought a beautiful and very expensive diamond ring, intending to give it to my sweetheart." 

    "On my way to New York, I was looking through the morning newspaper when I saw an announcement of my sweetheart's marriage with another man. This made me so angry __8__ I threw the ring overboard （向船外）. A few days __9__ when I was eating a fish, I bit something hard. What do you think __10__?"         

1. A. eat   B. ate   C. had eaten   D. were eating 

1. 选D 

2. A. who      B. whom        C. that         D. which 

2. 选A 

3. A. a story   B. one story   C. the story   D. one 

3. 选D 

4. A. fall       B. fell     C. feel        D. felt 

4. 选B 


 be engaged to sb.  和某人订婚 

5. A. agreeing  B. agree  C. promising   D. promise 

5. 选C 

6. A. seen    B. replied   C. promised   D. expected 

6. 选D 

7. A. From    B. At       C. In          D. On 

7. 选B 

8. A. than    B. that    C. as      D. to 

8. 选B 

9. A. late     B. later   C. latter   D. latest 

9. 选B 

10. A. is it   B. was it  C. it is     D. it was 

10. 选D 涉及到语法的有6道   
Passage 5 

    Two or three times a week, she had a customer in whom she began to take an interest. He was a __1__ man with glasses and a brown beard. He spoke English with a strong German __2__. His clothes were worn and wrinkled, but he looked neat and had very good manners. He always bought two loaves of stale bread. He never asked for anything __3__ stale bread; it cost a lot less than fresh bread. 

    Once Miss Albert __4__ a red and brown stain （污点）on his finger. She was sure __5__ he was an artist and very poor. No doubt he lived in an attic （阁楼），__6__ he painted pictures and ate stale bread and thought of good things to eat in the bakery. 

    Often when Miss Albert sat down to her evening meal, she would sigh and wish the artist might share her food __7__ eating his dry bread. One day the customer came in __8__ usual and asked for his stale bread. As the sudden noise of the fire engine made him __9__ to the door, Miss Albert seized her opportunity. She cut each of the loaves with a knife, inserted （塞进）some butter and, when the customer turned round, she __10__ them into a paper bag.       

1. A. middle age  B. middle-age   C. middle-aged   D. middle age's 

1. 选C 

2. A. wound       B. voice        C. tone           D. accent 

2. 选D  

3. A. but    B. although   C. while    D. however 

3. 选A 

4. A. discovered   B. found   C. inspected    D. noticed 

4. 选D 

5. A. about   B. of       C. that         D. if 

5. 选C  

6. A. which    B. where   C. when     D. whom 

6. 选B 

7. A. not   B. never     C. in spite of  D. instead of 

7. 选D 

8. A. as   B. such      C. so       D. much 

8. 选A 

9. A. hurry     B. to hurry  C. hurrying    D. hurried 

9. 选A 

10. A. has put  B. had been put  C. put     D. was putting 

10. 选D 

涉及到语法的有4道，其他的为习惯用语   
Passage 6 

    A Nobel Prize is one of the most highly regarded international honors a person can receive. These prizes were named __1__ Alfred Nobel, a Swedish chemist and inventor. The first Nobel Prizes were __2__ in 1901, five years after Nobel's death. Many famous people from all over the world have been awarded Nobel Prizes for their __3__. There are five different prizes: three in various sciences, one for literature, and the Peace Prize. 

Alfred Nobel became a very wealthy man, as a result of his inventions. He used part of his __4__ to invest in oil and became even more __5__. However, in spite of his great wealth, he was not a happy man. He never married or had children. He died in 1896 and __6__ all his money in a trust fund. This money __7__ by a group of people who run the Nobel Foundation. The Nobel Foundation holds the money and gives the prizes. 

    Alfred Nobel became a very wealthy man, as a result of his inventions. He used part of his __4__ to invest in oil and became even more __5__. However, in spite of his great wealth, he was not a happy man. He never married or had children. He died in 1896 and __6__ all his money in a trust fund. This money __7__ by a group of people who run the Nobel Foundation. The Nobel Foundation holds the money and gives the prizes. 

    The prizes are awarded by the Nobel Foundation for outstanding achievements every five years. A prize is given in chemistry, physics, medicine or physiology, literature and __8__. Each prize had three __9__. The first part is a gold medal. Second, a winner of a Nobel Prize is given a diploma saying that he has been awarded the prize. The third part is a large __10__ of money. 

1. A. with    B. for  C. after     D. to 

1. 选C 

2. A. won   B. got     C. awarded  D. rewarded 

2. 选C 

3. A. results   B. achievements  C. progress D. discoveries 

3. 选B 

4. A. money   B. fame      C. honour    D. success 

4. 选A 

5. A. worthy  B. wealthy   C. valuable   D. rich 

5. 选B 

6. A. sent    B. gave      C. handed    D. left 

6. 选D 

7. A. hold     B. held       C. is held    D. is holding 

7. 选C 

8. A. maths    B. peace    C. arts     D. economics 

8. 选B 

9. A. items    B. pieces    C. parts    D. sections 

9. 选C 

10. A. deal     B. number   C. amount  D. quantity 

10. 选C 

涉及到上下文的有6道   
Passage 7 

    Hans Christian Anderson （安徒生）was born in a town in __1__ in 1805. His father was a kind but poor shoemaker. When Hans was a little boy, his father __2__ spend hours telling him stories. His father loved him very much. __3__ for young Hans, his father died soon after, and his mother married again. 

    In school Hans was not interested in his lessons. Much of his time __4__ in writing plays and stories. Hans was very unhappy __5__ his teachers and classmates often made fun of him and before long, he left school. A few years later he went __6__. While in London, he met Charles Dickens who, like Hans, had a difficult childhood. After his return from Italy, he wrote a highly successful novel called The Improvisatore, __7__ told of the hard life of a young poet. 

    While waiting for the book __8__, Hans wrote four stories for children just to make some money. __9__ his surprise, the public liked his fairy tales better than his novels or poems. Slowly his fame __10__ a writer of children's stories spread far and wide. When he died in 1875, he was a national hero. In the King's Garden in Copenhagen, there is a statue of him reading a book. The house where he was born is now a museum. Hans Christian Anderson is like the Ugly Duckling in his fairy story--where after sorrow and hardship, it finally became a swan.      

1.A. England        B. America        C. Denmark      D. Italy 

1. 选C 

2.A. used to        B. was used to   C. got used to  D. ought to 

2. 选A 

3.A. Unfortunately  B. Painfully        C. Miserably    D. Sorry 

3. 选A 

use to do sth./take to do sth./wast sth. on sb.(sth.) 

4.A. was taken   B. was used   C. was wasted   D. was spent 

4. 选D 

5.A. because     B. and     C. since     D. as 

5. 选A 

6.A. out      B. away     C. abroad    D. off 

6. 选C 

7.A. it        B. this    C. that      D. which 

7. 选D 

8.A. to be printed  B. printed  C. printing   D. to print 

8. 选A 

9.A. In     B. To      C. With      D. By 

9. 选B 

10.A. from       B. for      C. like       D. as 

10. 选D 

where=in which 

涉及到上下文的有4，6，涉及到语法的有4道   
Passage 8 

    Vilma likes traveling by bus better than traveling by airplane for four reasons. First, it costs __1__. She can ride by bus from New York to Chicago for $20. Yet, the air fare between the two cities is $28. __2__, traveling by bus gives her a closer look at the cities and countryside than she could get from a plane. For example, she enjoys __3__ through the big cities of Philadelphia, Pittsburgh, and Fort Woyne. Third, Vilma finds that __4__ on the bus are often closer to her own age. __5__ they are easy to talk with. In contrast, many airline passengers are __6__ who keep busy with their work while flying. Fourth, riding a bus allows Vilma to explore any stop along the way. __7__, once she got off the bus at a small town in Indiana and __8__ the night with a girl friend. Then, the next day she took __9__ bus to Chicago. For these reasons, Vilma usually prefers buses instead of planes __10__ she has to get somewhere in a hurry.           

第一句，主题句 

1.A. much        B. little      C. some         D. less 

1. 选D 

2.A. So          B. Second   C. But           D. However 

2. 选B 

3.A. driving      B. to drive   C. being driven  D. driven 

3. 选A 

4.A. customers  B. guests    C. visitors       D. passengers 

4. 选D 


5.A. Similarly     B. After all      C. So            D. Yet 

5. 选C 

6.A. teachers    B. businessmen  C. reporters     D. workers 

6. 选B 

explore  探索，探究 

7.A. Moreover   B. Therefore  C. thus      D. For instance 

7. 选D 

8.A. talked      B. slept        C. stopped  D. spent 

8. 选D 

9.A. the other  B. another   C. one      D. an other 

9. 选B 

10.A. until        B. when     C. unless    D. because 

10. 选C 

涉及到上下文的有6道   
Passage 9 

    Mr. Brown has an umbrella shop in a small town. People sometimes brought him __1__ umbrellas, and then he took __2__ to a big shop in London, __3__ they were mended. Several days later, Mr. Brown went there and got them back. 

    A few weeks ago, Mr. Brown went to London by train. He forgot __4__ an umbrella with him that day. Sitting in front of him __5__ a man with an umbrella standing by the seat. When the train arrived in London, Mr. Brown and the man stood up. In a hurry, Mr. Brown picked up the umbrella __6__ he often did during his trip by train. Just as he was getting off, he __7__ by the man, who said angrily, "That's __8__!" Mr. Brown apologized and gave it back to him. 

    Then Mr. Brown went directly to the __9__. The people there had got his six umbrellas ready. After a close look at each of them, he said, "You've mended them very well." 

    In the afternoon he went to the station and got into the train again. The __10__ man was in the same seat. He looked at Mr. Brown and his six umbrellas. "You've had a good day," he said.         

首先通读全文 

第一句话为主题句 

1.A. good  B. better  C. best     D. broken 

1. 选D 

2.A. them  B. it       C. this      D. these 

2. 选A 

3.A. here  B. where   C. which    D. when 

3. 选B 

4.A. takes  B. take   C. taking   D. to take 

4. 选D 

5.A. /      B. is      C. was     D. there 

5. 选C  

6.A. as     B. like    C. that     D. for 

6. 选A 

7.A. called     B. passed    C. was stopped    D. was gone 

7. 选C 

8.A. you   B. me      C. my      D. mine 

8. 选D 

9.A. umbrella   B. big shop     C. man     D. city 

9. 选B 

 10.A. big        B. angry        C. same    D. standing 

10. 选C 涉及到上下文的有6道，涉及到语法的有4道   
Passage 10 

    Almost everyone has some kind of hobby. It may be __1__ from collecting stamps to making model airplanes. Some hobbies are very __2__, but others don't cost anything at all. Some collections are worth a lot of money; others are valuable only to their owners. 

    I know a man who has a coin collection worth several thousand dollars. A short time ago he bought a rare fifty-cent piece __3__ 250! He was very happy about his collection and thought the __4__ was reasonable. __5__ the other hand, my younger brother __6__ match boxes. He has almost 600 of them but I doubt if they are worth __7__ money. However, to my brother they are very valuable. Nothing makes him __8__ than to find a new match box for his collection. 

    That's __9__ a hobby means, I think. it is something we like to do in our spare time simply for the __10__ of it.                

1.A. something     B. everything   C. anything     D. nothing 

1. 选A 

2.A. cheap         B. expensive    C. interesting   D. instructive 

2. 选B 

3.A. worthy  B. worthless   C. valuable   D. worth 

3. 选D 

4.A. price    B. piece        C. coin      D. money 

4. 选A 

5.A. At      B. In            C. By        D. On 

5. 选D 

6.A. to collect     B. collects  C. collect    D. collecting 

6. 选B 

7.A. some      B. not       C. any     D. many 

7. 选C 

8.A. more happy   B. happier   C. happiest  D. happily 

8. 选B 

9.A. how       B. what     C. which    D. why 

9. 选B 

10.A. price      B. reason   C. value    D. fun 

10. 选D 

涉及到上下文有2道，涉及到语法的有4道   
Passage 11 

    In a big English dictionary there are more than half a million __1__. No one knows or uses all those words -- no one, that it, has __2__ a big vocabulary. By the time a child starts to school he usually knows __3__ 2,000 and 3,000 words. His vocabulary grows. A well-educated grown person may have vocabulary of 50,000 words. 

    In the encyclopedia（百科全书）, there are about 77,000 different words. Any boy __4__ girl who understands all at least has 77,000 words. Of course, some of the words he can read he would not use __5__ writing or speaking. As a matter of fact, everyone who has learned to read and write has __6__ vocabularies: his speaking vocabulary, his writing vocabulary, and his reading vocabulary. A person's reading vocabulary is usually biggest, and his speaking vocabulary __7__. 

    Many people have studied vocabularies. There are lists of the commonest 500 words, 1,000 words, 2,000 words, and so on. A person could get on surprisingly well with the 1,000 commonest words. 

    But no one wants to get along __8__ the smallest vocabulary that will do. He can get his ideas across better if he has a good vocabulary. And he can have __9__ more fun from reading. Many people set out to make their vocabularies bigger. A good way is to __10__ in the dictionary any new words one comes across. Another is to make a point of using new words.                      

1.A. words   B. phrases   C. expressions   D. sentences 

1. 选A 

2.A. such    B. as         C. that      D. this 

2. 选A 

3.A. among   B. from    C. both     D. between 

3. 选D 

4.A. and    B. or    C. to     D. with 

4. 选B 

5.A. in      B. at    C. to     D. on 

5. 选A 

6.A. following    B. three   C. all      D. different 

6. 选B 

7.A. big    B. bigger  C. small   D. smallest 

7. 选D 

8.A. /  B. with   C. on      D. in 

8. 选B 

9.A. few  B. little   C. much   D. further 

9. 选C 

10.A. look for   B. look out   C. look up   D. look at 

10. 选C 

涉及到上下文的有5道，涉及到语法的有3道   
Passage 12 

    Most dictionaries will tell you a number of __1__ about a language. There are three things in particular that __2__ important. These three things are spelling, pronunciation, and meanings. 

    The first and most obvious thing is that a dictionary will __3__ you the spelling of a word. If you're not sure about the spelling of a word, you can try to find the correct spelling in a dictionary. Words are listed in alphabetical order-a, b, c, and so on. For example, on a dictionary page the word "poor" - p, o, o, r - comes before "poverty" - p, o, v, e, r, t, y and the word "poverty" comes __4__ the word "power" - p, o, w, e, r. The words are always given in alphabetical order. 

    The second thing a dictionary will tell you is __5__. Most dictionaries give the pronunciation of a word in a special kind of alphabet. This special alphabet is called a phonetic, or sound alphabet. The phonetic spelling will tell you generally __6__ a word is pronounced. There are a few different phonetic alphabets. Many dictionaries use the International Phonetic Alphabet to show pronunciation.     The __7__ thing a dictionary will tell you is the meanings of words. You can __8__ a word and find out what it means. Many words have more than one meaning, and a good dictionary will explain all of the word's meanings. For example, in English the common word "get" has over 20 different meanings. The meaning, of course,  __9__ the sentence in which the word is used. 

    These three things-spelling, pronunciation, and meanings--are some of the important __10__ that you learn from dictionaries.               

1.  A. thing          B. people        C. things           D. books 

1. 选C 

2.  A. is             B. were          C. was             D. are 

2. 选D 3.  A. say          B. tell            C. give              D. speak 

3. 选B 

4.  A. before  B. after   C. in front of    D. behind 

in front of(方位的前面：eg. in front of the building) 

4. 选D 

5.  A. pronunciation  B. intonation(语调)   C. spelling  D. meanings 

5. 选A 

6.  A. what           B. which             C. where   D. how 

6. 选D 

7.  A. first         B. second       C. third       D. the last 

7. 选C 

8.  A. look at      B. find    C. see         D. look up 

look up（look up the word in the dictionary） 

8. 选D 

9.  A. depend   B. depends on   C. depend on   D. is depending 

9. 选B 

10. A. facade    B. facts             C. faces           D. fact 

facade(外表，尤指虚伪的eg. a facade of indifference 假装冷漠) 

10. 选B 

涉及到上下文的有6道，涉及到语法的有2道
Passage 13 

    Cars are __1__ important part of life in the United States. Without a car most people feel that they are poor. And even if a person is poor he doesn't feel really poor when he has a car.

    Henry Ford was the man who first started making cars in large __2__. He probably didn't know how much the car was going to __3__ American culture. The car made the United States a nation on wheels. And it helped make the United States what it is today.

    There are three main reasons the car __4__ so popular in the United States. First of all, the country is a huge one and Americans like to move around in it. The car provides __5__ comfortable and cheapest form of all the means of transportation. With a car people can go to any place without spending a lot of money.

    The second reason cars are popular is the fact that the United States has never really __6__ an efficient and inexpensive form of public transportation. Long-distance trains have never been as common in the United States as they are in other parts of the world. Nowadays there is a good system of air service __7__ by planes. But it is too expensive to be used frequently.

    The third reason is the most important one, though. The American spirit of independence is __8__ really made cars popular. Americans don't like to wait for a bus, or a train or even a plane. They don't like to have to __9__ an exact schedule. A car gives them the freedom to schedule their own time. And this is __10__ that Americans want most to have.
1.  A. the       B. an        C. a           D. not

1. 选B

number  (1) 号码、数字 eg. My telephone number is 622998.

  (2) 数量、数额，可用单数或复数形式，主语前有形容词时，动词用复数。

   Eg. A large number of people have applied.很多人都申请了。

         The enemy won by force of numbers.敌人以人多获胜。

      The number of the people going abroad is increasing.

amount of sth.与不可数名词连用。

（1）总额、总数   eg. Can you really afford this amount?

 (2 ) 大量的工作、钱、家具eg. Food was provided in varying amounts. 食物供应多少不等。

本题：英语可说in a large number, in a big amount, in large numbers, in large amounts.

2.  A. number   B. amount   C. numbers    D. members

2. 选C

affect  为动词，表示影响。

effect  为名词，表示"作用、效果"。

3.  A. affects  B. effect    C. affected   D. affect

3. 选D

become  表示某一点的动作，通过上下文判断这一动作以结束，所以用became

4.  A. became    B. started  C. becomes  D. grow

4. 选A

5.  A. the more  B. better   C. the most  D. fastest

5. 选C

6.  A. developing  B. developed  C. development  D. develop

6. 选B

7.  A. provided    B. supply      C. offer         D. providing

7. 选A

8.  A. which    B. that         C. what           D. where

8. 选C

9.  A. go       B. act          C. follow          D. carry out

follow只能与schedule搭配。follow 有"遵守"的意思。

carry out 的意思为"实行"，"执行"。carry out常与policy, reform, plan, project等连用。

eg. The construction team was asked to follow the blueprint strictly in order to carry out the project smoothly.  

9. 选

10.  A. freedom B. democracy   C. the freedom   D. the democracy

10. 选C

涉及到上下文的有1道，涉及到语法的有6道
Passage 14

    What is the biggest city in the world? That is, __1__ city has the largest population? This seems like __2__ question to answer, but actually it isn't.

    It's actually rather difficult to say which cities __3__ the largest. There are two reasons for this difficulty. First of all, it isn't easy to determine a city's boundaries, that is, where a city ends. Nowadays, nearly all cities have a large __4__ area around them. So when we talk about the population of a city, we often mean the population of the whole metropolitan area around the city. That means that it's difficult to determine what the population of a city is because it's difficult to define what a city is.

    The second reason that it is difficult to __5__ the population of different cities is this: it is almost impossible to get __6__ about the population of all cities for the same year. For example, we might get an estimate of New York's population in 1979 and an __7__ of Mexico City's population in 1981. So we really can't compare the numbers because the information is for __8__ different years. And the population of cities changes rather quickly, especially in some cases. For example, the population of Beijing, China may increase by 5% each year, so the population figure will change rather quickly.

    So we can say that these are our two __9__ for comparing the populations of cities: one, it's difficult to determine the __10__ of a city, and two, it is difficult to get accurate information.
1.  A. what  B. which    C. where   D. how

1. 选B

2.  A. a difficult  B. a troublesome  C. easy    D. an easy

2. 选D

3.  A. are     B. were    C. is          D. was

3. 选A

4.  A. city    B. urban    C. suburban   D. countryside

countryside: 乡村、农村

The English countryside looks at its best in spring.

4. 选

5.  A. compile       B. compare    C. conduct     D. conclusion

compile  收集、编辑

The police have compiled a list of suspects.

conduct  领导、控制

I asked the attendant to conduct him to the door.

5. 选B 

6.  A. informations  B. knowledge  C. background  D. information

information  是不可数名词。

6. 选D

7.  A. estimated    B. count  C. calculate   D. estimate

7. 选D

8.  A. one          B. two    C. three       D. four

8. 选B

9.  A. questions     B. answers   C. solutions  D. problems

question和problem的中文意思均为"问题"，但question指需要对方回答的问题，如：

My question is what language is spoken in Spain.

problem指需要解决的问题。如：

It will be a big problem if you are always satisfied with what you have got.

9. 选D

10.  A. limits         B. end         C. limit       D. edge

limit: 表示界限、界线时，常用复数。如：

within the city limits在该城范围内

end: 末端、尽头。如：

the end of a road 路的终点

the house at the end of the street在街道尽头的房子

edge: 边缘。如：

He fell off the edge of the cliff.他从悬崖边上摔下来了。

(fall-fell-fallen)

10. 选A

涉及到上下文的有6道，语法的有1道
Passage 15

    There have been many great __1__. The first great invention was one that is still very important today--the wheel. This made it easier to carry __2__ things and to travel long distances.

    In the early 1800s the world __3__ to change. There was little unknown land left in the world. People did not have to explore much any more. They began to work instead to make life better.

In the second half of the 19th century many great inventions were made. Among them were the camera, the electric light and the radio. These all became a big part __4__ our life today.

    The first part of the 20th century saw more great inventions: the helicopter in 1909, movies with sound in 1926, the computer in 1928, and jet planes in 1930. This was also a time __5__ a new material was first made. Nylon came out in 1935. It changed the kind of clothes people wore.

    The middle part of the 20th century brought new ways to help people __6__ disease. They worked very well. They made people healthier and let them live __7__ lives. By the 1960's most people could expect to live to be at least 60.

    By this time most people had a very good life. Of course new inventions continued to be made. Man began __8__ ways to go into space. Russia made the first step. Then the United States took a step. Since then other countries, including China and Japan, have made their steps into space.

    In 1969 man took his biggest step away from earth. Americans first walked on the moon. This is certainly just a __9__ though. New inventions will someday allow us to do things we have never yet __10__.
1.  A. discoveries    B. creations   C. invention  D. inventions

1. 选D

2.  A. heavy          B. light       C. clumsy     D. smart

此题为逻辑思维题。本题有easier, carry, 表明"携带┄┄更方便"，经过推理，heavy 最合适。

clumsy  （指工具、家具等）难用的，难移动的，设计欠佳的。

eg. It's not easy walking in these clumsy shoes.

穿着这双笨重的鞋走路真难受。

2. 选A

3.  A. begin   B. open  C. started  D. start

3. 选C

be/become a part of sth.

4.  A. in      B. for    C. to        D. of

4. 选D

time在定语从句中做时间状语

这个定语从句所修饰的先行词是time

5.  A. while   B. when  C. where    D. at

while 和 when 的区别在于while常与进行时态的动词连用，when常与一般时态的动词连用。

eg. He fell asleep while (he was) doing his homework.

  I always remember the time when we spent in New York last year.

5. 选B

6.  A. over    B. come     C. get over  D. get back

get over sth.  克服、战胜、掌握

6. 选C

7.  A. longer  B. shorter    C. long      D. short

go by  (1) （时间）过去、消逝eg. The weeks went slowly by. 一星期一星期慢慢过去了。

(2 ) go by sth.  遵照或依照某事物eg. That's a good rule to go by.那是要遵守的好规则。

7. 选A

8.  A. going by  B. liking    C. looking for   D. studying

8. 选C

9.  A. begin     B. beginning   C. began         D. starting

starting的错误是因为 start本身是名词。

例如：We won't finish the job today but we'll have made a good start.这工作我们今天是做不完的，但可以开个好头。

9. 选

10. A. dreamed  B. dreaming   C. to dream of   D. dreamed of

dream of/about doing sth.  想象、幻想，或梦想某事物。

eg. He dreams of one day becoming a famous violinist.

    他梦想有朝一日成为著名的小提琴家。

10. 选D

涉及到上下文的有2道，涉及到语法的有3道
Passage 16

    Many teachers believe that the responsibilities for learning lie with the student. If a long reading assignment is given, instructors expect students to be with the __1__ in the reading even if they don't discuss it in class or take an examination. The ideal student is considered to be __2__ who is motivated (激发) to learn for the sake of __3__, not the one interested only in getting high grades. Sometimes homework is returned with brief written comments but without a grade. Even if a grade is not given, the student is responsible for learning the material assigned.

    When research is __4__ , the professor expects the student to take it actively and to complete it with minimum guidance. It is the student's responsibility to find books, magazines, and articles in the library. Professors do not have the time to explain __5__ a university library works; they expect students, particularly graduate students, to be able to exhaust the reference sources in the library. Professors will help students who need it , but __6__ that their students should not be too dependent on them. 

    In the United States professors have many other duties __7__ teaching, such as administrative or research work. __8__, the time that a professor can spend with a student outside of class is limited. If a student has problems with classroom work, the student should either __9__ a professor during office hours __10__ make an appointment.
1.  A. suggestion  B. context     C. abstract    D. information

1. 选D

2.  A. such        B. one          C. any         D. some

2. 选B

for the sake of  为┄┄好处、出于┄┄之兴趣

3.  A. fun       B. work         C. learning     D. prize

3. 选C

4.  A. collected  B. distributed   C. assigned    D. finished

4. 选C

assign  分配任务、工作给某人

eg. The teacher has assigned each of us a holiday task.

distribute  分发、分配某事物，把┄┄分发给

5.  A. when   B. what    C. why   D. how

5. 选D

graduate  在英式英语中是本科生，研究生为postgraduate students

         在美式英语中graduate students指的是研究生，

                      undergraduate students指本科生。

6.  A. hate    B. dislike   C. like    D. prefer

like, hate, dislike都不能跟宾语从句。

prefer  比较喜欢、宁愿，可跟宾语从句。

be dependent on sb.  依靠某人

to be independent  独立的

Prefer doing to doing

eg. I prefer walking to cycling.

7.  A. but       B. except      C. with          D. besides

but/ except  eg. Isn't there anything but/ except mountains?

7. 选D

8.  A. However  B. Therefore  C. Furthermore  D. Nevertheless

therefore  因此

furthermore  此外，而且

nevertheless  然而

8. 选B

9.  A. greet  B. annoy    C. approach    D. attach

approach  接近

eg. As you approach the town the first building you see is the church.接近那座城市的时候，首先看到的是教堂。

attach  依附某人  

9. 选C

10. A. or      B. and      C. to           D. but

10. 选A

涉及到上下文的有3道
Passage 17

    In the past, man didn't have to think about the protection of his environment. There were few people on the earth, and natural resources seemed to be unlimited.

    Today things are __1__. The world has become too crowded. We are using up our natural resources too quickly, and at the same time we are __2__ our environment with dangerous chemicals. If we continue to do this, human life on the earth will not survive.

    Everyone realizes today that if too many fish are taken from the sea, there will soon be none left. Yet, with modern fishing __3__ more and more fish are caught. We know that if too many trees are cut down, __4__ will disappear and nothing will grow on the land. Yet, we __5__ to use bigger and more powerful machines to __6__ more and more trees.

   We realize that if rivers are polluted with waste products from factories, we will die. __7__, in most countries wastes are still put into rivers or into the sea, and there are __8__ laws to stop this.

    We know, too, that if the __9__ of the world continues to rise at the present rate, in a few years, there will not be enough food. What can we do to solve these problems?

    If we eat more vegetables and less meat, there will be more food available for anyone. Land that is used to grow crops __10__ five times more people than land where animals are kept.

    Our natural resources will use longer if we learn to recycle them. The world population will not rise so quickly if people use modern methods of birth control.

    Finally, if we educate people to think about the problems, we shall have a better and cleaner earth in the future.

1.  A. common     B. the same  C. changeable  D. different

1. 选D

use sth. up  用尽（材料等）

eg. I've used up all the glue.  我把胶水全用光了。

eg. She used up the chicken bones to make soup.

2.  A. protecting  B. saving     C. polluting     D. fighting

2. 选C

with  随着  

eg. Skill comes with experience. 经验越多，技巧越熟练。

eg. Good wine will improve with age. 佳酿越陈越醇。

3.  A. poles      B. boats     C. methods  D. ideas

3. 选C

4.  A. mountains  B. the sea  C. trees     D. forests

4. 选D

5.  A. continue   B. have   C. ought    D. stop

5. 选A

6.  A. grow      B. plant   C. save     D. cut down

6. 选D

7. A. Thus      B. However   C. Generally speaking  D. Therefore

7. 选B

8. A. too many  B. a few      C. some               D. few

8. 选D

9.  A. production   B. pollution   C. population   D. revolution

9. 选C

available  （指物）可用的或可得到的

eg. Tickets are available at the box office. 票房有票。

  You will be informed when the book becomes available.

  这本书有货时就通知你。

10. A. feeds   B. increases   C. supplies   D. helps

10. 选A

涉及到上下文的有2道
Passage 18

    If you were shopping __1__ a record, a sweater, and a birthday gift for a friend, would you want to go from store to store or would you rather buy everything in one place __2__ you could?

    A department store __3__ for sale, under one roof, almost anything you would want to buy. This kind of store saves people trouble and time. They do not have to visit many different stores to buy __4__ they want. Since department stores need great __5__ of customers to do enough business to make a profit (赢利), they are usually found in cities with large populations.

    Not all department stores are exactly the same. Some meet the needs of rich people and __6__ mostly expensive products of the best quality. __7__ depend on people with less money for their business and __8__ expensive goods.

    Department store sell thousands of different kinds of things, __9__ some offer a more complete selection __10__ others.

shop for sth.  通常go shopping for sth.  去买东西、购买

eg. I'm shopping for Christmas presents.

1.  A. on       B. in       C. for      D. to

1. 选C

2.  A. until     B. if       C. unless   D. before

2. 选B

3.  A. offers   B. looks   C. works   D. plans

for sale  待售

eg. She has put her house up for sale.  她的房子现在出售。

on sale  （尤指商店等的货物）出售、上市

The new model is not on sale in the shops. 这种新款式商店尚未上市

3. 选A

4.  A. when   B. what      C. which   D. where

4. 选B

a great deal of + 不可数名词

a large amount of + 不可数名词

a number of + 可数名词

可说 a large crowd

5.  A. crowd  B. numbers   C. deal    D. amount

5. 选B

carry  （指商店）出售（某物），有货

I'm sorry, this shop doesn't carry cigarettes.对不起，本店不卖香烟。

6.  A. give    B. buy   C. lay     D. carry

6. 选D

7.  A. Few    B. All    C. Many   D. Others

7. 选D

8.  A. little    B. less  C. much   D. more

8. 选B

9. A. but    B. as     C. since   D. for

9. 选A

10. A. than   B. from   C. to      D. for

10. 选A

涉及到上下文的和语法的各1道，其他的要根据文章的意思推断
Passage 19

    Mr. Steward was a rich industrialist, but he was not __1__ with his life. He didn't sleep well and his food didn't agree with him. The situation lasted for some time. At last, after a __2__ of sleepless nights, he decided to see his doctor. The doctor advised a change of surroundings. "Go abroad," he said. "But I'm not good at foreign languages" said Mr. Steward. "It doesn't matter, " said the doctor. "It won't hurt you to talk a little less. Start on a long journey by sea. Try to __3__ your weight. Avoid rich food." Mr. Steward went to Sweden.

    He didn't know French or German, and had to communicate through gestures (手势). He attended a physical training course. The teacher made him move his arms and shake his head fully. He had to lie on the ground and __4__ his right and left legs alternately. After a time his muscles grew hard and firm. He almost put aside his financial worries and almost forgot the importance of __5__ more money. He even began to __6__ trees and birds. He ate and slept well. __7__ he returned home. But unfortunately his improvement was __8__ soon he was worried about his __9__, his profits, his savings, his success in a __10__ society, and things in general.
1.  A. good    B. interested   C. satisfied   D. healthy

1. 选C

agree with sb.  尤用于否定句中或疑问句（对某人的健康或胃口）适合。

eg. The humid climate didn't agree with him. 那潮湿的气候对他不合适

I like mushrooms but unfortunately they don't agree with me.

series  一系列事物 eg. a series of good harvests 接连的丰收

a number of  一些

2.  A. series   B. course      C. number     D. few

few adj.  (通常作定语) 与复数可数名词和动词复数形式连用

2. 选C

3.  A. lighten  B. deduce      C. minus       D. reduce

lighten  （使某物）变轻 eg. lighten a burden

deduce  推断

minus  减法

reduce  减去

3. 选D

4.  A. rise       B. raise      C. remove   D. extend

rise  vi.

raise\ vt. 

extend  伸长、延长

4. 选B

5.  A. creating  B. producing  C. making    D. taking

create  创造

make  赚得、获得、取得

eg. She makes $15,000 a year. 她一年挣1万5千美圆。

He made a fortune by the stock market. 他在股票交易中发了财。

5. 选C

6.  A. see     B. notice   C. glance        D. consider

6. 选B

7.  A. Luckily  B. Finally   C. Reluctantly   D. Pleasantly

Reluctantly  不情愿的

7. 选B

8. A. gradual    B. temporary   C. great      D. slight

8. 选B

9. A. property  B. health        C. food       D. fancy

9. 选A

10. A. struggling B. business     C. miserable   D. competitive

business  n.   commercial  adj.

10. 选D

Passage 20

    About a hundred years ago, a baby tiger was found in a wild forest in India. At that time, a ship was just getting ready to sail for England and so it was decided that he should __1__ to London.

    In those days there were no steamships, and it took many __2__ for a ship to sail from India to England. The Little tiger soon __3__ himself at home on board the ship and he was liked by everyone.

    He was not __4__ to do any harm, and so he was allowed to run __5__ as he wished. He was always ready for a game with anyone who had time to play. He slept with the sailors. He took his food __6__ their hands. He raced with them on the deck.

    He was very fond of meat, and now and then he would steal a piece from the cook's room. One day a cook __7__ him, just as he __8__ a piece of meat, and gave him a good beating. But after that he was __9__ friendly to the cook as to anyone __10__.
1.  A. go      B. sail     C. be sent   D. be passed

1. 选C

2.  A. months B. goods  C. time       D. times

2. 选A

3.  A. got     B. kept   C. made       D. took

made 常见的用法：make oneself at home

3. 选C

4.  A. glad     B. willing     C. eager      D. large enough

4. 选D

5.  A. across  B. about     C. back       D. out

run across  偶然碰见

5. 选B

6.  A. on       B. from      C. of         D. within

6. 选B

race with/ against sb.  参加速度竞赛

eg. The lorries were racing against each other.

    一辆辆的卡车在争先恐后地行使。

be fond of  喜欢

7.  A. caught   B. realized    C. invited      D. had seen

7. 选A

8.  A. ate      B. had eaten  C. had stolen  D. was stealing

8. 选D

9.  A. such     B. that        C. as          D. so

9. 选C

10.  A. else      B. as well     C. too         D. either

10. 选A
Passage 21

   A language is a signalling system which operates with symbolic vocal sounds, and which is used by a group of people for the purpose of communication.

    Let us look at this definition __1__ more detail because it is language, more __2__ anything else, that distinguishes man from the vest of the animal world.

    Other animals communicate __3__ one another by means of cries: for example, many birds utter warning calls at the approach of danger; apes utter different __4__, such as expressions of danger, fear and pleasure. But these various means of communication differ in important ways from human language. For instance, animals' cries are not articulate. This means, basically, that they lack structure. They lack, for example, the kind of structure __5__ by the contrast between vowels and consonants. They also lack the kind of structure that __6__ us to divide a human utterance into words.

    We can change an utterance __7__ replacing one word in it by another: a good illustration of this is a soldier __8__ can say, e.g. , "tanks approaching from the north", or he can change one word and say "aircraft __9__ from the north" or "tanks approaching from the west"; but a bird has a single alarm cry, which __10__ "danger!"
文章第一句话，主题句

signalling 信号  

vocal  嗓音的

symbolic  象征的

communication  交流

operate  起作用、发生影响。

eg. The new law operates to our advantage. 新法规对我们有利。

   The system operates in five countries.有五个国家实施这种体制。

1.  A. in      B. at   C. or    D. or

1. 选A

2.  A. than   B. to   C. if     D. and

2. 选A

3.  A. from  B. with  C. however  D. otherwise

3. 选B

by means of sth.  （正式文多用）用某种方法、借助于某事物。

eg. lift the load by means of a crane. 用起重机把重物吊起。

4.  A. danger   B. fear   C. cries   D. shouting

4. 选C

shouting, shout本身就可以是名词，意思为欢叫，惊叫。

differ  是动词，名词为difference, 形容词为different。      

5.  A. give   B. given   C. giving   D. to give

5. 选B     

6.  A. enable  B. enables  C. enabled  D. having enable

6. 选B     

7. A. at         B. over         C. with       D. by

7. 选D     

8. A. which      B. that         C. whom      D. when

8. 选B     

9. A. approach  B. approaching  C. approve   D. approving

9. 选B     

10. A. sings      B. speaks       C. points     D. means

10. 选D     

涉及到语法的有4道，涉及到上下文的有2道   
Passage 22

    When Americans meet their friends, they often start their conversations with a greeting and may then ask about their friends, families, and jobs. Most of __1__ the conversation is optimistic (乐观的). Even conversations about __2__ events such as serious illness, family problems or __3__ usually end up in a hopeful way. People discuss special family events __4__ marriages, births, graduations, new jobs and new homes. One friend will usually wish the other good luck or __5__ congratulations. If the news is unhappy, he or she will __6__ sympathy and then add a hopeful comment.

   There are special rules about the discussion of money. Friends like to __7__ good news like a job promotion (升职) or buying a new house, car or furniture. But they seldom discuss the __8__ of money they got or __9__. A friend __10__ tell you how much an item (一件东西) cost but it is not polite to ask, "How much was it? " 

1. A. the time    B. time    C. hours     D. while          

1. 选A  

2. A. ill    B. sad     C. happy     D. badly               

badly adv.  不好的、坏的

2. 选B  

3. A. death   B. dead     C. deaths   D. dying                

death  做死亡讲的时候是可数名词。

eg. There have been more deaths from drowning.

   A bad driver was responsible for their deaths.

death 做生命的终止、死亡的状态讲的时候是不可数名词。

eg. Food poisoning can cause death. 食物中毒可导致死亡。

   You're drinking yourself to death. 你这样喝酒，非喝死不可。

3. 选C

end up  到达或来到某处，达到某状态或采取某行动。

eg. If you continue to steal you'll end up in prison.

At first he refused to accept any responsibility but he ended up apologizing.

If he carries on driving like that, he'll end up dead.

4. A. as          B. example          C. likely          D. such as                 

likely adj.  (likelier, likeliest)

be likely to do sth./that…  预期的、 可能的

eg. It isn't likely to rain. 不大像要下雨。

eg. She is very likely to ring me tonight. (也可以说 It's very likely that she'll ring me tonight.)

4. 选D

5. A. offer       B. warn      C. support      D. afford               

offer  给予

eg. The job offers prospects of promotion. 这份工作有晋升的机会。

afford  （不用于被动语态）通常与can, could或be able to连用。为（某目的）有足够的钱、时间、地点等。

eg. They walked because they couldn't afford a taxi.

eg. I'd love to go on holiday but I can't afford the time.

5. 选A

6. A. play      B. express     C. speak       D. prepare                 

6. 选B

7. A. buy  B. write   C. share    D. divide

divide  分开

7. 选C 

8. A. score      B. number      C. quantity        D. amount

score  分数

8. 选D 

9. A. enjoy      B. spend        C. cost           D. print

9. 选B 

10. A. must       B. need        C. should          D. might  

10. 选D

做好完型填空，掌握相应的词汇量也是必需的。
总 结

重要方法：

1. 考试时要保证15分钟时间；

2. 首先通读一遍文章；

3. 上下文和语法知识。
阅读理解

阅读理解的问题可分为：

主题思想判断

细节定位

逻辑推理

1.主题思想判断

常见的问题为：

The best title for the passage is_______.

This passage talks mainly about________.

The main idea of this passage is…

What does this passage mainly discuss?

2. 细节定位
when, where, who, why, how. 常见的问题有：

According to the passage, which of the following is true?

According to the passage, which of the following in NOT true?

According to the passage, all of the following are true EXCEPT…?

The passage suggests that…

How/When/Where does something happen?

3．逻辑推理

常见的问题为：

From the passage, it can be inferred that…

This passage has probably been taken from…

这类问题一般有三个特点：1.不违背推理原则； 2. 推断条件充分; 3. 理解题的答案不明显。 如果问题中有了imply, suggest, infer等表示暗示意义的词时，解题时切不可把原文中已明确陈述的事实作为答案。另外要特别注意文中出现的修饰语。

 有些阅读考查学生的推理能力。这类的问题一般不能从文章中直接找出答案，应该找到相关信息在文章中的位置，联系上下文进行推理。如一篇文章中有这样的一句话：

If you make a five-day trip across the Atlantic Ocean, your ship enters a different time zone every day.

后面有一个问题：

From this passage it seems true that the Atlantic Ocean_________.

A. is in on e time zone

B. is divided into twenty-four zones

C. is divided into five time zones

D. cannot be crossed in five days

 在阅读考试中，的常识和知识面与阅读能力同样重要，平时应该进行广泛阅读。如在一篇谈到地球上时区划分的文章中有这样的一个问题：

The international date line is the name for_________.

A. the beginning of any new time zone

B. any point where time changes by one hour

C. the point where a new day begins

D. any time zone in the Pacific Ocean 

阅读理解的方法：

先不读文章、先去看问题，看一个问题、找相关的文章在什么地方。

　　Passage 1

　　Mountaineering is a sport and not a game. There are no man-made rules， as there are for such games as golf and football. There are， however， rules of a different kind which it would be dangerous to ignore， but it is this freedom from man-made rules that makes mountaineering attractive to many people. Those who climb mountains are free to use their own methods.

　　If we compare mountaineering and other more familiar sports， we might think that one big difference is that mountaineering is not a “team game”。 We may well be mistaken in this. There are， it is true， no “matches” between “teams” of climbers， but when climbers are on a rock face， linked by a rope on which their lives may depend， there is obviously teamwork……

　　The mountain climber knows that he may have to fight forces that are stronger and more powerful than man. He has to fight the nature. His sport requires high mental and physical qualities.

　　It is not unusual for men of fifty or sixty to climb the highest mountains in the Alps. They may take more time than younger men， but they probably climb with more skill and less waste of effort and they certainly experience equal enjoyment.

　　1. Which of the following is not a “team game”？

　　A. Football.    B. Volleyball.

　　C. Tennis.D. Mountaineering.

　　Mountaineering   爬山

　　2. To ignore the rules of mountaineering would ______.

　　A. be dangerous

　　B. not do any harm

　　C. help the climbers to climb faster

　　D. give the climbers more freedom in the course of climbing

　　ignore   忽略，忽视

　　dangerous  危险的

　　3. According to the author， many people are attracted by mountain-eering because ______.

　　A. it is both dangerous and exciting

　　B. there is gold on some mountain peaks

　　C. it is the best form of sport

　　D. it is a sport free from man-made rules

　　attracted  有兴趣的

　　freedom  自由

　　4. Only _______ can climb the highest mountains in the Alps.

　　A. experienced old men

　　B. young people

　　C. those who have high mental and physical qualities

　　D. strong sportsmen

　　Alps  阿尔卑斯山

　　mental  脑力的

　　5. Compared with young men， old climbers of sixty may climb a mountain with ______.

　　A. more skill

　　B. less time

　　C. less enjoyment

　　D. much more waste of effort

　　第一步：先看问题

　　第二步：找关键词

　　第三步：先读懂问题，再读懂关键词所在的句子

　　第四步：选项中的词和文章中的词有相近的关系

　　who climb mountains （这是一个定语从句，在这里修饰 those）

　　每一段的第一句话是这段的主题句（topic sentence）

　　linked by a rope on which（定语从句，介词放在前面）

　　teamwork  团对合作

　　that are stronger and more powerful than man（定语从句，修饰forces）

　　topic sentence（It is not unusual for men of fifty or sixty to climb the highest mountains in the Alps.）

　　Passage 2

　　Can animals be made to work for us？ Some scientists think that one day animals may be trained to do a number of simple jobs that are now done by human beings.

　　They point out that at a circus， for example， we may see elephants， monkeys， dogs and other animals doing quite skillful things. Perhaps you have seen them on the television or in a film. If you watch closely， you may notice that the trainer always gives the animal a piece of candy or a piece of fruit as a reward. The scientists say that many different animals may be trained to do a number of simple jobs if they know they will get reward for doing them.

　　Of course， as we know， dogs can be used to guard a house， and soldiers in both old and modern times have used geese to give warning by making a lot of noise when a stranger or an enemy comes near. But it may be possible to train animals to work in factories， In Russia， for example， pigeons， which are birdswith good eyesight， are being used to watch out for faults in small steel balls that are being made in one factory. When the pigeon sees a ball which looks different from others， it touches a steel plate with its beak （鸟嘴）。 This turns on a light to warn people in the factory. At the same time a few seeds are given as a reward. It takes three to five weeks to train a pigeon to do this and one pigeon can inspect 3，000 to 4，000 balls an hour.

　　Apes （类人猿） have been used in American in helping to make cars， and scientists believe that these large monkeys maybe one day gather crops and even drive trains.

　　1. What made scientists think animals can be made to work for us one day？

　　A. Animals are very skillful at a circus.

　　B. They are big and strong.

　　C. Some animals are as clever as human beings.

　　D. Animals can be trained because they like to get something as a reward.

　　scientists  科学家

　　What made scientists think 什么使得科学家认为什么 a number of +可数名词复数

　　reward  报酬，奖励

　　2. The trainer usually gives the animal a piece of candy or fruit ______.

　　A. when it is hungry

　　B. before it plays a trick

　　C. when it starts to play a trick

　　D. after it has done the trick

　　skillful things在此相当于问题里面的trick（把戏，戏法）

　　3. The “reward” in the passage means ______.

　　A. an honour given for doing something

　　B. money paid for doing something

　　C. attention paid to good conduct

　　D. something given in return for work

　　honour  荣誉

　　conduct  n  行为，品行

　　v  领导，指导

　　4. Many animals may be trained to do simple jobs if they know ______.

　　A. who their trainers are

　　B. they will be praised by their trainers

　　C. they will get a reward

　　D. something dangerous will happen to them

　　dangerous  危险的

　　5. Which of the following is not true？

　　A. Scientists consider apes may drive trains some day.

　　B. Apes have worked in some factories.

　　C. Apes may one day be used to gather crops.

　　D. An ape is not a large monkey.

　　monkey  猴子

　　geese  鹅

　　make a noise  发出声音

　　watch out： 戒备、提防（可能发生的麻烦）

　　eg. Watch out！ There's a car coming. 小心！汽车来了。

　　Watch out for sb./sth.： 警惕或注意某人（某事物）

　　eg. The staff were asked to watch out for forged banknotes.

　　已经要求职员留意伪钞。

　　which looks different from others（定语从句，修饰前面的ball）

　　turn on  开

　　Passage 3

　　We cannot feel speed. But our senses let us know that we are moving. We see things moving past us and feel that we are being shaken. We can feel acceleration， an increase in speed. But we notice it for only a short time. For instance， we feel it during the take off run of an airliner.

　　We feel the plane's acceleration because our bodies do not gain speed as fast as the seat. Actually， our bodies are trying to stay in the same place， while the plane is carrying us forward.

　　Soon the plane reaches a steady speed. Then， because there is no longer any change in speed， the feeling of forward notion stops.

　　1. We can tell that we are moving by ______.

　　A. watching things move past

　　B. feeling the speed

　　C. feeling ourselves being shaken

　　D. Both A and C

　　tell （在此处）分辨

　　2. Acceleration is the name for ______.

　　A. an increase in speed

　　B. a steady speed

　　C. any kind of movement

　　D. the movement of a plane

　　acceleration  加速度

　　increase  增加

　　steady  平稳的

　　3. During the take off of a plane， we feel that we are being ______.

　　A. thrown forward    B. pushed back against the seat        C. lifted out of the seat

　　D. pushed down into the seat

　　for instance  举例，例如

　　airliner  客机      take off  起飞   lift out 从……上面抬起来   push down  推下去，陷进去

　　4. We feel the plane's acceleration because out bodies gain speed ______.

　　A. just as fast as the plane    B. faster than the planeC. more slowly than the plane

　　D. before the plane

　　5. The best title for this selection is ______.

　　A. The Takeoff Run of an Airliner      B. Our Feeling of Speed

　　C. The Acceleration         D. Speed Acceleration

　　Passage 4

　　Volcanoes （火山） have been erupting （爆发） on the earth for millions of years. More than five hundred still erupt today. These are called active volcanoes. Volcanoes are located in belts or chains. They are found where the earth's crust （外壳） is weak. The weak spots let the hot rock escape when the volcano erupts.

　　Many volcano belts are mountain ranges along the edges of continents. One belt runs along the western coast of South America up through the western part of the United States. Other volcanoes are found in ocean basins.

　　About three-fifths of all active volcanoes in the world are in the Pacific Ocean. Many of these volcanoes erupt under the water. The Hawaiian Islands were built by volcanoes that began erupting under water and finally reached the surface of the ocean.

　　1. The selection says that about five hundred volcanoes ______.

　　A. will erupt this year     B. are still active     C. are located under water

　　D. are all that have ever been discovered   首段首句非常关键         1. B

　　2. Volcanoes are found ______.

　　A. where the earth's crust is weak  B. along the edges of continents  C. in the ocean basins of the world

　　D. all of the above         2. D

　　3. Most of the active volcanoes are located in ______.

　　A. South America    B. the Pacific Ocean   C. the western United States   D. the Atlantic Ocean

　　3. B

　　4. The Hawaiian Islands were built by volcanoes that ______.

　　A. began erupting under water   B. formed a mountain range under water   C. finally reached the surface of the ocean     D. Both A and C               4. D

　　5. The best title for this selection is ______.

　　A. How the Hawaiian Islands Were Built    B. At the Bottom of the Ocean    C. Why Volcanoes Erupt

　　D. The Earth's Volcanoes     5. D

　　Passage 5

　　The Antarctic （南极洲） is actually a desert. It is the only continent on the earth without a river or a lake.

　　The Antarctic is all ice all year round. The warmest temperature ever recorded there is zero， at the South Pole. Explorers used to think that a place so cold would have a heavy snowfall. But less than ten inches of snow falls each year. That is less than half an inch of water. Ten times that much moisture falls in parts of the Sahara.

　　The little snow that falls in Antarctic never melts. It continues to pile up deeper and deeper year after year. When the snow gets to be about eighty feet deep it is turned to ice by the weight of the snow above it.

　　1. Antarctica is called a desert because it ______.

　　A. is sandy

　　B. has the same temperature as a desert

　　C. has little moisture and no lakes or rivers   D. All of the above     1. C

　　2. The Antarctic has ______.

　　A. ten times as much moisture as the Sahara

　　B. the same amount of moisture as the Sahara

　　C. about one-tenth the moisture of the Sahara

　　D. None of these.   2. D

　　3. The temperature in the Antarctic is ______.

　　A. always above zero    B. always below zero     C. never recorded   D. Both B and C   3. B

　　4. The snow in Antarctic is very deep because it ______.

　　A. never stops falling   B. piles up year after year   C. never melts   D. Both B and C

　　pile up  增多，积累           4. D

　　5. The snow turns to ice when ______.

　　A. it gets wet   B. the temperature gets colder     C. the next snowfall comes

　　D. the snow above it is heavy enough          5. D

　　Passage 6

　　Astronomers （宇航员） can tell just how hot the surface of the moon gets. The side of the moon toward the sun gets two degrees hotter than boiling water. The night side reaches 243 degrees below zero.

　　In a lunar eclipse （月食） the earth's shadow falls on the moon. Then the moon's temperature may drop 300 degrees in a very short time.

　　A temperature change like this cannot happen on the earth. Why does it happen on the moon？ Astronomers know that the surface of the moon is dust. On the earth， rocks store heat from the sun. When the sun goes down， the rocks stay warm. But the dust of the moon cannot store heat. So when the moon gets dark， the heat escapes quickly. The moon gets very cold.

　　1. Astronomers have found that the moon's surface is ______.

　　A. always hotter than boiling water

　　B. either very hot or very cold

　　C. usually many degrees below zero

　　D. about the same as that of the earth

　　一般情况下，文章第一句话（主题句）是表明文章的中心。that指代temperature. 答案：B

　　2. During a lunar eclipse， the moon is ______.

　　A. turned away from the sun

　　B. in the shadow of the sun

　　C. in the shadow of the earth

　　D. in direct sunlight        答案：C

　　3. Temperatures on the moon change ______.

　　A. very quickly          B. by only a few degrees

　　C. very slowly           D. only when there is an eclipse     答案：A

　　4. Temperatures on the earth change ______.

　　A. less than those on the moon

　　B. more slowly than those on the moon

　　C. more quickly than those on the moon

　　D. Both A and B         答案：D

　　5. The surface of the moon is ______.

　　A. rock that stores heat

　　B. dust that stores heat

　　C. dust that cannot store heat

　　D. rock that does not store heat

　　store  存储        答案：C

　　本文重点掌握第4题和第5题。

　　第4题主要在没有关键词的情况下，进行常识判断并选择。

　　第5题运用关键词定位原文，并排除错误选项，再对余下的选项对照原文进行二次分析，最终确定选项。

　　Passage 7

　　In our daily life， few people notice the fact that warm water freezes more quickly than cold. Sir Francis Bacon said that almost four hundred years ago. But few people believed him till 1970. In that year Canadian Scientist George Kell proved the English scholar was right. Dr. Kell filled an open bucket with cold water. He filled another with warm water. He exposed both to the same low temperature. The warm water froze first.

　　The lack of covers on the buckets was the secret. Some of the warm water changed to vapor. It evaporated （蒸发） into the air. This meant that less of the warm water was left to freeze. And so the warm water froze faster than the cold water even though it had a greater temperature drop to make.

　　1. Sir Francis Bacon was ______.

　　A. an American experimenter    B. a Canadian scientist

　　C. an English scholar            D. an Australian writer

　　本句that 引导的是同位语从句。

　　常见的同位语从句的引导词：idea、fact、news、fear、belief、doubt、proof、evidence等。

　　答案：C

　　2. Dr. Kell's buckets were both ______.

　　A. filled with water                     B. left uncovered

　　C. exposed to the same temperature   D. All of the above

　　another指的是another bucket.  expose  暴露   uncovered  无盖的    答案：D

　　3. The second paragraph tells why ______.

　　A. Dr. Kell was studying water

　　B. the warm water froze first

　　C. Dr. Kell used buckets in his work

　　D. water freezes in underground pipes

　　underground  地下的      答案：B

　　4. No water vapor would have escaped into the air if the bucket had been ______.

　　A. warmed        B. covered        C. shaken        D. filled

　　if the bucket had been  虚拟语气    答案：B

　　5. The cold water froze more slowly because ______.

　　A. salt was added to it         B. its bucket was smaller

　　C. there was more of it left    D. the air near it was moving   答案：C

　　做阅读理解时，要抓紧时间，对于简单的题目（如：常识题）不要花太多时间，对于较难的题目要对照原文多加分析。

　　下次课的主要内容是Passage 8和Passage 9，预习并找出两篇文章的关键句。

　　Passage 8

　　In 1889 all Paris admired the Eiffel Tower. It was the engineering wonder of the world. Alexandre Gustave Eiffel had completed his masterpiece in steel.

　　Steel as a building material was then still new. The 984-foot tower was a lacy network of girders （支架）。 There were thousands of steel pieces. Two and a half million rivets （铆钉） joined them.

　　From four corners， the legs of the tower slope inward. They rise to form a pointed top. Lifts carry visitors to three platforms at different heights. On a clear day， countryside sixty miles off is viewed from the top platform.

　　As Eiffel planned， his structure is a landmark of Paris. It is even higher today. A station later constructed for radio and television has added almost fifty feet to the original height of the tower.

　　1. The Eiffel Tower was completed in ______.

　　A. 1949           B. 1869          C. 1889           D. 1899

　　选项中一般有地点、人物和时间的题都比较容易。

　　答案：C

　　2. The tower bears the name of ______.

　　A. the main river of Paris        B. a president of France

　　C. its builder                      D. None of the above

　　bear  v 为人所知  过去式bore  过去分词borne.

　　Alexandre Gustave Eiffel  人物名

　　masterpiece  著作、代表作

　　答案：C

　　一般选项D不是正确选项。A、B、C至少有一个是正确选项。

　　3. The tower was an engineering wonder because of ______.

　　A. its sideways slant                    B. the use of steel

　　C. the use of glass                      D. its location

　　engineering wonder  工程奇迹

　　slant=slope  斜坡

　　sideways  一旁的， 向侧面的

　　答案：B

　　4. The article describes the tower as being ______.

　　A. lacy         B. solid         C. needlelike       D. spidery

　　describe  描述

　　lacy  花边状的

　　solid  坚固的

　　needlelike  �象针一般的

　　spidery  蜘蛛状的

　　答案：A

　　984-foot  adj作定语修饰tower当有“-”联字符时，则foot用单数形式。

　　例如：a 3000-word composition  一篇3000字的文章

　　network  网状物

　　5. To reach the top platform， sightseers use ______.

　　A. lifts                               B. escalators

　　C. steel ladders                      D. spiral stairways

　　platform  平台

　　escalator  电动扶梯

　　ladder  梯子

　　spiral stairways  螺旋梯

　　答案：A

　　thousands of  成千上万的

　　inward  向里面地

　　slope  倾斜

　　rise  vi  升起

　　landmark  （航海）陆标， 地界标， 里程碑， 划时代的事

　　even  常用于比较级前，起修饰作用。

　　constructed for radio and television  过去分词短语作定语修饰主语station.

　　对于文章中的长难句，要进行语法和句法分析。

　　Passage 9

　　The people of Saskatoon wanted the 1971 Canada Winter Games to be held in their city. But they had a problem. Saskatoon has never been considered a good place to ski. For skiing， you need slopes. And Saskatoon sits in the middle of a prairie， a wide area of level land.

　　How do you think the people solved their problem？ They built a mountain from the ground up！ When finished， it stood 300 feet high. A T-bar was set up to take skiers to the top. From there they could ski down the quarter-mile main run or the 50-meter ski jump.

　　And so athletes from all over Canada went to Saskatoon to take part in the games. They swam. They played badminton and other indoor games. They boxed and wrestled. And they skied！

　　1. Saskatoon is a Canadian ______.

　　A. province      B. city         C. town          D. county

　　答案：B

　　to be held in their city  动词不定式被动式作定语。

　　2. Saskatoon wasn't a good place to go skiing because the countryside was too ______.

　　A. flat           B. rocky         C. dry            D. cold

　　level  平坦的

　　flat  平坦的

　　答案：A

　　3. The people built a mountain mainly because they ______.

　　A. thought it would make the area more beautiful

　　B. wanted to go mountain-climbing

　　C. hoped to teach their children to ski

　　D. needed slopes for the Winter Games

　　mountain-climbing  爬山

　　答案：D  此题根据原句用排除法比较容易。

　　4. The height of the finished mountain was ______.

　　A. 50 metres                          B. a quarter of a mile

　　C. 300 feet                            D. 30 rods

　　答案：C

　　5. Besides skiing， sports events at the Winter Games included______.

　　A. boxing and wrestling               B. swimming and polo

　　C. boating and fishing                 D. baseball and soccer

　　bar  栏杆

　　set sth. up： 摆放或竖起某物。

　　main run  �主要的滑雪道

　　ski jump    跳高滑雪

　　badminton  羽毛球

　　wrestle  摔交

　　polo  马球

　　baseball  棒球

　　soccer  足球（美）

　　take part in  参加

　　答案：A

　　set sth. up： 摆放或竖起某物。

　　eg. Police set up road-blocks on routes leading out of the city.

　　警方在通往城外的路上设置了路障。

　　答题技巧之一：当定位关键句时出现长难句时，可先对问题的选项进行分析，用排除法缩小选择范围，最后再根据原文意思进行判断、选择。

　　下次课内容：运用所学答题技巧预习 Passage 10 和 Passage 11.

　　Passage 10

　　The keyboard （键盘） of a typewriter refers to the set of keys in it. Most typewriters have “qwerty” keyboards. The name comes from the first six letters on the board's second line. The “qwerty” board was set up by C. L. Sholes， who was the first man to make a really good typewriter.

　　Some letters， such as S and T， are used together a great deal in English. Sholes placed such pairs of letter far apart on his keyboard. This made it harder for typists to learn the keyboard. But it helped keep typewriters from jamming. On early machines the bars holding the letters often caught on each other when moving quickly.

　　Sholes made the name of his machine easy to type. He placed on the same line all the letters of the word “type” and “writer”。

　　1. This article is mostly about a ______.

　　A. pair of letters                     B. keyboard

　　C. language                           D. man's life

　　解题关键是找文章的主旨句

　　一般开头第一句话是就是全文的主题句

　　typewriter    打字机

　　2. The “qwerty” board is named for the ______.

　　A. man who set it up

　　B. company that sold it

　　C. order of six of its letters

　　D. letters used the most in English

　　一般情况出现有关键词的关键句，则从下文中找

　　3. The “qwerty” was first set up ______.

　　A. with thirty-six letters               B. in six lines

　　C. by C. L. Sholes                      D. All of the above

　　考试时明确找准包含答案的信息即可

　　4. Sholes put S and T far apart because ______.

　　A. he hoped to prevent jamming

　　B. they are seldom used together

　　C. neither is a vowel

　　D. there wasn't room for them together

　　一般在关键词出现的前后两三句找答案

　　keep  from=prevent

　　vowel   元音

　　做题根据文章中出现的为准

　　5. The letters spelling typewriter are all in the ______.

　　A. same line

　　B. line beginning with “qwerty”

　　C. line with the numbers in it

　　D. Both A and B

　　如果有Both，All of above这样的选项要特别注意

　　非限制性定语从句

　　jam sth. （up） （使某物）因被卡住而不能动弹或发生故障

　　eg. The key turned halfway and then jammed.

　　钥匙转了一半就卡住了。

　　There's something jamming （up） the lock.

　　有什么东西把锁卡住了。

　　holding the letters  现在分词做定语

　　catch （sth.）in/on sth. 使（某物）固着、卡住、缠住、绊住或挂住某物

　　eg. Her dress caught on a nail.  她的衣服让钉子给钩住了。

　　He caught his foot on a tree root and stumbled.

　　他一只脚被树根绊住而跌倒了。

　　如果题目答案中有Both，All of above这样的选项要特别注意

　　Passage 11

　　The Amish are often called the “Plain people.” Their homes have no pictures on the walls， and no soft， comfortable furniture. The men wear dark trousers with white or blue shirts， and the women wear long dresses in dark colors. They ride in carriages pulled by horses.

　　The Amish have a saying： “The old way is the best way.” Although the Amish accept some new ideas - they use new medicines， for example - their way of life was not changed much in 300 years. They do not use electric lights， telephones or TVs.

　　Almost all Amish live on farms. They do not use modern machinery， yet their farms are successful because the Amish work hard and take good care of their land and animals. Their farms are always small. The Amish think it is wrong to have more land or more money than they need to live upon. A few years ago some Amish farmers discovered oil on their land. They immediately sold their land and moved away， without telling anyone about the oil.

　　The Amish will not buy insurance of any kind. When there is trouble， they help one another. If an Amish farmer gets sick， friends and neighbors will milk his cows and plant his fields. If a house burns down， as many as 200 men will come and build a new house in one day.

　　People are curious about the lives of the Amish. Every year thousands of people visit the part of Pennsylvania where most Amish live. Usually the Amish are not happy about the visitors. But they tolerate （容忍） them. Perhaps the Amish understand that the visitors want to experience， at least for a few days， the quieter， simpler Amish way of life.

　　1. The Amish are called the “Plain People” because they ______.

　　A. live on plains

　　B. live a simple life

　　C. do not like new ideas

　　D. do not care about their clothes

　　借助关键词找答案，在关键词出现的句子中或上下附近的句子中找

　　pulled by horses   过去分词短语做定语

　　2. Which of the following do the Amish use？

　　A. Electric light.                       B. New medicine.

　　C. Modern machinery.                  D. Oil.

　　先找关键词第一次出现的句子及上下句，看有没有包含答案的信息，如果没有

　　再找关键词第二次出现的句子

　　3. Some Amish farmers left their land after discovering oil on it because they ______.

　　A. didn't want to have more money than they needed.

　　B. found the land not suitable for farming any more

　　C. were afraid of getting into trouble

　　D. didn't need oil in their life

　　做题紧扣原文来排除，尽量不要做发散思维

　　4. From the passage we know that the Amish people ______.

　　A. want to be separated from one another

　　B. used to take no medicines when they got ill

　　C. believe in what they have been doing for 300 years

　　D. keep small farms because they are easier to manage

　　1、通读答案进行推测  2、通读每段的首句和末句，找包含答案的信息

　　答案：C

　　做题方法：先看选项，再读每段的首尾句，如类似则把该段细读

　　5. What can be inferred from the passage？

　　A. The Amish way of life is considered to be the best for Americans.

　　B. The coming of visitors greatly improves the life of the Amish people.

　　C. People wonder at the Amish way of life.

　　D. The Amish people are born to tolerate others.

　　先看答案，再读每段首末句，找出文章的主旨句

　　下次课内容：

　　passage 12    passage 13

　　Passage 12

　　Take a deep breath and spend a week with the Lee family in Minneapolis. The three older Children - Anna， 12， Nathan， 9， and Kristian， 7 - play one sport or another almost all year round. （Lisa is only 1 so she gets a break here.） Anna's practicing football， volleyball， basketball and softball. Nathan and Kristian do them all except volleyball. In the summer， add on tennis and swim lessons.

　　All of this means that dad， Darwin， a teacher， and mom， Joann， a nurse， spend a lot of time making sure everyone gets where he needs to be. Family dinners？ Forget about it. A busy family timetable， says Barbara Carlson， a school teacher， has become the new thing that shows your status （地位）。 “It used to be a house or car，” says Carlson， “Now you say， `you're busy？ You should see how busy we are.'”

　　In hope of getting their children into Harvard， many parents send their children to violin lessons at 3 and sign them up for tennis as soon as they're big enough to hold a bat. And that's just the warm-up. The real serious task begins as soon as they start school. Mr. Moffat， father of a nine-year-old boy， said， “it's important for children to learn honour and responsibility（责任），”he says. “It builds discipline（纪律性）and character.”

　　Maybe， but scientists say that too many outside activities destroy something children need even more-time to connect with their family members. Professor William J. Doherty， a University of Minnesota professor of family social science says that if parents and children don't make time for each other， there will be problems. He says， “Parents are so eager to develop the children in every possible way that raising children becomes like product development.”

　　1. Which child of the Lee family has more activities than the others？

　　A. Nathan.      B. Kristian.

　　C. Anna.        D. Lisa.

　　2. Which of the following is TRUE of the Lee family？

　　A. A busy timetable is something new.

　　B. The children are taken wherever they want to go.

　　C. Lisa is free because she only has one activity.

　　D. It is difficult to have a family dinner.

　　先通读选项，再读每段首尾句，如包含选项信息则细看

　　used to do  过去常常做某事

　　答案：D

　　做这类问题先读选项，译成汉语，读每段首尾句找包含选项信息

　　3. Why do some parents make their children practise sports or music even when they are very young？

　　A. To fill up the timetable for their spare time.

　　B. To find them a way into best universities.

　　C. To help them do well in school.

　　D. To show a kind of social status.

　　答案：B

　　细节定位题

　　4. “It” in “It used to be a house or car” refer to ______.

　　A. a busy family timetable

　　B. the thing that shows your status

　　C. the warm-up

　　D. outside activity

　　答案：B

　　5. What might the writer suggest parents should do for children？

　　A. Get them into various activities.

　　B. Build up a close family tie for them.

　　C. Prepare them for school as early as possible.

　　D. Help them understand honour and responsibility.

　　答案：B

　　如果关键词不明确，就读每一段首句，找到于问题接近的段落细读

　　sign up for sth.  参加俱乐部（课程等）

　　eg. sign up for a secretarial course 注册参加秘书课程

　　两种解决阅读理解问题的方法：

　　1、问下面哪个答案正确或错误的方法：先读选项，再读每段的首尾句，    如包含选项中的词则细读；

　　2、关键词不明确的题目的方法：先把问题读清楚，再读每段的首尾句，    如有意思相近的词则细读；

　　Passage 13

　　Benjamin Franklin was born in 1706 in Boston， Massachusetts. His mother and father were of Puritan（清教徒）religion. They left England and moved to the English colony of Massachusetts in order to escape persecution（迫害）for their religion. In Boston， Franklin left school when he was ten years old and worked for his father for two years. In Boston， Franklin left school when he was ten years old and worked for his father for two years. Then he went to work on his brother's newspaper. He became the editor of this paper when he was sixteen. Because he wanted to be independent， he went to Philadelphia. There he bought his own newspaper. He worked hard and saved his money. And by the age of 24 he was one of the most successful men in Philadelphia.

　　In 1732 Franklin published a book “POOR RICHARD'S ALMANAC（年历）”。 Most almanacs contained information for farmers， such as information about the days and weeks of the year and about the weather. To his almanac， Franklin added wise sayings， his observations about life. Some of these sayings are still famous today. For example， “Early to bed， early to rise makes a man healthy， wealthy and wise”， and “Waste not， want not，” and “A penny saved is a penny earned.”

　　文章题材：人物传记

　　特点：多次出现人物的姓名、地点、年代

　　1. Benjamin Franklin was of ______.

　　A. English origin

　　B. American origin

　　C. French origin

　　D. not mentioned

　　2. His parents moved to Massachusetts because ______.

　　A. they wanted to make a fortune

　　B. they wanted to meet their relatives there

　　C. they were persecuted（迫害）in England

　　D. they wanted to have a visit there

　　fortune  发财

　　答案：C

　　3. At the age of 11， he worked for ______.

　　A. his brother

　　B. his father

　　C. himself

　　D. someone else

　　答案：B

　　4. He moved to Philadelphia because ______.

　　A. his brother didn't like him

　　B. he wanted to be dependent

　　C. he became the editor of the paper

　　D. he wanted to live on himself

　　live on oneself ＝independent

　　答案：D

　　5. Franklin's almanacs contained ______.

　　A. information for farmers

　　B. wise sayings

　　C. poor Richard's ideas

　　D. both A and B

　　选项包含Both要特别注意

　　答案：D

　　大部分阅读理解是细节方面的问题，要注意细节定位，先看问题中的关键

　　词，再按顺序找句中关键词首先出现的地方

　　下次课内容：passage 14  passage 15  passage 16

　　先看问题，画出相对应的关键句子，作出答案，检验自己的做题能力

　　Passage 14

　　New York is the place in the United States which most visitors see and the city that is most often described. In New York you would often hear the phrase “New York is not America”， and， of course you would like to see more of the country. You look at the map and choose what region to start with. You remember from history books that when the United States was formed there were only thirteen states. These were thirteen colonies which in 1776 had declared their independence from Great Britain and fought a seven-year War of Independence. The thirty-seven other states were admitted to the nation one by one， as they gained enough population. The last to come in were Alaska and Hawaii. They were admitted to the Union in 1959.

　　1. From the passage we learn that ______.
　　A. most visitors to the United States visit New York and say what it is like

　　B. most visitors see and describe that New York is a place in the United States

　　C. New York is seen and described in the United States

　　D. New York is the only place in the United States which visitors see and describe

　　which  定语从句引导词

　　that  也是定语从句引导词

　　say what it is like=describe it  描述

　　答案：A

　　2. The Phrase “New York is not America” means ______.

　　A. New York is not equal to America

　　B. New York does not represent America

　　C. New York does not belong to America

　　D. New York is New York and America is America

　　equal  平等的

　　答案：B

　　3. The War of Independence ended in ______.

　　A. 1783          B. 1776

　　C. 1769          D. 1959

　　which  定语从句引导词

　　答案：A

　　本题的ended是关键词，要留心。

　　4. The United States now consists of ______.

　　A. thirteen states

　　B. fifty states

　　C. thirty-seven states

　　D. fifty-two states

　　常识题

　　答案：B

　　5. According to the passage， the other thirty-seven states were not admitted at once but one by one because ______.

　　A. they did not take part in the War of Independence

　　B. they did not like to join the Union

　　C. they did not have money enough to invest

　　D. the number of people living in the states was not large sufficiently

　　sufficiently  足够的

　　the number of  谓语要用单数形式。

　　答案：D

　　1. 文章的主题句一般就是第一段的第一句话。

　　2. 遇见提问时间的题要谨慎，不要大意了。

　　Passage 15

　　For 30 years， Randy J. Murphy drove without being stopped by the police-and without a driver's license.

　　The 46-year-old man's luck came to an end last May. On his way home from his job as a dishwasher， he turned up the radio in the car.

　　“I just turned round the corner， and there was Mark，” Murphy said of the police officer who has since made such a difference in his life.

　　Officer Mark Taylor had stopped the car as he heard the blaring music. When he asked for a driver's license， Murphy said that he didn't have one.

　　Murphy told Taylor he couldn't read well enough to take the written part of the licensing test. “He said people just don't help any more. I told him if he was willing， I'd help him，” said Taylor. He gave Murphy his phone number. That afternoon Murphy called the officer.

　　For the next three months， the men met several times a week to review the questions which might appear in the test. When Murphy took the test， Taylor went with him. Murphy passed on his sixth attempt. He then sailed through the road test. On September 5， he got his license.

　　Taylor's act of kindness won him the Officer of the Month award from the Knoxville police Department. “People should help each other if they can，” Taylor said. “Randy did all the work. I just guided him along.”

　　Although Murphy has overcome the difficulty that kept him from getting a driver's license， he hasn't stopped there. “We still meet once a week to read，” Taylor said. “We've also become friends.”

　　“I'm glad he pulled me over now，” said Murphy.

1. Murphy was stopped by Taylor because ______.

　　A. the music in his car was too loud

　　B. he drove without a driver's license

　　C. he made a wrong turn at a corner

　　D. he listened to the radio while driving

　　blare  巨大而刺耳的声音

　　答案：A

2. After learning Murphy's situation， Taylor decided ______.

　　A. to put an end to his luck

　　B. to help him learn how to read

　　C. to take away his driver's license

　　D. to stop him from doing silly things

　　which  引导定语从句

　　答案：B

3. In “He then sailed through the road test”， “sailed through” is close in meaning to ______.

　　A. tried his best in                    B. nearly failed in

　　C. suffered a lot in                   D. easily succeeded in

　　try one's best in  尽某人最大努力

　　fail in  失败

　　suffer in  遭受……

　　succeed in  在……成功

　　答案：D

　　sail through  顺利通过（考试、测验等）

　　eg. She sailed through her finals.她顺利通过期末考试。

4. According to Taylor， he helped Murphy pass the licensing test because ______.

　　A. he felt sorry for the bad situation of the poor

　　B. he wanted to win the Officer of the Month award

　　C. he hated to see people in need of help were not helped

　　D. he thought it was a policeman's duty to help people read

　　award  奖励

　　答案：C

5. How many written tests had Murphy taken before getting his license？

　　A. One.        B. Two.          C. Five.           D. Six.

　　written tests  笔试

　　答案：D

　　注意：本文的体裁――记叙文，文章的主题句一般比较隐蔽。

　　who has since made such a difference in his life.中的who引导定语从句，修饰the police officer.

　　that  引导定语从句修饰the difficulty.

　　Passage 16

　　Copernicus was born in Torun， Poland， on February 19， 1473. Little is known about his early life except that his father died when he was 10. An uncle adopted him， his two sisters， and his brother. The uncle saw to it that the two boys received a good education. Copernicus went to the University of Cracow. There he studied such subjects as Latin， mathematics， and astronomy. It was probably at that time that he changed his Polish name， Niklas Koppernigk， to the Latin form of Nicolaus Copernicus. In 1496 Copernicus went to Italy， where he spent the next 10 years studying at various universities.

　　In Copernicus' time people still believed that all things - the sun， the stars， and the planets-moved around the earth. It was an old belief that few men had ever questioned. Aristotle had based his theory of astronomy on this belief. Because the Church had long been the center of learning， the theory was also linked to religious beliefs.

　　In 1506 Copernicus returned to his homeland. A few years later he began to work for the Church. All those years Copernicus carried on his work in astronomy. He had just the most basic equipment and， like other scientists of his day， made observations with only his eyes. Still， using mathematics and logic， Copernicus

　　worked out a different theory， which held that the planets went around the sun.

　　Copernicus did not announce his ideas. He did not want to make trouble. But he could not hide the scientific truth. So he talked about his theory with his friends， who strongly advised him to have his work published. His great book， On the Revolutions of the Heavenly Bodies， appeared at the very end of his life. Copernicus saw the first copy on the day he died， May 24， 1543.

　　1. Which of the following is TRUE about Copernicus？

　　A. He had two brothers and a sister.

　　B. He used to be called Niklas Koppernigk.

　　C. He lost his father soon after he was born.

　　D. He spent 10 years at the University of Cracow.

　　文章体裁――人物传记

　　遇到此类题型先看四个选项，然后回到原文去找正确答案。

　　see to it that： 一定注意到┄┄；务必┄┄。

　　eg. See to it that you're ready on time！ 到时候你千万要准备好！

　　答案：B

2. From the passage we can see that Astronomy is ______.

　　A. the life experience of great men

　　B. the movement of the stars and the planets

　　C. the scientific study of natural objects in space

　　D. the theories developed by scientists of old times

　　Astronomy  天文学

　　carry on  开展、进行

　　work out  计算、算出

　　which  引导非限制性定语从句。

　　答案：C

　　根据关键词定位相应的地方，如得不出答案，则往文章下面继续找，再进行分析、判断并得出正确的答案。

3. Copernicus developed his theory ______.

　　A. using various telescopes

　　B. based on Aristotle's beliefs

　　C. through observations and reasoning

　　D. under the encouragement of his friends

　　答案：C

4. The writer of the passage wants us to know that ______.

　　A. Copernicus did not tell about his discovery until the day of his death

　　B. for many years Copernicus dared to do nothing openly against the Church

　　C. pushed by his friends Copernicus decided to write a book in May 1543

　　D. shortly before he got back to Poland Copernicus started to work for the Church

　　答案：B

5. Copernicus had his great book published because ______.

　　A. he didn't agree with Aristotle

　　B. he could not hide the scientific truth

　　C. he worked for the church

　　D. his friends advised him to do so

　　答案：D

　　that  引导定语从句。

　　link to religious beliefs  同……宗教信仰联系在一起。

　　the Revolutions of the Heavenly Bodies  天体运行论
作文

写作授课要点

短文写作总分20分。短文写作部分要求写出一篇80字左右的短文。题材以记叙文为主，试卷可能给出题目或规定情景或段首句。

短文写作的要求为：能够正确表达思想，意义连贯，无重大语言错误。

写作内容涉及生活，一般常识和私人信件。

短文写作中的题目我们也可以称作命题写作。

情景写作也就是便条写作。

段首句式的写作可以称为主题句式的写作。

一、英语写作训练的要点
英语写作最重要的一点是用英语思维进行写作。

　　通病：习惯于先把作文翻译成汉语，然后逐字翻译成英语。

　　在理解和使用英语词汇时，要注意英语和汉语在意义上的不同。

　　中文：我得努力学习，要不我就要落后了。

　　错译：I should study hard， otherwise I would be backward.

　　正译：I should study hard， otherwise I would lag behind.

　　说明：“backward”是形容词，意为落后的，向后的或缓慢的，（表示性质）；“lag behind”是动词词组，意为落后，落在后面（表示动作或行为）。

　　中文：你不要学我样，你身体没有我好。（指：情况不一样。）

　　错译：Never learn from me，since you are not so strong as I am.

　　正译：Don't follow my example， since you are not so strong as I am.

　　说明：“Learn from sb.”指“向某人学习”，并不是“照我一样做”的意思。

　　中文：由于时间关系，我就到此为止。

　　错译：Due to the time， I should stop here.

　　正译：As time is up （or： limited）， I am afraid I have to stop here.

　　说明：“due to…”是“由于……之故”而导致某种结果的意思，本句用due to 不合逻辑。

　　accept和receive， permit和promise， call one's name和call one by name.

　　accept    收到（接受）

　　receive    收到（不一定接受）

　　permit   允许别人做某事

　　promise  允许为别人做某事

　　call one's name   骂某人

　　call one by name    叫某人的姓名

　　所以我们在从事英语写作训练的时候：

　　1.要明确英语写作的意义。

　　2.要学习和掌握必要的写作理论。

　　3.要通过大量的阅读，新概念第二册比较适合。

　　二、如何限题和写提纲
　　定题：选择恰当的题目。

　　命题：“Teaching”

　　过于笼统：Teaching

　　仍较广泛：Teaching Number Concept

　　范围缩小：Teaching Number Concept to Children

　　范围明确：Teaching Number Concept to Children at Five

　　命题“Child Behaviour”

　　过于笼统：Child Behaviour

　　仍较广泛：How Children Play Together

　　范围缩小：How Girls Play Together

　　范围明确：Patterns of Play Among Primary School Girl Students

　　写提纲的好处：1. 可以扩大思路

　　2. 可以按次序排好素材

　　3. 将文章分成段

　　4. 明确写作的中心思想

　　“The Advantages of Travel （旅行的益处。）”

　　根据这一题目，在构思时可能会想到以下内容：

　　1.seeing strange and different things （看到各种奇异的东西）

　　2.meeting people with different interests （遇到有各种不同兴趣的人）

　　3.keeping us fit and healthy （有助于身体健康）

　　4.enjoying beautiful scenery （欣赏各地美景）

　　5.understanding how people live （了解人们怎样生活）

　　6.visiting famous cities and scenic spots （浏览名城和名胜）

　　7.tasting different foods and local flavours （品尝各地风味）

　　8.getting ideas of the conditions and customs of other people （了解各地风土人情）

　　9.arousing the fervent love for our motherland （激起对祖国的热爱）

　　10.gaining knowledge of geography and history （获得地理历史知识）

　　11.making one less narrow minded （使人心胸开阔）

　　12.gaining other knowledge （获得其他方面知识）

　　13.seeing places read of in books （目睹曾在书上读到过的地方）

　　I. enjoy places of interest

　　a. enjoy beautiful scenery in different places  （4）

　　b. see places read of in books  （13）

　　c. visit famous cities and scenic spots  （6）

　　II. know people and their customs

　　a.meet people with different interest  （2）

　　b.see strange and different things  （1）

　　c.get ideas of the conditions and customs of other people  （8）

　　d.taste different foods and local flavours  （7）

　　e.understand how people live in different ways  （5）

　　III. benefit us both mentally and physically

　　a.gain knowledge of geography and history  （10）

　　b.gain other knowledge  （12）

　　c.arouse the fervent love for our motherland  （9）

　　d.keep us healthy  （3）

　　e.make one less narrow minded  （11）

　　The Advantages of Travel

　　Travel is beneficial to us in at least three ways.

　　First， by traveling we can enjoy the beautiful scenery in different places. We will see with our own eyes many places read of in books， and visit some famous cities and scenic spots.

　　Second， we will meet people with different interests and see strange and different things when we travel. We can get ideas of the conditions and customs of other people， taste different foods and local flavours if we like. In this way， we can understand how differently other people live.

　　Third， travel will not only help us to gain knowledge of geography and history and other knowledge， which arouses the fervent love for our motherland， but will also help us keep healthy and make us less narrow-minded. Travel does benefit us both mentally and physically.

　　With all these advantages of travel， it is no wonder that travel has now become more popular than ever in China.

　　在写100字左右的作文，我们也强调三段论。第一句话或第一段我们强调我们要写的内容，第二段找一些例子阐述一下。第三段再次把我们强调的内容引申的说一下。

　　三、文章的三个部分
　　引言   introduction

　　正文   body

　　结束语   conclusion

　　引言    introduction

　　1.  When you are waiting in front of a theatre or at the train terminals， you will realize how important punctuality is. Punctuality is really a virtue， especially in a busy city like Shanghai. Perhaps if everybody were punctual， there would be less suffering and sorrow.

　　正文   body

　　2.   Punctuality is the main constituent of good character. A person， who is always in time for his appointment， shows real consideration for others. On the other hand， a person who is always late shows his selfishness and thoughtlessness and he is not worthy to be friend with.

　　constituent   构成

　　selfishness   自私

　　3.   Some people often say that they cannot always be punctual since traffic is so heavy these days. I think traffic congestion cannot be an excuse for being late. As everybody knows that we might meet an unexpected congestion on the roads， we should leave a bit earlier for the appointment to ensure that we would not be late.

　　traffic congestion    交通堵塞

　　4.   Some people always have a lot of excuses for coming late. When they finally arrive， they keep on saying sorry to their friends and then explain. The excuse is not always traffic congestion， sometimes they complain that they have met a friend on the road or have helped a blind man to cross the road. Some also like to blame their watches， the clocks at home or in the office. To such people， we cannot help but say sorry that we have come too early.

　　keep on doing sth.   一直做某事

　　5.   Yet after all such smart fellows will soon find that gradually their friends become fewer and fewer. Perhaps at that time， they would realize how important punctuality is.

　　结束语    conclusion

　　6.   To be or not to be punctual is a habit. So when we are young， we should try to be punctual every time and never be late for it is much more easily acquired in youth than when we are older.

　　The person I shall never forget

　　The person I shall never forget is Qingfengxiang. She is the best friend in my life.

　　She often listens to me when my mood is bad. Moreover， she usually gives me some advices if I need help. Sometimes， she lends money to me if I want to buy some new clothes.

　　I will never forget her help even though I already left Wuhan city. I think that she will be one of the most important person during my life. I hope that the friendship of us will keep forever.

　　修改后

　　I will never forget her help even though I have already left Wuhan city. I think that she will be one of the most important persons in my life. I hope that the friendship of us will keep forever.

　　修改后

　　She often listens to me when I'm in a bad mood. Moreover， she usually gives me some advices if I need help. Sometimes， she lends money to me if I want to buy some new clothes.

　　Why We Learn English

　　English is an international language now. Everyone needs to know English.

　　When we will visit a great number of different places in the word， we need to talk about local person with English. We are interesting in books， otherwise nowadays many of the valuable books are written in English or translated into English. We in order to go through ones， so we should have a good command of English.

　　We should try our best to learn the English language well.

　　修改后

　　When we visit a great number of different places in the world， we need to talk about a local person in English. Nowadays many of the valuable books are written in English or translated into English， so if we are interested in books， we should have a good command of English.

　　修改后

　　We should try our best to learn English well.

　　专升本英语作文考试中，语法一定要简明扼要，而且要正确。

　　四、如何开端和结尾
　　文章开端的常见写法

　　1. 背景法：说明事件发生的时间、地点、情景等背景。如：

　　I was once spending the month of 1982 in a small seaside village in the south of China. It is a wonderful place quiet and not fashionable. People usually do not go there.

　　2. 人物法：交代文章所要描述的主要人物或有关人物。如：

　　Once upon a time there was an honest old fellow named Hans. He had a kind heart and a funny， round， good humoured face. He lived in a tiny cottage all alone， and every day he worked in his garden.

　　alone  独自一人

　　lonely  孤独的

　　3. 主题句法：提出一个观点或论据作为文章要阐明和论述的主题。如：

　　One of the most notable phases of the industrial revolution was the rapid growth of cities ——the shifting of population from rural districts to the urban centers.

　　rural   乡村的unban  城市的

　　4. 问题法：用提出问题的方法来引出文章的内容，以吸引读者的注意力。如：

　　What is the nature of the scientific attitude， the attitude of the man who studies and applies physics， chemistry， medicine， engineering or any other science？

　　5. 惊语法：用令人感到惊奇的句子开头，激起读者的兴趣。如：

　　A 39-storeyed building in construction collapsed in the city yesterday.

　　6. 故事法：以讲述一段故事作为引子，在此基础上展开故事情节。如：

　　I was spending the night in my aunt's villa one summer. That night， being on a strange bed and feeling excited prevented me from sleeping. I slipped out of bed and went to the bathroom. Suddenly， a strange noise coming from behind made me spin around.

　　villa   别墅

　　prevent sb. from doing sth.   阻止某人做某事

　　spin around  使人头晕目眩

　　7. 数据法：引用已经证实的某些统计数字来引起话题。如：

　　The fact that less than 5% of the British population graduate from universities may seem surprising， especially when compared with the American percentage of over 30%

　　8. 引语法：摘录或引用某些名人的名言或常见的习语、谚语，作为文章的开端。如：

　　Happiness is very important to our life. Shakespeare said， “One who is unhappy can never get a beneficial result.”

　　be important to

　　9. 定义法：常见于对标题下定义，然后通过举例，逻辑推理等方法加以详细说明。如：

　　A true good student is one who possesses good morality， sound health， perfect knowledge and various abilities.

　　morality   道德品质

　　sound   adj.健康的

　　对于不到100字的短文，我们通常用人物交代法、主题句法等。

　　文章结尾的常见写法

　　1. 简要评价或作结论：文章最后用几句话概括全文内容，并进一步肯定文章的中心思想或作者的观点。如：

　　In short， we can say that science to human beings is like food to our bodies. Science frees us from the bondage of Nature. Science itself is innocent， but sometimes man has misused it.

　　in short  简而言之

　　2. 重复主题句：回到文章开头阐明的中心思想或主题句上，达到再次肯定和强调的效果。如：

　　With the foregoing three points in mind， one may be a true good student.

　　3. 用反问结尾：虽然形式是问句，但意义却是肯定的，具有明显的强调作用，引起读者思考。如：

　　If there were no homework on weekends， students would come to school on Monday well refreshed and willing to work. Teachers， don't you agree？

　　4. 含蓄句：用比喻或含蓄的手法不直接点明或写明作者的看法，而让读者自己去意会和思考。如；

　　Do you really think that Beijing is the liveliest city in China？ I never asked it. But I could read the answer in every eye.

　　5.   提出展望或期望：表示对将来的展望或期待读者投入行动。如：

　　Now we can say that in the last quarter of the 20th century， society will probably have its greatest change.

　　6. 引语句：用格言、谚语或习语总结全文。如：

　　Later riser may find it very difficult to cultivate the habit of early rising. They ought to make a special effort to do so. As the English proverb says， “Early to bed and early to rise makes a man healthy， wealthy and wise.”

　　cultivate   vt.培养， 耕作

　　在专升本100字以内的作文中，常用的是重复主题句、简单评价或者做总结。

　　描写文思考题：

　　1.            My Grandfather/Grandmother

　　Have you a grandfather or a grandmother？ Have you two grandfathers or grandmothers？ Who is your favourite grandparent？ What does he/she look like？ How old is he/she？ What work does he/she do？ Has he/she retired？ If so， what work used he/she to do？ Where does he/she live？ Does anybody look after him/her？ How often do you see him/her？ What does he/she do most days？

　　2.                              Friends

　　Have you any friends？ What are their names？ Why do you like them？ About how old are they？ Where do they live？ What work do they do？ When do you meet them？ What things do you and they do together？

　　3.                          My Neighbours

　　Do you know your neighbours well？ Are any of them of about your own age？ Are any of them friends of yours？ What work do they do？ Are any of them especially interesting？ When do you see them？ When do you meet them？ What do you and they do together？

　　My Grandmother

　　原文：

　　My grandmother is a kind and honest woman. She is always very friendly， so everyone likes her.

　　My grandmother is 76 years old， but she looks younger. She lives in Hunan. She worked as a worker in a factory. She was diligent and liked her job very much. But now， she always stays at home and watches TV. We worry about her health， （Because） my family living closely， so we often take her to go for walks.

　　I hope to see her very soon. I miss her very much.

　　Friends

　　原文：

　　I have many friends. I usually telephone or write to them. Friends may make me happy. They reminds me of the wonderful time we （have） played before. The friendship （is） like sunshine in my life.

　　Today we have the one-child policy in （China） china. （Children） Child maybe feel（s） lonely at home. As a boy's mother， I am thinking the way to help him to make more friends. I get to find （that） some mothers of his kindergarten have the same idea. So we （organize） are organized together. We often take our children to the park and they play freely. We swim in summer and skate in winter.

　　I have found a new idea recently. I （have） invited one of them to my home on weekend（s）， （they） just （play） like brothers in a family. The children （have） played well and happily. Sometimes they quarrel （with） to each other of course. That's also a way （of） making them get to know how to get together with others.

　　Have fun！ The more friends you make（，） the more happiness you would have！

　　remind sb. of sth.

　　My Neighbors

　　原文：

　　Living in a tall building（，）。 I have many neighbors. Now， I want to tell you about my neighbors who live with me in the same （storey） story.

　　On the right side is the Yang's and on the left is the Liu's. They all have a daughter and they all like dogs. Several years ago， they usually talked about their daughters. Such as how fast their daughters （grew） grow up and so on. Now their daughters have grown up to be young ladies. So they change to feed dogs. Every evening I meet them （lead） leading the dog in our stairs and say “Hello” to them. As soon as they come out of the gate something is changed. To my surprise， it's the dogs that leading them to have the walk！ The dogs are running fast ahead and they are chasing after （them） it. They tell me that they are doing their evening exercises！

　　My son likes dogs too. He always visits the Yong's and plays with the dog Baobao （the dog's name）。 They make good friends. Baobao always barks at strangers but never at my son.

　　“Neighbors （are） even closer than far relatives！” I am so happy that I am getting along well with my neighbors.

　　bark at sb.  � 向某人喊叫

　　五、如何写正文——段落中的主题句
　　主题句（topic sentence）在段落中的位置和表示法

　　1. 主题句写在段落的开端，后面的支持句为主题句提供论证或细节，初学者以使

　　用此法为宜。如：

　　Americans make no distinction in greeting friends， acquaintances， elders， or superiors. When Americans see someone they know only by sight， they are likely to say “Hi” in all cases. This does not mean that they have no more regard for friends than for casual acquaintances. It only means that “Hi” serves as greeting for both.

　　superior  上级，长者

　　2. 主题句写在段落末了，前面都是提供细节的支持句，内容逐渐收拢，最后用一

　　句总结的主题句加以概括。

　　Americans might be embarrassed because their Japanese friends are so formal with them. Japanese might feel insulted because American acquaintances greet them casually. Still， the forms of greeting in both countries only show respect for other. It just happens that Americans and Japanese have a different way of looking at human relationships and thus have a different way of showing respect.

　　3. 主题句写在段落的开端和写在末了。主题句先在段首出现，在段末又重复一遍，

　　这种在首尾两处出现主题句的写法，具有强调或突出中心思想的作用。如：

　　Good manners are important in all countries， but ways of expressing good manners are different from country to country. Americans eat with knives and forks； Japanese eat with chopsticks. Americans say “Hi” when they meet； Japanese bow. Many American men open doors for women； Japanese men do not.

　　be different form  和……是不同的

　　bow [ bau ]n.弓， 乐弓， 弓形， 鞠躬， 船首v.鞠躬， 弯腰

　　On the surface， it appears that good manners in America are not good manners in Japan， and in a way this is true. But in any country， the only manners that are important are those involving one person's behavior toward another person. In all countries it is good manners to behave considerately toward others and bad manners not to. It is only the way of behaving politely that differs from country to country.

　　in a way=in one way=in some ways 在某种程度上

　　eg. The changes are an improvement in one way.

　　Good manners are important in all countries， but ways of expressing good manners are different from country to country.

　　It is only the way of behaving politely that differs from country to country.

　　4. 主题句写在段落中间或其它地方。此时，要根据上下文的意思才能确定该段落

　　中体现中心思想的句子。如：

　　Californians and New Englanders are both American. They speak the same language and abide by the same federal laws. But they are very different in their ways of life. Mobility both physical and psychological has made a great impression on the culture of Californians； lack of mobility is the mark of the customs and morality of New Englanders.

　　abide by sth. 遵守某事物，忠于某事物

　　Abide（ abided， abided）

　　1） 用于否定句或疑问句中与can， could 连用；容忍、忍受、忍耐

　　eg. I can't abide that man. 我对那个人忍无可忍。

　　How could you abide such conditions？ 这种环境你怎么受得了呢？

　　2） abide by sth. 遵守某事物，忠于某事物

　　abide by an agreement 履行协议

　　3） （abode， abode） 逗留，延续，居留

　　abide at a place 住在某地；abide with sb. 和某人同住。

　　mobility  流动性

　　make an impression on sth.（sb.） 给某人很深的印象

　　5. 有时，主题句没有明显地表示出来，而用一种含蓄的方法加以表示。这时需要

　　读者对整段意思加以领会，然后自己归纳出一句能体现全段中心思想的主题句来。

　　如：

　　First you must wait for a sunny day. Remember that the rays of the sun are most direct between 11 a.m. and 2 p.m. This is the time when you will tan the quickest. At the right time and on the right day， pick an open spot outdoors and lay out a large towel or beach mat. You want to bring along several things： suntan oil， a portable radio， a book or magazine， sunglasses， a pillow. It is a good idea not to stay in the sun too long at first.

　　Begin with a half hour， and then gradually increase the time you spend in the sun. Certain parts of your body will burn more quickly than others. These include the backs of your knees， the insides of your elbows， your shoulders， and your nose. Be sure to cover these spots with suntan oil when you first go outside. Cover them again with oil after you have been out in the sun for a while.

　　（可能的含蓄主题句：Taking a sunbath calls for careful planning. 或It calls for careful planning to take a sunbath.）

　　写好主题句的三条原则

　　1. 要能说明段落中心思想的内容。

　　2. 要有能体现中心思想的关键词。

　　3. 尽量使用简洁明了的句子。

　　句1：In the United States， the system of forced labor， which was known as slavery lasted almost 250 years.

　　句2：In the United States， the system of forced labor lasted almost 250 years.

　　句3：Slavery lasted almost 250 years in the United States.

　　句4：Pride and Prejudice was a book which in my opinion I enjoyed reading very much. （复杂又冗长）

　　句5：I enjoyed reading Pride and Prejudice very much. （直接又清晰）

　　enjoy doing sth.  喜欢做某事

　　My Favourite Character in Fiction

　　Do you read a lot of fiction？ Do you enjoy it？ What type of fiction do you like best？ Who is your favourite author？ Who is your favourite character in fiction？ Why do you like him/her so much？ What sorts of things does he/she do？

　　My Favourite School Subject

　　What subjects do you study at school？ Which of them do you dislike？ Which do you like？ Which is your favourite among these？ Who teaches you this subject？ How long have you been studying it？ What sort of marks or grades do you get for it？ Why is it your favourite subject？

　　Sports

　　What kind of sports do you like？ What's the reason？ When do you do exercises？

　　My Favorite Character in Fiction

　　原文：

　　I often read short （stories） fiction to my son. “Heidi” is my favorite one. （It tells me a lot） more besides the fiction itself.

　　Heidi is a very cute and childlike girl. She was brought to her grandfather （and） lived in a small village in Switzerland when her aunt had to work in a wealthy family. Heidi liked the wonderful nature there and she was always caring about people. She brought happiness to her grandfather. This made her grandfather changed. He began to help and acre about others instead of having been called a （stubborn） miserable old man （before） by people before.

　　In the end Heidi went to the wealthy family her aunt worked in. She was asked to be as a companion with Clara （a girl （sitting） with （in a） wheelchair and couldn't go to school）。 They made friends. Heidi helped Clara get stronger and stronger（。） （In the end she） even could walk！

　　From this （novel） fiction I get to find what the most important thing is in my life： Live （actively） in an active way and smile every day， care more about others and you can make the world turnfrom （sadness to happiness） sad to glad. Do you agree with me？

　　My Favorite School Subject

　　原文：

　　I （study） studied -the secretary at school. There （are） were about twenty-eight subjects -need to study in five terms. They （are mainly） were principle in  secretary， writing of official document（s）， English， psychology， logic and so on. I liked to study all of the subjects but English is my favorite among these. Mr. Yang （teaches） taught us this subject. He is very humorous and has （a） profound knowledge and extensive learning. We all （like） liked to listen to his lecture（s）。 I have been studying English about two years and I （find studying English） found study  it is more and more interesting.

　　Sports

　　原文：

　　I like sport（s）。 My favorite sport（s） （are） is badminton and swimming. I don't like running.

　　I always play badminton on Sundays. Badminton is an interesting sport. I think who play badminton often can get cleverer and fitter than who does not. I am not good at swimming. But I （often） go -to swimming  -often， especially in winter. Keeping fit is popular in this modern age. I think -the sport is the best way （to keep fit） for keeping fit. Running is a good sport， someone likes it. But I don't like （it）。 I think it's so boring.

　　-The spring is coming. Let us -to do sport.
